
 

 
 
 

 
Agenda 
Safer Neighbourhoods and Active 
Communities Scrutiny Board 
 

Thursday, 23 February 2023 at 10.00 am 
At Sandwell Valley - Sandwell Valley Visitor Centre 

 
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as 

required by Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 

Regulations 2012. 
 

  
1   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

 
2   Declarations of Interest 

 
Members to declare any interests in matters to be 
discussed at the meeting. 
 

 

 
3   Additional Items of Business 

 
To determine whether there are any additional 
items of business to be considered as a  matter of 
urgency. 
 

 

 
4   Tackling Anti-Social Behaviour in Council 

Tenancies 
 
To consider and comment upon the Council’s 
approach to tackling anti-social behaviour in 
Council tenancies. 
 

7 - 28 

 
5   Towards a Heritage Strategy 29 - 48 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 
To consider and comment upon information and 
recommendations contained in the report 
‘Towards a Heritage Strategy’ by Wafer Hadley, 
18th January 2023. 
  

6   Green Spaces Strategy and Implementation 
Plan 
 
To consider and comment upon the progress 
against the Green Spaces Strategy to date. 
 

49 - 214 

 
7   Tree Strategy and Implementation Plan 2023-

2028 
 
To consider and comment on the information 
presented to the meeting in relation to the Tree 
Strategy and Implementation Plan 2023-2028. 
 

215 - 216 

 
8   Exclusion of the Public and Press 

 
That the public and press be excluded from the 
rest of the meeting. This is to avoid the possible 
disclosure of exempt information under Schedule 
12A to the Local Government Act, 1972, as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) Order 2006, relating to the 
financial and business affairs of any person, 
including the authority holding that information. 
 

 

 
9.   Sandwell Valley Masterplan  

3 
To consider and comment upon the Sandwell Valley 
Masterplan. 
 

 

  

Page 2



 

Shokat Lal 
Chief Executive 
Sandwell Council House 
Freeth Street 
Oldbury 
West Midlands 
 
Distribution 
Councillor Fenton (Chair) 
Councillors Akhtar, Ashman, Fisher, H Bhullar, Jalil, Kaur, Lewis, Mayo, 
Shaeen, J Webb and Brown 
 
Contact: democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk 
 
  

Page 3

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk


 

Information about meetings in Sandwell 
 

 
 

If you are attending the meeting and require assistance to 
access the venue, please contact Democratic Services 
(democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk). 
 

 
 

If the fire alarm sounds, please follow the instructions of the 
officers present and leave the building by the nearest exit. 
 

 
 

Only people invited to speak at a meeting may do so.  
Everyone at the meeting is expected to be respectful and listen 
to the discussion. 

 
 

Agendas with reports with exempt information should be 
treated as private and confidential.  It is your responsibility to 
ensure that any such reports are kept secure.  After the 
meeting confidential papers should be disposed of in a secure 
way. 
 

 
 

This meeting may be recorded and broadcast on the Internet.  
If this is the case, it will be confirmed at the meeting and 
further information will be provided.  
 
 

 
 

You are allowed to use devices for the purposes of recording 
or reporting during the public session of the meeting.  When 
using your devices they must not disrupt the meeting – please 
ensure they are set to silent. 
 

 
 

Members who cannot attend the meeting should submit 
apologies by contacting Democratic Services 
(democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk) 
 

 

All agenda, reports, minutes for Sandwell Council’s meetings, 
councillor details and more are available from our website 

Page 4

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk
mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


 

 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

 
 
Safer Neighbourhoods and Active 
Communities Scrutiny Board 
 

23 February 2023 
 
Subject: Tackling Anti-Social Behaviour in Council Tenancies 
Director: Law and Governance 

Surjit Tour 
Surjir_tour@sandwell.gov.uk 

Contact Officer: Alex Goddard, Scrutiny Lead Officer 
alexander_goddard@sandwell.gov.uk   

 
1 Recommendations 
 

That the Board considers and comments upon the information presented 
to it. 
 
 

2 Reasons for Recommendations  
 

2.1 The Safer Neighbourhoods and Active Communities Scrutiny Board has 
requested information relating to how the Council tackles anti-social 
behaviour in Council tenancies.  Members will have opportunity to ask 
questions, discuss the matter and identify any recommendations that 
might be identified on the topic. 

 
  

Page 7

Agenda Item 4

mailto:alexander_goddard@sandwell.gov.uk


 

 

 
3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  
 

 

Best start in life for children 
and young people 
 

 

People live well and age 
well 
 

Anti-social behaviour can 
negatively impact the home 
lives of anyone – including 
young people, children and 
older people. 
 

 

Strong resilient 
communities 
 

The work to tackle anti-social 
behaviour in Council tenancies 
supports the Council’s aim to 
build responsive, robust and 
co-ordinated enforcement 
across the organisation. 

 

Quality homes in thriving 
neighbourhoods 
 

Residents need to feel safe in 
their own homes and tackling 
anti-social behaviour in Council 
tenancies can support this. 

 
4 Context and Key Issues 
 
4.1 The attached Appendix will be presented to the meeting. 
 
5 Implications 
 
Resources: The presentation includes further detail about the 

service areas and teams involved in tackling anti-
social behaviour in Council tenancies. 

Legal and 
Governance: 

The Council has a range of powers and 
responsibilities in relation to anti-social behaviour and 
as a social landlord.  Some of these are set out in the 
Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

Risk: There are no direct implications for risk. 
Equality: Hate-related anti-social behaviour is reported and 

further detail in included in the presentation. 
Health and 
Wellbeing: 

Whilst there are no direct implications, having a safe 
home contributes to wellbeing outcomes. 

Social Value There are no direct implications for social value. 

Page 8



 

 

Climate 
Change 

There are no direct implications for climate change. 

 
 
 
6 Appendices 
 
 Appendix – Presentation 
 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Tackling Anti-Social Behaviour 
in Council Tenancies

P
age 11



ASB Protocol

Sandwell Locals
and

Community Safety & Resilience
(Anti-Social Behaviour Team)

P
age 12



Allocation of Incidents / Cases

Sandwell Local Teams (Cat A) Anti-Social Behaviour Team (Cat B) 

Drug (use/taking) / Smell in property Drugs (Dealing/Cultivation/Crack House)* 

Alcohol/Street Drinking Physical Violence* 
Tenant related Noise/Loud Music/Loud Vehicles – initial reports Tenant related Noise/Loud Music/Loud Vehicles – ongoing issues 

Misuse of Communal Areas Other Criminal Activity* 
Untidy property/Neglect/Hoarding Verbal Abuse 
Garden Neglect Prostitution/Sex Work* 
Litter/Rubbish/Fly Tipping Domestic Abuse1 
Animal Nuisance/Dog Barking/Fouling Car Cruising 

Vehicle Nuisance (except Car Cruising) Hate related incidents* 

Vehicle Parking Racist or Hate Related Graffiti 
Vandalism/Damage to Property* Verbal Abuse / Harassment/Intimidation* 
Minor Verbal Altercations / Disputes Violence & Aggression Incidents* 
Violence & Aggression Incidents* 

P
age 13



Case Reviews

• There are regular Incident Review Meetings between the ASB Town Lead and 
Housing Services Officer. 

• Through these Incident Review Meetings, discussions between the ASB Town 
Lead and Housing Services identify cases that require possible escalation to the 
ASB Team. 

• Incidents where behaviour is continuing/escalating (or risk is increasing) is 
escalated to the ASB team after discussion with a Town Lead ASB Officer (or ASB 
Officer in their absence). 

P
age 14



Escalation Process

Example of ASB types and escalation process from the local offices onwards. 

P
age 15



Victim Vulnerability Risk Assessment

• A Victim Vulnerability Risk Assessment is completed on every case at initial 
interview. In line with a victim centred approach, the Community Safety Team 
work with Victim Support & REMEDI who work with victims of Hate crime

• All cases of hate crime and harassment are referred irrespective of the score. 

P
age 16



ASB Cases – Jan 21-Sept 22
ASB Team
• ASB Cases 1134 
Top Categories 
• Verbal abuse  173
• Covid Breaches 173 
• Noise Nuisance 163
• Criminal Activity 132
• Violence / Assault 91 
• Neighbour Disputes 63
• Hate – 46 
• Vandalism 42 

Housing Teams
• Condition of property/garden 353
• Abandonment 85
• Alterations with permission 41
• Access issues 37
• Pet/animal nuisance 252
• Noise nuisance 2291
• Misuse of communal area/public space 622
• Housing Fraud – 36

P
age 17



ASB Team - Enforcement – Jan 21-Sept 22 
• Enforcement Activities
• 13 Civil Injunctions 
• 12 FPNs 
• 6 Interim Civil Injunctions 
• 4 Civil Injunction Breaches 
• 4 County Court Undertakings 
• 1 Closure Order 
• 2 Demotion Orders 
• 2 Suspended Possession Order 
• 1 Eviction
• 1 14 Day Possession Order 
• 1 28 Day Possession Order 

• 8 First Breach (Intro)
• 163 First Breach (Secure) 
• 13 Ab solute Grounds Notices 
• 16 Final Breach Warnings (Intro) 
• 84 Final Breach Warnings (Secure) 
• 43 Notices Seeking Possession 
• 34 Demoted Tenancy Notices 
• 2 Closure Notices 
• 39 Community Protection Notices 
• 80 Community Protection Warnings   
• 30 Noise Equipment Warnings 
• 8 Notices to Extend Intro Tenancy 
• 3 Notices to Terminate 

P
age 18



Focus On Preventative Work 
• 32 Acceptable Behaviour Contracts 
• 76 Victim Support Referrals 
• 8 Safeguarding Referrals 
• 2 Good Neighbour Agreements 
• 1 Modern Slavery Referral 
• 17 Noise Equipment Installations
• 5 Mental Health Referrals 
• 7 Mediation Agreements

• 3 Alcohol Services Referrals 
• 3 Blue Light Project Referrals  
• 6 referrals to Adult Services 
• 1 Advocacy Referral 
• 9 referrals to Children’s Services 
• 2 referrals to Fire Services 
• 5 referrals to Restorative Justice 
• 19 verbal warnings 

P
age 19



Working Together

P
age 20



P
age 21



Partnership Working
Tipton Restorative Justice Scheme

October - November 2022
• Referrals were made through Acceptable 

Behaviour Contracts
• 6 Children agreed to the CRP work, 3 from West 

Bromwich, 3 from Tipton (5 completed) 
• Canals & Rivers Trust 
• Presentation at Wednesbury Museum and 

North Smethwick Development Trust on 15th

November 2022 between 4.00pm-6.00pm
• Further project planned with Tipton Litterwatch 

April 2023 

P
age 22



Case Study
BARLOW ROAD, WEDNESBURY 2022

P
age 23



Included:
• Harassment
• Verbal Abuse
• Threats of Physical Abuse

The above complaints were received from the users of an allotment site and from 
representatives from the charity, Ideal for All, who also use the allotments to work 
with their vulnerable service users.  The Subject of Complaint, (SOC) was a joint tenant 
who resides adjacent to the allotment site.

ASB Incidents Received

P
age 24



• Information was gained from the Neighbourhood Officer who 
knew the tenants as they had lived at the address for a number of 
years.

• A joint visit was carried out to the SOC’s address with the police, 
which resulted in a breach of tenancy warning letter being issued.  

• The visit also highlighted that the SOC was suffering from medical 
problems, but also untreated mental health problems.

• The Neighbourhood and ASB Officers undertook a home check 
visit and used the opportunity, as an informal approach to discuss 
the ongoing ASB reports.

Early Enquiries

P
age 25



Partnership Working

• It transpired that the tenants were going through a relationship breakdown 
which included incidents of domestic abuse.  The Neighbourhood Officer worked 
with the victim, who has now been rehoused elsewhere and in more appropriate 
housing for their own medical issues.

• The ASB team sent correspondence to the SOC’s GP and previous mental health 
worker to highlight the concerns of the actions the SOC was taking, which we 
believed could be connected to the untreated mental health condition.

• An urgent multi-agency meeting was held and chaired by Adult Services as the 
SOC was also making false reports of ASB to a local elected ward member. 

P
age 26



Positive Outcomes

• The SOC was contacted by mental health services following referrals made by 
Adult Services and is now receiving in-patient support.  They will be taking day 
release visits back to the property, to check if they are well enough to live 
independently.

• As the joint tenant has been re-housed, the Housing Services Officer will liaise 
with the SOC and colleagues from mental health services to secure alternative 
accommodation for the SOC when the time arises, as the joint tenancy has now 
been terminated.

• The allotment users are now using the site without the threat of ASB 

P
age 27



Cuckooing Case Study
https://vimeo.com/tinkertaylor/review/779642239/10697ea83f

P
age 28

https://vimeo.com/tinkertaylor/review/779642239/10697ea83f


  

 
SANDWELL MUSEUMS & ARTS  

STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT 
 

 
22/04/21 

 
 

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 5



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 2 

 

CONTENTS 
 
 
1. Executive summary    ……………………..  03 
 
2. Museums and Arts and Vision 2030  ……………………..  05 
 
3. Consultation     ……………………..  06 
 
4. Built assets     ……………………..  08 
 
5. Visitor marketplace    ……………………..  09 
 
6. Income generation and fundraising  ……………………..  11 
 
7. SWOT analysis     ……………………..  13 
 
8. External Investment    ……………………..  14 
 
9. Delivery model options   ……………………..  15 
   
10. Conclusions    ……………………..  19  

P
age 30



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 3 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
Sandwell Museums can bring families together. They can give depth to 
a sense of place and local pride.  They can be centres for well-being 
and skills development, and excel in creating trusting relationships 
with highly-invested community participants.  
 
In delivering these benefits, Sandwell Museums can provide a unique 
relationship between Council and community that is a precious 
element in SMBC’s portfolio. The combination of enhanced trust and 
enhanced wellbeing is a useful dynamic for the Council to develop.  
 
These benefits also directly contribute to Vision 2030 outcomes. The 
Cultural Prospectus (2020) describes how this works for the sector as a 
whole. In this report, the consultation and analysis we present shows a 
clear purpose for museums and arts specifically, and how this purpose 
serves Council priorities.  
 
Our report highlights these positive aspects but it also describes 
weaknesses to be addressed. These include the need to diversify 
income sources and increase scale, and the need to enhance 
messaging and profile. 
 
Our analysis suggests that the highest potential route to income 
diversification and growth is through accessing external funding. This 
area offers far greater potential gains for the Service than increasing 
earned income from visitors. However, to access external funding, the 
museums will need to evidence a high standard of delivery and show 

how ambitious plans form part of a coherent strategy and partnership 
network. 
 
A new approach in the Tourism, Culture and Leisure Service has seen a 
rapid upturn in external investment in Sandwell’s Cultural sector, 
linked to the Cultural Prospectus aims.  
 
This includes a £6.6m Towns Fund award for the West Bromwich Town 
Hall Quarter, £1.8m from Historic England for renovation and cultural 
programme within the Wednesbury Heritage Action Zone, and the 
identifying of Sandwell Country Park as a Live Site for the 
Commonwealth Games in 2022. The museums and events teams 
working in partnership have attracted £46,000 of investment from the 
Cultural Recovery Fund (Arts Council England). 
 
This extensive investment focuses on placemaking, regeneration, and 
the part culture can play in linking communities to these initiatives. 
Museums can become a central part of this type of project, and the 
Service should look to feature front and centre in initiatives such as 
this.  
 
This may coincide with the re-evaluation of current museum sites and 
their role in delivering Service outcomes. Over many decades 
museums provision in Sandwell has been subject to accretion, and has 
become focused on supply, resulting in a high number of sites relative 
to demand in the marketplace. With a small number of staff spread 
over multiple sites and many facilities in need of repair, the service is 
stretched very thin. 
 

P
age 31



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 4 

It may be the moment to consider the best use of each site on a case-
by-case basis, preserving the built heritage by finding sustainable 
operating models for each building.  
 
New investment may also be encouraged by building an evidence base 
for the Museums Service in its key area of impact – work with families. 
Working with partners for an increased impact with families and 
measuring the effects of this work could support applications for 
funding and build the Service’s reputation as specialists in this area.  
 
Increased external investment and the increase in scale of impact that 
follows will go a long way to improving the weaknesses in messaging 
identified in consultation. Clear statements on purpose, such as “we 
bring families together”, may also help. A ‘change in the story’ could 
also benefit from a change in service delivery model, and we give a 
top-level survey of some options for alternative models in this report. 
However, positive messaging does not depend wholly on this course of 
action, and none of the delivery models offer a ‘magic bullet’ in the 
context of a depressed marketplace and scarce resources. Changing 
delivery model may be part of the picture, but real changes in 
perception will mostly flow from work at an enhanced scale.  
 
This report gives a top-level overview of the Service’s strengths and 
weaknesses, and the possible solutions: external investment, 
innovative use of resources, and increased scale of impact. 
Underpinning all these is the necessity to look outwards, beyond the 
Service and the Council, and to make dynamic partnerships. Working 
together as a team and collaborating with new partners, Sandwell’s 

museums can bring about the change the Service wants to make in the 
community.  
 

P
age 32



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 5 

2. MUSEUMS AND ARTS: VISION 2030 
 
The Cultural Prospectus (2020) is the formal strategic link between the 
Council’s Vision 2030, and the work of the Museums and Arts Service. 
The Service aims to deliver on the Council’s priorities by achieving 
maximum impact in all three of the Cultural Goals set out in the 
Cultural Prospectus: a great place to live and visit, improved life 
chances for young people, and better health and wellbeing. The 
diagram opposite shows the Service’s potential here. 
 
On paper, the relationship between the activities of the Museum and 
Arts Service and the Council’s vision is clear. Through the cultural  
prospectus we can see the museums’ potential to contribute to sense 
of place and regeneration, to wellbeing and an inclusive economy.  
 
But as highlighted in consultation feedback (Section 3), this clarity is 
not as visible when museums are discussed person-to-person or in the 
context of Borough development. The message is not getting through, 
or is not seen as credible.  
 
This is partly due to the way the message is phrased: value or purpose 
is not coming across clearly, inside or outside the Council. It is also 
likely to be due to the scale of the contribution. The Service is relatively 
small, and it needs a bigger stage and higher-profile activity to assert 
its purpose.  
 

 
1 This statement of purpose is drawn from consultation and staff workshops, and 

summarises Service aims based on existing strengths.  

 

 
 
 

MUSEUMS AND ARTS SERVICE PURPOSE1: 
CONTRIBUTION TO VISION 2030 

 
A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE AND VISIT 

 

 
• Museums build a sense of community by bringing people together  
• They build sense of place by celebrating shared heritage 

• They offer new experiences and improve quality of life 
• Heritage buildings and green spaces are symbols of local pride 

 

IMPROVED LIFE CHANCES FOR YOUNG PEOPLE  

 

 

• Museums focus on participatory work and build unique relationships  
• Their work develops work and life-skills  

• They form strong partnerships with schools  
• They bring families together at key moments in people’s lives 

 

BETTER HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

 

 

• Museums provide a safe space, owned by the community 
• They have high levels of trust 

• They provide calm, green spaces and relaxation  
 

P
age 33



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 6 

3. CONSULTATION 
 
Our consultation during February and March 2021 has included 
conversations with the staff team at the Museums and Arts Service, 
with Service managers and the Borough Council Portfolio Holder, and 
with sector colleagues with a relevant perspective on Sandwell, 
including at the Library and Archive Service and the regional Museums 
Development Organisation. Several key themes have been evident in 
the discussion, as follows: 
 
3.1. Internal and external profile 
Museums in the UK often suffer from negative preconceptions, which 
portray them as ‘dusty’, intellectual, and behind the times. All too often 
this is the starting point for people who are not engaging with 
museums, and it is fair to say that this is sometimes the perception 
within SMBC2. Consultees agree that there is a need to ‘change the 
story’ about the value of museums and present this clearly.  
 
3.2. A unique role 
The chief value of museums in Sandwell is in their ability to bring 
people together, often at important moments in their lives: time with 
children, the school trip, the visit with friends or relations. Above all, 
the museums are valued for the “quality time” they offer to families. 
Family is very important in Sandwell, and there appear to be few 
initiatives aimed squarely at this area. Museums can claim this area of 
impact as their own.  

 
2 It is also true that the buildings and staff are often regarded as prime assets, and 

Sandwell’s history is acknowledged as important to sense of place. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

“We bring families together” 

P
age 34



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 7 

A purpose strongly linked to family is likely to appeal to the heart: but 
an evidence-based link to Sandwell’s key goals may also be required to 
reach the head. This evidence is not currently in place, but could be 
built up through a robust evaluation programme. 
 
3.3. Participatory community work 
The museums’ dedication to local community comes through strongly 
in consultation. Internally and externally, it is viewed as a key strength 
to highlight. There is a great deal of potential here for co-creative 
activity, tapping into Sandwell people’s desire to make and do. There is 
also a wish to make more external partnerships that may unlock doors 
to groups within the community or particular ways of working. This is 
seen as part of a more outward-looking approach, that could see the 
museums service become more active in regional networks, and able 
to link Sandwell into national initiatives.  
  
3.4. Buildings and other spaces 
The heritage buildings managed by the Service are frequently the 
focus of conversations – they are valued highly and seen as central to 
the current offer. However, the view inside and outside the Service is 
that the buildings, facilities and interpretative content urgently need 
investment in order to reach a suitable standard. Maintaining services 
even at the current level may be beyond allocated budgets at present, 
and any initiative that might raise the game at any of the sites is 
currently not affordable.  
 
Some consultees would like to see imaginative and flexible use of the 
Service’s buildings. Museums are more than just buildings and 
collections – the activity created by museum staff and communities is 

at the heart of the offer, and this can be provided both inside the walls 
of the museum and outside, and does not need to be limited to local 
history. This idea can be extended to include potential partnerships 
and sharing of space, using the available space to the full and justifying 
investment.  
 
3.5. Low cultural engagement 
Visitor numbers at each of Sandwell’s sites are seen as modest, but 
this is related to the scale of the offer. Visitor satisfaction appears to be 
high and there are many visitors who return frequently.  
 
While low visitor numbers are linked to scale, they are also linked to 
demographic. Sandwell’s cultural engagement is recognised as one of 
the lowest levels in the country, and this makes it a priority for central 
government, and agencies (such as Arts Council England and NLHF) 
that share its objectives.  
 
Consultees recognise this as an opportunity, but also that it may be 
twinned with negative expectations outside the Borough. Because of 
the current low profile for culture in Sandwell, assumptions may be 
made externally about its ambition and capacity for responsive 
change.  
 
Again, the message is that the ‘story’ must change in order to win the 
confidence of external investors.  
 

  

P
age 35



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 8 

4. BUILT ASSETS 
 
The museums service manages a number of buildings in the Borough, 
and also has space in other buildings run by third parties. The four 
‘main sites’ run by the Service are highlighted in the table below.  
 

Site or space Location Focus 

Oak House Museum West 
Bromwich 

History of house and inhabitants 

Manor House/Bromwich 
Hall 

West 
Bromwich 

History of house  

Haden Hill House Rowley  
Regis 

Period property and parkland 

Wednesbury Museum & 
Art Gallery 

Wednesbury Visual arts 

Bishop Asbury Cottage  West 

Bromwich 

Childhood home of Francis Asbury 

Arts Café, Central Sixth Sandwell 

College 

Local visual arts, temporary 

exhibitions 

Galton Valley Heritage 

Centre 

Smethwick Canal heritage 

Tipton Library Heritage 

Centre 

Tipton Local history 

 
There has been some historical success in securing capital funding 
from NLHF (HLF), including at Oak House, where a redevelopment of 
the barns area took place in 2013-14, aided by a grant of just under 
£1m from HLF. Lightwoods House, owned by the Council but not part 
of the Museums Service, was successful in attracting £3.6m of HLF 

 
3 The Cultural Services Museums Arts Strategy, Built Assets, (Draft 2020), details the work 

required at each site.  

investment in 2014. But there has been no recent success with 
development of capital bids to NLHF or other funders to address 
museum conservation and maintenance requirements. 
 
Sandwell Museums has reported on various options for planning a 
long-term future for its buildings3. All these heritage buildings are 
emotionally important to the Council and community. But managing 
and maintaining the buildings involves significant additional costs for 
conservation and maintenance. While the Service can identify priority 
areas for development, Council funding is not currently available to 
meet these priorities. 
 
Suitable external funders may be open to investing in Sandwell 
because of its low engagement with culture. But before investing in 
capital development, funders will need to see evidence of progress, a 
compelling ‘change of story’, and a strategic long-term plan for 
museums that meets their priorities. These factors are not yet in place. 
Another likely dampening factor on external investment is that there is 
little evidence of unmet demand in the Borough, and indeed there 
appears to be a picture of supply outstripping demand (see Section 5). 
 
Sandwell Museums appears to be at an impasse – there is little 
appetite for disposal of assets and the legal, political and community 
challenges that would ensue, and yet there is not sufficient resource to 
make the buildings perform strongly. In the context of this stasis, the 
small audience is only likely to get smaller.  

 

P
age 36



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 9 

5. VISITOR MARKETPLACE 
 
The sites managed by Sandwell Museums and Arts receive around 
70,000 visits per year. Most visits are focused on the four main 
museum sites: Oak House, Manor House, Wednesbury Art Gallery and 
Haden Hill House. Day-to-day footfall at the Arts Café by students and 
town centre shoppers accounts for around 20,000 of these visits4. 
 

‘Main Four’ Sandwell sites Average annual visits 2017 - 20195 
 

Oak House 11,905 

Manor House 9,252 

Haden Hill House 24,175 

Wednesbury Art Gallery  5,952 

 
In 2019/20, there were 50,251 visits made in total to the main sites. 
Haden Hill House hosts nearly 50% of all visits.  
 

 

 
4 Draft Culture Business Plan, SMBC, Nov 2020 
5 ibid 

Opening hours at the four main museum sites has reduced by 8% over 
the last five years. Visit numbers have reduced at a corresponding rate 
since 2016, as shown in the table below. WAG visit numbers have also 
been affected by flooding and closure.  
 

Museum sites 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 % change 
(2016-20) 

Oak House 12,808 11,189 11,718 11,863 -7% 

Manor House 9,464 11,336 6,957 8,807 -7% 

Haden Hill House 25,999 22,673 23,852 23,945 -8% 

Wednesbury Art Gallery  7,217 6,398 4,242 4,637 -36% 

 
Repeat visits tend to be high for all Sandwell sites, although Oak House 
is more able to attract a larger proportion of first-time visits6.  
 

Museum sites 
 

First time visits Repeat visits 

Oak House 49% 51% 

Haden Hill House 20% 80% 

Wednesbury Art Gallery  34% 66% 

 
The large number of repeats at Haden Hill House may be linked to the 
open space on site and regular exercise by visitors.  
 
Using surveyed frequency profile as a guide, we can arrive at an 
estimate for numbers of visitors at each museum site, as opposed to 

6 Based on visitor research carried out by SMBC in 2016.  

OH: 23%

MH: 18%HHH: 47%

WAG: 
12%

P
age 37



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 10 

visits. This can only be an estimate, but it helps us understand the 
likely size of the user group at present.  
 

Museum sites 
 

Annual visits7 Annual visitors8 

Oak House 12,808 7,901 

Manor House 9,464 5,1109 

Haden Hill House 25,999 6,667 

Wednesbury Art Gallery  7,217 3,373 

 
Most visitors are from the immediate locality (between 50% and 
75%)10. There is a very low cross-over (8%)11 between sites. Research 
and front of house feedback tells us that the audience profile is 
characterised by: 
 

• High numbers of families  
• Visitors looking for provision for children 
• Visitors motivated by chance to use outdoor spaces during 

good weather (Haden Hill Park and Oak House) 
• Visits motivated by events  
• Few visitors exploring local history  
• Few tourists 

 
 
 

 
7 Based on 2016 figures 
8 Revised estimate based on 2016 survey results 
9 As frequency data is unavailable for Manor House in a comparable year, this figure is 

an aggregate of those for Oak House and Wednesbury Art Gallery 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

10 Cultural Services Museums Arts Strategy (Built Assets), 2020 
11 ibid 

P
age 38



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 11 

6. INCOME GENERATION & FUNDRAISING 
 
6.1. The key feature of the income and expenditure picture at Sandwell 
Museums is the reliance on local authority revenue funding12.  
 

• 95% of the cost of the Museums and Arts Service is met by 
SMBC. 

• 4.61% of the Service’s income is earned from its visitors.  
• A very small proportion of project funding (0.08%) comes from 

external sources. 
 
6.2. While the Council has to meet almost the entire cost of the 
Museums Service, this burden is relatively light: total gross 
expenditure on the Service was just over £1m in 2019/20. In the 
average annual Council expenditure outlined in the Sandwell Plan, 
0.15% is spent on museums and arts.  
 

TYPICAL ANNUAL SMBC EXPENDITURE: SOURCE SANDWELL PLAN 2020-25 
 

 
£m % 

Adult social care, health and wellbeing 238 36.23% 

Council housing 134 20.40% 

Children's services 102 15.53% 

Neighbourhoods 89 13.55% 

Running the Council 53 8.07% 

Bins 27 4.11% 

Public transport 13 1.98% 

Museums and Arts 1 0.15% 

 
12 2019/20 figures, Sandwell Museums & Arts 

6.3. Based on figures for 2019/20 earned income at Haden Hill House 
and Manor House are fairly similar (around £18,500), with income at 
Oak House slightly smaller (£12,800) and Wednesbury Art Gallery 
producing the smallest earned income in that year (£5,000). 

 
A breakdown of income sources shows the majority of earnings 
coming from ticket sales and bookings for special events.  
 

 

7%

11%

13%

22%

23%

£0 £2,000 £4,000 £6,000 £8,000 £10,000 £12,000 £14,000

Guided tours

Refreshments – retail

Ghost hunts

Refreshments – café

Wedding hires

School groups

Donations

Shop sales

Room bookings

Ticketed events

Craft workshop sales

P
age 39



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 12 

6.4. Three guiding principles should influence how Sandwell Council 
approaches analysis of income and expenditure in the Museums 
Service.   
 
6.4.1. Cuts to museum service expenditure could have a large impact 
on the quality of service, but a vanishingly small impact on overall 
Council costs. In our view, this approach would often lead to a net loss 
for the community. 
 
6.4.2. Focusing on increasing earned income from visitors is unlikely to 
lead to significant gains because of the very low base. Even a 
demanding target here, for example a 20% increase, would only 
introduce around £10,000 of additional income. This can be compared, 
for instance, with the £46,000 recently awarded by Arts Council 
England as part of the Cultural Recovery Fund.  
 
6.4.3. There is potential to attract larger sums of money from external 
investors with a heritage, museums and arts focus. Key features of 
Sandwell Museums’ offer and audience reach are likely to be relevant 
to government agencies, funding bodies, Trusts and Foundations. 
There is potential to achieve close alignment between Sandwell’s vision 
and these external organisations’ agendas, and work in partnership for 
the benefit of the Sandwell community.  
 
6.5. In order to be successful in external fundraising, the museum offer 
has to stimulate confidence among stakeholders, and this will often 
come through a process of engagement over several years. For 
example, Accreditation of museums is a necessary precondition for 
most Arts Council England funding and the Museums Service is 

currently working with the West Midlands Museum Development 
Organisation on this process (Provisional Accreditation has been 
awarded during the development process).   

P
age 40



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 13 

7. SWOT ANALYSIS 
 
Strengths 
The Museums and Arts Service has high potential for increased 
strategic impact for SMBC and has significant assets in its staff and 
buildings. Its community-oriented interface and heritage focus gives it 
unique value to SMBC. It has an existing focus on families with room to 
grow this area of work. 
 
Weaknesses 
The Service is small, and its impact tends to be small scale. This, 
combined with ineffective messaging on impact, lowers its profile. Its 
buildings require extensive investment and re-thinking to deliver 
strongly. The Museums and Arts Service is wholly reliant on SMBC 
support.  
 
Opportunities 
The Service shows potential for attracting external investment aligned 
with regeneration and place making, for work with the community and 
bringing families together. This may centre around capital works and 
the development of its buildings for mixed use.  
 
Threats 
However, a precondition for this is evidencing best practice and 
‘changing the story’. This requires a united cultural sector, as shown in 
the Cultural Leaders Group and the implementation of the Cultural 
Prospectus action plan. A willingness to open up to new opportunities 
and work in partnership will be key. Museums Accreditation is also a 
necessary step. 

 
STRENGTHS 
 
• Good alignment with Vision 

2030 
• Good alignment with agendas 

of external funders 
• Skilled staff team 
• Heritage buildings and safe, 

calm environments 
• Unique interface with the 

community for SMBC 
• Strong track record in 

community participation 
• Key strength in family market 

 

WEAKNESSES 
 

• Poor messaging on 
contribution to Vision 2030 

• Relatively small impacts for 
Vision 2030 

• Buildings require repair and 
development 

• Heavy reliance on SMBC 
funding 

• Museums working towards 
Accreditation 

 

OPPORTUNITIES 
 
• Buildings may allow flexible 

use 
• Sandwell is a high priority for 

external investment in culture 
• Participatory community work 

increasingly attracts external 
funding 

• Potentially good match for 
regeneration projects 

• Sandwell Tourism, Culture and 
Leisure successfully making 
external partnerships and 
attracting funding 

THREATS 
 

• Negative perceptions of 
museums 

• Competition for scarce 
resources locally has 
historically led to defensive 
behaviours 

• Low levels of disposable 
income in visitor marketplace 

• Relatively weak tourist offer 
• Evaluation resources allow 

insufficient measurement of 
impact 

  

P
age 41



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 14 

8. EXTERNAL INVESTMENT 
 
The publication of the Sandwell Cultural Prospectus in 2020 has 
provided a shared development agenda for cultural organisations 
working in Sandwell, in partnership with SMBC.  
 
An early action proceeding from the Cultural Prospectus was the 
formation of a Cultural Leaders Group, involving key organisations 
from across the Borough, focussing initially on the opportunities 
presented by the 2022 Commonwealth Games.  
 
Sandwell Council has secured one of the Games’ Live Sites for the 
Sandwell Valley Country Park and is working with the Cultural Leaders 
Group on a cultural programme for 2022. The Tourism, Culture and 
Leisure Service has levered additional funding for a website and digital 
marketing to support this work. The showground site at Sandwell 
Valley is already in use for 2021, during the Made dance music festival 
which is using the location for the first time.  
 
Over the same period, SMBC has pursued ambitious regeneration 
plans, and was awarded the largest amount of any local authority area 
as part of the Government's Towns Fund in the March 2021 Budget. 
Rowley Regis was allocated £19m, Smethwick £23.5m and West 
Bromwich £25m. Within the West Bromwich scheme is a culture-led 
regeneration element, focusing on the Town Hall Quarter. A £6.6m 
award will help create a new extension for the Town Hall and 
integration with the adjacent library. The scheme aims for a new 
culture and entertainment offer in the town centre.   
 

In Wednesbury, a Heritage Action Zone has been established, with 
£1.8m funding secured from Heritage England for a £3.6m programme 
of building renovation, public realm improvements, staffing and a 
cultural programme devised by Multistory. The scheme will be 
delivered over the next four years.   
 
Arts Council England has also recently made an additional investment 
in Sandwell’s cultural sector. £46,000 has been awarded to SMBC from 
the Cultural Recovery Fund (HM Government/Arts Council) for the 
Inside Out project which will see the new Sandwell Events team working 
with the Museums and Arts Service. 
 
These are examples of partnership working and place-making 
initiatives attracting external investment for projects that are entirely 
in line with Sandwell Council’s corporate ambitions.  
 
The Museums and Arts Service can be more closely involved with this 
kind of work in the future, with associated benefits to scale of 
operation and profile.  
 
 

   

P
age 42



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 15 

9. DELIVERY MODEL OPTIONS 
 
We review here several options for delivery models which Sandwell 
Council could potentially explore for the Museums and Arts Service. 
These options include: 
 

• ‘In-house’ Service within the Local Authority 
• ‘In-house’ and merge with the Library Service  
• ‘In-house’ at heart of culture-led regeneration  
• Regional joint working agreement  
• Local Authority trading company  
• Charitable Trust  

 
Each option is presented below in general terms, with reference to 
existing models elsewhere. Our reflection on advantages and 
disadvantages are also in general terms, without the specificity of a 
Sandwell Museums feasibility study or detailed options appraisal. They 
refer to advantages of the model in general terms, rather than to the 
specifics of Sandwell’s situation.  
 

7.1. ‘In-house’ Service within the Local Authority 
Many local authorities run their museum and arts provision as a 
Council service, managed within a specific Directorate. This is the 
approach currently employed at Sandwell MBC and would require no 
further changes in the delivery model. 
 

Advantages:  
• Full control over Service and use of buildings 
• Can be used strategically to further corporate goals  
• Lends itself to top-down integration with other services 
• Benefits of Service are clearly associated with the Council 
• Direct approach to performance measurement 

 
Disadvantages: 

• Unable to access all external funding 
• Unable to access tax advantages enjoyed by charities 
• Direct costs of non-statutory service are borne by Council 
• Identity in the marketplace can be overshadowed by Council brand 
• Business decisions subject to political influence 

 

 
 
7.2. ‘In-house’ and merge with the library service 
The library service is the ‘big sister’ of the museums and arts service in 
Sandwell, with a shared focus on improving quality of life in the 
community, but a larger operating cost, number of sites and staff 
team. It is a statutory service, in contrast to the non-statutory 
museums and arts service. As noted in the brief for this work, there 
are “potential discussions around the future redesign of Sandwell’s 
Library and Archive Service” which run alongside this review.  

P
age 43



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 16 

One reference point in these discussions may be the current 
development of museums and library services in Preston, centred on 
the Harris Art Gallery. Here, library and museum/gallery delivery points 
have been combined in one heritage building, backed by significant 
investment from NLHF, Arts Council England, local trusts, legacies, and 
public fundraising. The £11m refurbishment was given the go-ahead 
by Preston City Council in December 2020. 
 

Advantages:  
• Integration is relatively simple to achieve  
• Potential efficiencies and savings 
• Libraries and museums have similar strategic objectives  
• Close relation of libraries and museums will affect market 

positioning and perceptions of both (this may be positive or 
negative) 

 
Disadvantages:  

• As at 7.1.  

 

 
7.3. ‘In-house’ at heart of culture-led regeneration 
Several UK local authorities have sought to emulate the gains made in 
cities such as Newcastle/Gateshead, Liverpool, and Hull where cultural 
provision has been made the centre of regeneration projects. 
Approaches tend to be built around a cultural strategy which links a 
cultural quarter or cultural identity to town centre regeneration and 
community engagement.  
 
One example of this currently in train is at Kirklees Council, where the 
recent closure (2016) of two of its six museum and gallery sites was 

offset by a commitment by the Council to make culture part of the USP 
of the Huddersfield town centre, set out in a masterplan in which a 
cultural quarter featured prominently.  
 
This has enabled the Council to change the story about the District, 
focussing on growth and partnerships, and to successfully find 
external funding for the project.  
 

Advantages: 
• Clear step-change tends to encourage external investment 
• Easy to understand rationale and clear message 

 
Disadvantages: 

• Supporters of asset-based regeneration often critical of this 
approach 

• Tends to be associated with one political bloc 
• Any return on investment will be delivered over the long term 
• Necessitates significant capital investment 

 

 
7.4. Regional joint working agreement 
The national Creative People and Places programme, running since 
2012, has been built on consortium working, most often bringing 
together cultural organisations, voluntary sector organisations, and 
local authorities.  
 
Consortia have tended to be headed by a lead organisation that 
manages the initiative in pursuit of shared objectives and receives 
external funding. Governance is often defined within a joint working 

P
age 44



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 17 

agreement, which sets out desired impact, a plan of activity, and the 
terms of the partnership. Sandwell’s local CPP is Creative Black Country. 
 
Using an existing consortium model or one of its own devising, 
museums can work with other partner organisations and increase the 
size of their cultural footprint, tapping into other networks and finding 
a new agenda.  
 

Advantages: 
• Local authority can retain control of Service whilst tapping into 

potential skill sharing and efficiencies 
• Partnership agreement can have no legal status and be easy to set 

up and dismantle 
• Increases size of impact and profile in cultural sector 

 
Disadvantages: 

• No material changes in governance of Service 
• In essence, could be seen as just a shared project  

 

 
7.5. Local Authority Trading Company 
A Local Authority Trading Company (LATC) is wholly owned by its 
parent Council, with a Council-appointed Board of Trustees. It may be 
formed in order to give the management group more autonomy in its 
decision-making, making it more agile and responsive to demand in 
the community. However, it is essentially focused on delivering local 
authority mission (with at least 80% of its activity with its parent 
Council13) and each LATC will have a Service Level Agreement with the 

 
13 DCMS, Alternative Delivery Models (Libraries), March 2017 

local authority. Staff and facilities are transferred direct to the new 
LATC. 
 
Although a LATC is able to be more commercially responsive and able 
to trade more freely, this remains dependent on the level of demand 
and disposable income in the local marketplace.  
 
Hull Culture and Leisure is an example of a local authority service that 
successfully made the transition to an LATC in 2015.  
 

Advantages:  
• Easier to set up than Trust  
• Same conditions for staff 
• Potential economies of scale 
• Opportunity to rebrand and reposition in the marketplace 
• Some fiscal advantages 
• Potentially more able to access external fundraising 

 
Disadvantages:  

• More complicated to initiate than remaining in house 
• Set up costs 
• Financial risk remains with the Council and level of revenue support 

is unlikely to change significantly in the short term 
• Built-in constraint on management autonomy 
• Some limits on fundraising 

 

 
  

P
age 45



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 18 

7.6. Charitable Trust 
Leisure and Cultural Trusts provide around half of the UK’s leisure 
service provision14. They have independent Boards of Trustees and 
reinvest all profits into provision of service.  
 
Although many leisure trusts are focused on sporting and leisure 
facilities, there are several examples of Trusts centred on museums 
and arts, including Culture Coventry, and York Museums Trust. 
 
A Trust is most likely to succeed where there is a large and viable 
marketplace for its services, which can significantly lessen the financial 
burden on the local authority. However, most cultural trusts continue 
to require significant grant support from the local Council. 
 

Advantages:  
• Autonomous decision-making increases responsiveness 
• Full access to external fundraising 
• Potential tax advantages 
• Can be part of a strategic partnership with the Council 

 
Disadvantages 

• Relies on a sufficiently large and engaged marketplace 
• Significant work required in set up 
• Employee anxiety over transfer 
• Less control over outcomes for local authority 
• Culture change is a political and management challenge 
• Revenue funding by Council may remain high 

 

 

 
14 Community Leisure UK, August 2020 

7.7. General observations 
A full financial appraisal is identified as an output for the next stage of 
business planning. At this stage our general observations on these 
options are as follows: 
 

• The capacity of Sandwell’s facilities is small, levels of cultural 
engagement are low, and levels of disposable income are also 
low. All these factors suggest that earned income is unlikely to 
be a significant factor in a business model, and that a diverse 
range of external revenue funding is essential, supplementing 
a significant level of support from the Local Authority.  

• The levels of cultural engagement and disposable income in 
the marketplace would also throw the viability of a Charitable 
Trust into question, and may necessitate a continuing high 
level of investment in a LATC.  

• Priority areas for development in the Service are the ability to 
attract external investment, and linked to this, the ability to 
signal a step-change in direction at the Service and ‘change the 
story’. A change in operating model may help with this signal. 
However, it is possible for the Service to address these 
priorities with no change to the operating model. 

 
 
 

 
  

P
age 46



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 19 

9. CONCLUSIONS 
 
9.1. Purpose and value at Sandwell Museums and Arts suffer from a 
lack of focus and are understated. But among staff there is a clear 
sense of what the museums want to achieve, and this aligns strongly 
with Vision 2030. The purpose of the Museums and Arts service is to 
use its unique relationship with people to achieve Vision 2030. Its 
particular value is in the following: 
  

 
• Museums bring Sandwell people together  
• They give depth to sense of place 
• They build local pride 
• They improve quality of life 
• They enable participatory, community based work 

 

 
9.2. At this point in time, the key challenge for the Service is to develop 
a direction for future growth. This may affect the focus of the 
museums Service’s work, the way it approaches income streams, and 
the delivery model for its services.  
 
9.3. Priority areas for development in the Service are the ability to 
attract external investment, and linked to this, the ability to signal a 
step-change in direction at the Service and ‘change the story’.  
 
9.4. The highest potential for significant additional income lies in 
partnerships with external funding bodies, Trusts and Foundations. A 

critical analysis of income generation activity in the Museums and Arts 
service highlights the dependence on Council funding, and the low 
potential for earned income generation from visitors. Sandwell 
Museums’ marketplace is characterised by low engagement with 
heritage and arts, and low disposable income. While this is a negative 
influence on earned income generation, it is a positive factor when we 
consider the potential for external funding.  
 
9.5. Recent key successes in external funding awards have benefited 
from an alignment of heritage and culture with place-making and 
regeneration. Substantial awards for capital improvements are 
supported by proposals for cultural programming. All successful recent 
initiatives have been based on partnership working. An outward-
facing, partnership-oriented approach is essential to attracting 
external investment. This may include sharing posts with external 
organisations or allied departments within the Council. The key 
ingredient for success would be shared objectives.  
 
9.6. ‘Changing the story’ may be best achieved by focussing messaging 
on a clear vision for museums such as ‘we bring families together’. 
There is a belief that this is an area of strength for the Service, but 
most of the evidence is anecdotal. It would be beneficial to enhance 
the focus on families, and to gather robust evidence on the impact of 
this work over an extended time period. This evidence base would give 
weight to the Service’s expertise in this area and help lever in 
additional funding.  
 
9.7. The Service may also need to show a step-change through capital 
development or a change in governance model. But any alteration in 

P
age 47



SANDWELL MUSEUMS ARTS & HERITAGE · STRATEGIC OVERVIEW REPORT · WAFER HADLEY 22/04/21 20 

delivery model should be made on the basis of financial efficiencies, or 
other benefits to the community. Detailed feasibility is required for any 
of the preferred models being taken forward.  
 
9.8. The available market research suggests a fundamental picture of 
over-supply and lack of demand. The marketplace shows little 
potential in the short to medium term for a stimulation of demand. In 
pure economic terms, there appears to be an argument for reducing 
or concentrating supply. However, there is no strong desire to move 
buildings out of the portfolio, and they remain strong signifiers of local 
pride. Schemes that re-purpose buildings and promote mixed use, 
with varying quantities of heritage interpretation content, feel 
appropriate to this situation.  
 
9.9. The museums service needs heritage spaces, but it also needs 
appropriate facilities, appropriate staffing, sufficient operational 
budgets, and invigorating partnerships, to provide the high quality the 
staff want to deliver. While resources are spread so thinly over several 
sites, this is hard to achieve.  
 
9.10. The Service has developed an understanding of its community by 
focusing on building relationships locally and providing appropriate 
content for local residents. This dedication to community can be 
preserved while also opening up to external partnerships, 
collaborations and new perspectives. An outward-looking dynamic 
may help the Service re-position itself with stakeholders, and start to 
build a case for external investment.  
 
 

 

P
age 48



 

 
 

 
 
Report to Safer Neighbourhoods and Active 
Communities Scrutiny Board 
 
 

23 February 2023 
 
 
Subject: Green Spaces Strategy and Nature Reserves 

Progress Report 2023 
Director: Director of Borough Economy 

Alice Davey 
Contact Officer: Assistant Director (Borough Economy): Green 

Spaces, Green Services, Visitor Services, 
Events  
Matthew Huggins 

 
1 Recommendations 
 
1.1 That the Board considers and comments upon: 

 
1.1.1 The progress report against the green spaces strategy (up to November 

2022). An up to date progress report will be presented at the meeting, 
showing where each programme of works is at as of 22nd February 2023.  
 

2 Reasons for Recommendations  
 

2.1 The Green Spaces Strategy and Implementation Plan 2022 – 2025 was 
approved by cabinet and implemented by officers from June 20th 2022. 
 

2.2 As part of this, the Council have published for the first time a transparent 
programme of works and commitments for the financial year 22/23, and 
committed to regular public updates on this.  

 
2.3 A commitment within the Green Spaces Strategy objectives has now 

been implemented: the improvement of working relationships with 
Friends Groups, with a new partnership agreement in place so that ways 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



 

of working are set out. This was consulted upon with Friends Groups 
and a report attached outlines the process followed. The majority of 
existing Friends Groups have adopted this partnership agreement 
formally.  
 

2.4 As part of the commitments for 22/23 financial year, there are future 
strategies and works in progress that we would welcome the input of 
Scrutiny into. These include:  
 
a. Allotments Review and Strategy  
b. Safer Green Spaces Strategy 
c. Green Spaces Improvement Plans  
d. Further improvements to the transparency approach to sharing 

information on our works and progress, and engaging residents, 
community groups, friends groups, businesses, Members and other 
departments in the further improvements to green spaces in 
Sandwell.  

 
4 Context and Key Issues 
 
4.1 The Green Spaces Strategy and Implementation Plan 22 – 25 set out a 

three-year approach and objectives to improving our quality and value 
scores across all our Green Spaces. This cover report does not set out 
in detail each of the strategy elements; this is attached.  

 
4.2 The Council have since published a detailed programme of works for all 

financial commitments toward the improvement of green spaces in 
Sandwell in 22/23 financial year. This is available online for the public 
here: 
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/33356/green_spaces_progra
mme_of_planned_works_november_2223  

 
4.3 The programme of works for 22/23 set out an ambitious programme of 

investment, which included: 
 

a. Almost £4.5 million of works for 22/23. This is on track to be delivered.  
 

b. 41 major works in safety and enhancements in play areas, including the 
addition of 1 new play area and 43 play areas with easygate repairs.  
 

Page 50

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/33356/green_spaces_programme_of_planned_works_november_2223
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/33356/green_spaces_programme_of_planned_works_november_2223


 

c. Refurbishments and improvements to 7 skateparks and BMX tracks in 
the borough.  
 

d. At least 10 major green space projects, including multi-million pound 
projects concluding or starting in West Smethwick Park, Lightwoods 
House and Park, and Britannia Park.  
 

e. New Multi-Use Games Areas as part of the Jubilee Astro Turf and Small 
Sided Playing Pitches projects in West Smethwick Park and Jubilee 
Park.  
 

f. Refurbishments and safety improvements to 9 outdoor gym sites.  
 

g. £303,000 of improvement works to nature reserves.  
 
4.3 The Council have published a progress report on the Green Spaces 

Strategy and programme of works for 22/23 in November 2022. This is 
available online for the public here: 
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/download/2924/green_spaces_
strategy_progress_report   

 
4.4 The Council completed a review of the ways of working with Friends Group 

with the objective of improving this, providing ways of working that align 
with other Council’s approach, and to encourage and support new 
Friends Groups to form for a variety of green spaces. The progress on 
this work and the new ways of working for Friends Group is available 
online for the public here: 
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200249/parks_in_sandwell/4939/friend
s_groups_in_sandwell  

 
4.5 As part of the Green Spaces Strategy Commitments, the Council is 

working with officers and consultants to:  
 

a. Complete a review of the allotments provision, and a strategy to come to 
Cabinet in 2023 to improve the provision of allotments, and to pilot 
community allotment and food growing initiatives. All allotments groups 
and plot holders have been able to take part in a recent consultation, 
and a workshop with Cabinet is being organised for June to review 
proposals for the improvements of allotments provision in Sandwell.  
 

b. Complete a review of 202 green spaces, including amenity green spaces 
and those spaces with the lowest value and quality scores. Work is 

Page 51

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/download/2924/green_spaces_strategy_progress_report
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/download/2924/green_spaces_strategy_progress_report
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200249/parks_in_sandwell/4939/friends_groups_in_sandwell
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200249/parks_in_sandwell/4939/friends_groups_in_sandwell


 

currently ongoing to work with community groups, residents, Members, 
friends groups and council officers to complete an improvement plan for 
each of these green spaces, which includes:  

 
- Mapping and recording the assets on these green spaces.  
- Reviewing the quality and value scores from the most recent 2018 green 

spaces audit, with recommendations for how we can improve these for 
the green space.  

- An audit of the use of the green space, including improving the use for 
amenity leisure space, food and wildlife education, and conservation.  

 
We anticipate that the completion of these improvement plans will be 
delivered in April 2023, from which further proposals can then be made 
for improvements to be implemented over the coming years.  

 
4.6  A key commitment within the green spaces strategy was to develop a 

volunteering and education and outreach offer to support the 
improvement of our green spaces, and to promote green space and 
conservation education. We have now appointed an Education and 
Outreach Manager, two education and outreach officers, and an interim 
Volunteer Development Officer to start this work. A programme of 
education and outreach and volunteering in green spaces will be 
presented to Cabinet in the summer of 2023. 

 
4.7 Whilst the Council have been more transparent than before with the 

programme of works and setting out our progress against what we 
committed to, there are further planned improvements to this 
transparency. This includes:  

 
a. Publishing a Green Spaces Annual Report, showing the progress 

in 22/23, and highlighting best practice and the excellent work of 
our communities, residents, businesses, Members, and officers 
across the borough in improving our green spaces (due in May 
2023, following the Purdah period).  
 

b. Sharing information available online with Members at Ward Level, 
so that works can easily be identified for Members for their ward.  
 

c. Greater levels of engagement with Town Leads and Ward 
Members in the development and implementation of future 
programme of works, and guided by the Improvement Plans for 
green spaces.  

Page 52



 

 
d. The development of a Green Spaces Development Seminar for 

Friends Group in March 2023 to support with fundraising skills, 
volunteer development and management, and marketing and 
publicity.  

 
4.8 We welcome the support and input from Scrutiny to further these 

objectives and improve our green spaces. 
 
6 Appendices 
 

a. Green Spaces Strategy and Implementation Plan 22 – 25 
b. Green Spaces Progress Report Nov 2022 
c. Green Spaces Programme of Works 22/23 
d. Cabinet Member Friends Groups Report October 2022 
e. Friends Groups Partnership Agreement   

 
7. Background Papers 
 
 None. 
 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and 
Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26 

 
Final Version 13/06/22 

 
Director of Borough Economy: Alice Davey 

Contact Officer: Matthew Huggins, Interim Service Manager 
 

Timeline 
 

Cabinet Approval – 22nd June 2022 
Implementation – June 2022 

 
Comms 

 
• Once approved, it will become an operational document, used for internal 

monitoring and direction of officers of resources towards achieving the 
objectives within it.  

• A public, more accessible, publication of this document will be made available 
online, following Cabinet approval.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   2 

 
 
 
Foreword 
 
To be drafted and signed by the Lead Cabinet Member for public document.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 56



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   3 

Contents 
 
Foreword (p2) 
 
1.0 Summary (p4) 

 
2.0 Context – Green Spaces Strategy Terminology (p9) 

 
3.0 Green Spaces in Sandwell – Current Picture 

 
- Green Spaces (p14) 
- Governance and Management (p24) 
- Community Impact – Education (p25) 
- Community Impact – Volunteering and Friends Groups (p25) 
- Community Impact – Health and Physical Activity (p27) 
- Community Impact – Disability and Mental Health (p27) 
- Financial (p28) 
- Facilities and Activities – Green Spaces Built Facilities (p29) 
- Facilities and Activities – Fishing and Allotments (p31) 
- Facilities and Activities – Playing Pitches (p34) 
- Facilities and Activities – Playgrounds and Play Facilities (p34) 
- Nature Reserves and Urban Forestry (p35) 
- Climate Change (p36) 
 

4.0 Green Spaces Strategy 2022/2023 – 2025/2026 (p36) 
 

5.0 Green Spaces Budget and Investment – 3 Year Strategy (p44) 
 

6.0 Proposed Programme of Planned Works 2022/2023 (48) 
 

7.0 Quality Improvement Plan 2022/2023 – 2025/2026 (p53) 
 

8.0 Programme of Works 2023/2024 (p55) 

Appendices 
Appendix A: Sandwell Valley Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26 Summary (p57) 
Appendix B: Lightwoods House Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26 Summary (p68) 
Appendix C: Environment Response Team Pilot Summary (p77) 
Appendix D: Events and Governance Framework Summary (p82) 
Appendix E: Green Spaces Strategy Governance Framework (p93) – IN PROGRESS) 
Appendix F: Green Spaces KPIs (p95) 
Appendix G: Friends Groups Ways of Working and Agreement Draft (p97) 
Appendix I: Green Spaces Quality Scores 2018 – 209 Sample Green Spaces (p101) 
Appendix J: Green Spaces Audit 2018 Household Survey Summary of Findings (p109) 
 

Page 57



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   4 

 
1.0 Summary 
 

1.1 The responsibility for green spaces (commonly referred to as parks and open 
spaces) sits with the parks service and includes parks, playgrounds, amenity green 
spaces, green corridors, nature reserves, playing pitches, outdoor youth play 
infrastructure, built facilities in parks, and allotments.  
 

1.2 The Green Spaces Service sits within the Directorate of Borough Economy and is 
part of the Parks and Grounds Service – including parks, grounds maintenance, 
urban forestry, and – temporarily – Sandwell Valley, Forge Mill Farm, and Lightwoods 
House and Park.  

 
1.3 For the purposes of this strategy, the parks service is referred to as Green Spaces 

Service. The service currently includes four officers, and two front line operatives 
responsible for playground maintenance and inspection. Separately to this, Green 
Spaces are supported by Grounds Maintenance with 7 park gardeners, 3 park 
rangers, and operatives responsible for trees, urban forestry, arboriculture and 
countryside maintenance.    

 
1.4 Litter and waste responsibilities in most green spaces are part of the waste and 

street cleansing contract with Serco. However, nature reserves and Sandwell Valley 
are currently not included in this arrangement and is currently dealt with by Park 
Rangers, supported by grounds maintenance operatives.  
 

1.5 Green spaces have achieved the following in the last six months (Nov 2021 to 
May 2022 - the period which was least impacted by the Covid pandemic in the 
last financial year):  
 
a. Business Plan for Sandwell Valley (Appendix A) and Lightwoods House and 

Park (Appendix B): the three-year business plan for both sites sets out the 
strategy to achieve a self-sustained financial position and improved education 
and visitor offering by 25/26. This includes a relaunch of Sandwell Valley (phase 
one part delivered, phase one to be fully delivered by 8th June 2022), transition to 
completing the Heritage Lottery Fund commitments at Lightwoods House and 
Park, and expansion of Forge Mill Farm.  
 

b. Pilot of Environment Response Team (Appendix C): since Dec 2021, green 
spaces have benefited from the pilot of the environment response team, with over 
4,000 hours completed, with over 40 small sites and 11 large sites in deep 
cleanse and green infrastructure improvements (including parks, playgrounds, 
amenity green spaces, green corridors, and road side green spaces). These sites 
were selected based on their impact on the community and the significance of the 
waste or overgrowth on health and safety. Due to the success of the initial six 
months, this pilot will continue until July 2022, and has been proposed to continue 
as part of the business as usual operations. Local level green spaces have 
benefited from this work, which currently score lowest in quality.  

Page 58



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   5 

 
c. Large bid for Britannia Park completed for Town’s Fund: A bid to invest in the 

refurb and development of Britannia Park (The Britannia Park Community Hub 
Project) was approved by the Towns Fund Super Board and Government, for 
delivery in 2022 -2024.  
 

d. New posts in place: vacant posts have now been filled – Community 
Development and Allotment Assistant, and West Smethwick Park Community 
Engagement Officer – and additional appointments within base budget are 
currently being made. This includes an education and outreach manager and two 
officers who will pilot a countryside and animal welfare education programme at 
Sandwell Valley and Forge Mill Farm, as well as developing a volunteer 
programme for green spaces, and a catering service lead officer to continue our 
pilot for parks-based coffee huts, and additional posts to develop our local level 
green spaces, nature reserves, playgrounds, and playing pitches.    

 
e. New systems adopted: we have begun the transition to digital systems, through 

the procurement of PSS Ultimate – a complete grounds and green spaces 
management and maintenance solution. This will be onboarded in June 2022, 
with live information on green spaces, inspections, works and outstanding actions 
to feed key performance indicators and make the service more data driven. We 
have also procured a venue management system to automate bookings for green 
spaces – both parks and built facilities – which includes integration with play 
finder and sports promotion sites, with all sites online by July 2022.   
 

f. New ways of working introduced: the management processes and ways of 
working have been reconfigured to embed joined up ways of working, data led 
approaches to decision making, and stronger audit and governance. This 
includes implementation of service level and individual objectives, the use of key 
performance indicators, and the reinduction of all officers in member/officer code 
of conduct and audit and governance (due for completion by July 2022).  
  

g. Greater synergy between events and green spaces: the temporary inclusion 
of Sandwell Valley, Lightwoods House and Events into the Parks and Grounds 
Service has resulted in a positive synergy and joined up working between teams. 
This will enable future economies of scales in procurement and administration, 
sharing knowledge and expertise between services, and increasing the use of 
green spaces for community events. Responding to The Audit Governance 
Report of 2021 from Grant Thornton, the Event Governance Framework 
(Appendix D) is now in use, including the EventApp online system, designed for 
better audit trails and decision-making processes on events on council land – 
much of which happens on green spaces.  

 
h. Completed the capital scheme West Smethwick Park Pavilion: The West 

Smethwick Park Pavilion has now been handed over and works to the 
landscapes are due for completion in May. This is a c. £5m investment from HLF 

Page 59



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   6 

and Sandwell Council, and the operation of The Pavilion as a venue hire / 
community engagement facility and café will go live in July 2022.  

 
i. Successful bid for the development of Urban Bike Track: 400k secured from 

Sport England, with 100k matched funding from Sandwell and 100k from 
Birmingham Council, to build a new Urban Bike Track at Sandwell Valley. 
Sandwell are the lead on this project, and delivery of the project has begun and is 
due to be completed for Summer 2023 opening.  

 
1.6 The parks service has experienced the following challenges, which this 

strategy seeks to address:  
 

a. Demand challenges: the covid pandemic has seen an increase in the use of 
green spaces across the country, including Sandwell. This has increased the 
pace of ‘wear and tear’ of parks and playgrounds. The pandemic also saw a 
significant number of parks and grounds maintenance staff absent through covid 
sickness and the work from home period at the peak of the pandemic. This 
resulted in a significant backlog of works, which consumed the workload in the 
latter part of 2021, with backlogs of work still in progress ranging from overgrowth 
to playground enhancements and returning swings to pre-covid arrangements.  
 

b. Resource challenges: green spaces knowledge benefits from officers with 
strong local knowledge and civic pride in our green spaces. We will build on this 
to gain experience from other authorities, best practice, and modern 
improvements to green spaces strategy and methodology.  

 
c. Modernisation challenges: much of the parks and grounds maintenance service 

is managed and monitored through manual processes and systems. There has 
been a lack of profile about best practice in green spaces, modern arrangements 
for working with stakeholders, and the use of key performance indicators and 
data to inform decisions.  
 

d. Expectation challenges: There are - rightly – high levels of Elected Member and 
resident expectations about progress for green spaces in their ward. The use of 
the portal and a clear strategy and pipeline of works for green spaces will improve 
expectations from Elected Members, and allow them to know when works are 
due for green spaces in their ward.  
 

e. Communications challenges: there is a knowledge gap – both for internal and 
external stakeholders, including Elected Members and residents – around green 
spaces methodology and approaches to develop and maintain these for 
maximum community impact. There has also been a focus on borough level 
parks (Town Parks) and – for other green spaces - a largely reactive service. 
There is a need to improve our communications in our programme of works for 
green spaces, and our methodology and approach.  
 

Page 60



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   7 

f. Funding challenges: Sandwell is not unique in having budget pressures, and 
green spaces are not immune to these challenges. The current budget – and the 
way in which it is used - does not meet the current demands of the number of 
green spaces Sandwell has – particularly neighbourhood and local level green 
spaces, such as amenity green spaces, play areas, and green corridors (which 
benefit the more deprived residents without daily access to borough level parks). 
There is evidence of good practice from other authorities addressing these 
challenges through a more directed and planned approach to works and 
development of green spaces, increased use of income generation approaches, 
and more rigorous funding activities through grants and community/friends 
groups. This strategy seeks to embrace those opportunities.   
 

g. Opportunity challenges: the green spaces service has largely worked in 
isolation from other services in the council, resulting in lost opportunity through 
partnership working with education, public health, leisure and tourism, climate 
change team, and regeneration. Whilst there are examples of good work in this 
area – such as public health led dementia walks and sports activities – this 
strategy seem to develop a joined-up approach with other services with green 
spaces and clear evidence in terms of outputs and outcomes.  
 

h. Strategic Challenges: the green spaces service sits within parks and grounds, 
which includes urban forestry. This strategy seems to embed a culture of joined 
up working between green spaces, green services, urban forestry, and cleansing 
services. The service will transition from being largely reactive, driven by 
demands from members and residents, to a strategic approach benefiting the 
green spaces most in need. The Green Spaces Audit commissioned and 
completed in 2018, which included recommendations for a Green Spaces 
Strategy, has not been implemented; this strategy seeks to implement the key 
recommendations from this audit.   

 
1.7 This Green Spaces Strategy and Business Plan will set out to achieve the 

following: 
 

1.7.1 Three Year Strategy – Approach 
 
a. Focus on priority works only for 2022/2023 to resolve current health and 

safety / significant community impacts in parks and playgrounds. 
 

b. Implement actions from the Green Spaces Strategy recommendations 
that can be achieved in the following 3 financial years. Prioritise those 
actions that allow a transition to a Green Spaces Strategy that works 
towards the vision addressed in the forward to this document.  
 

c. Continue to maintain the Green Flag Awards currently held; but prioritise 
further improvements to neighbourhood and local level green spaces 
(green corridors, play areas, smaller parks, and amenity green spaces) in 
wards with the highest levels of deprivation.  

Page 61



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   8 

 
d. Learn from best practice approaches in green spaces strategy and build 

internal capacity to work towards this. Embed this process of learning, so 
that we consistently learn from the best in this field and develop our own 
set of best practice learning and examples.  
 

e. Modernise ways of working: more efficient, transparent, and data driven.  
 

f. Reconfigure the service to empower community and stakeholder 
engagement in the development, management, and maintenance of green 
spaces, and achieve synergy with other services to deliver on the 
corporate plan and 2030 ambitions.  
 

g. Lay the foundations to secure the financial future of our green spaces as a 
cost effective and high performing service integrated across the council.  

 
1.7.2 Three Year Strategy – Objectives (detailed outputs and measures from 

P36) 
 

a. Increase average quality score for Sandwell Green Space by 15 points, 
with a clear strategy to achieve a ‘good’ average score by 2030. 
 

b. Improve accessibility and use of green spaces for sport and physical 
activity.  
 

c. Improve accessibility and use of green spaces to reduce health 
inequalities, loneliness, dementia, disability, and improve physical, mental 
health, and wellbeing.  

 
d. Improve stakeholder engagement in the development, management, and 

maintenance, and funding of green spaces with Friends Groups, 
community groups, residents and others.  
 

e. Continue to improve the security and safety of green spaces. 
 

f. Increase funding for green spaces through income generation, fundraising 
and external grants, and efficiencies in processes, systems and ways of 
working.  
 

g. Increase educational activity for children and young people in green 
spaces, conservation, wildlife management, and access to nature.  
 

h. Improve the accessibility and use of green spaces buildings and facilities 
– achieving maximum utilisation of spaces.  
 

Page 62



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   9 

i. Improve the management and development of nature reserves, urban 
forestry, and wildlife, and link to the Climate Change Action Plan for 
Sandwell.   
 

j. Achieve excellent governance, oversight, and management of green 
spaces.  
 

k. Improve the provision of allotments and community food production.  
 

1.8 The governance of this 3-year strategy and business plan will be: 
 

• Cabinet approval of Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan in 
June 2022.  

• Annual review of strategy progress by Cabinet and approval of annual programme of 
works in green spaces (next review: March 2023). 

• Six monthly internal green spaces advisory group, including stakeholders from other 
services to ensure synergy with other strategies and work. 

• Quarterly KPI updates to Cabinet Member, and published on the council website.  
 

1.9 This plan and the approved annual programme of planned works on green spaces 
will be communicated to Members and made available to the public through a series 
of presentations and comms in June and July 2022, including a refresh of our green 
spaces information on Sandwell.gov.uk and Visitsandwell.co.uk.  
 

1.10 The progress of this strategy and business plan will be monitored through key 
performance indicators reported to the Cabinet Member quarterly scorecard and 
confirmed externally by a Green Space Audit every five years (Appendix F).  

 
2.0 Context – Green Spaces Strategy Terminology 

 
2.1 The Green Spaces Audit – completed in 2006, 2013, and 2018 – has set a 

framework for the way in which we consider green spaces. This is informed by 
national and regional policy and guidance including the methodology previously 
referred to as Planning for Open Space (PG 17), Sport and Recreation, the National 
Planning Policy Framework, and the Black Country Plan (2011).  
 

2.2 Additional national, regional, and local policy and guidance frameworks are used to 
inform Green Spaces Audit and this Green Spaces Strategy and includes:  

 

Page 63



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   10 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Source: 2018 Green Spaces Audit – Sandwell Borough Report 
 

2.3 Open Space is defined as: 
 

“All open space of public value, including not just land, but also areas of 
water (such as rivers, canals, lakes and reservoirs) which offer 
important opportunities for sport and recreation and can act as a visual 
amenity”1. 

 
2.4 Green space is a subset of open space that includes vegetated land or water within 

an urban area such as parks and (public) gardens, playing fields, children’s play 
areas, nature reserves, woods and other natural areas, grassed areas, cemeteries 
and allotments along with green corridors like paths, disused railway lines, rivers and 
canals. Green space does not include agricultural land, private gardens or civic 
spaces that are part of the built landscape. Green Belt and green space are not 
synonymous, since the former is a specific planning designation to prevent urban 
sprawl by keeping land permanently open. 
 

                                      

1 NPPF (2019)- Glossary 

Page 64



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   11 

2.5 National guidance contained in “Assessing Needs and Opportunities”, the companion 
guide to PPG17 sets out a suggested typology of space for local authorities to use as 
their starting point for defining their own local standards. This has been modified 
slightly based on local circumstances to form the Typology shown below: 
 

Level 1 Typology 
 

Level 2 
Typology 

Primary Purpose 

Parks and Gardens 
Play; Youth; 

Sports; Semi-
natural; Water 

Accessible, high quality opportunities for informal 
recreation and community events. 

Natural and Semi-Natural 
Green spaces 

Semi-natural; 
Water 

Wildlife conservation, bio-diversity and environmental 
education and awareness. 

Green Corridors 
Semi-natural Walking, cycling or horse riding, whether for leisure 

purposes or travel, and opportunities for wildlife 
migration. 

Outdoor Sports Facilities 

Play 
Youth 

Semi-natural 
Water 

Participation in outdoor sports, such as pitch sports, 
tennis, bowls, athletics or countryside and water sports. 
This category does not include sports provision at other 

Level 1 categorised sites. 

Amenity Green space 
NA Opportunities for informal activities close to home or work 

or enhancement of the appearance of residential or other 
areas. 

Provision for Children and 
Young People 

Play 
Youth 

Areas designed primarily for play and social interaction 
involving children and young people, such as equipped 
play areas, ball courts, skateboard areas and teenage 

shelters. 

Allotments 
NA Opportunities for those people who wish to do so to grow 

their own produce as part of the long term promotion of 
sustainability, health and social inclusion. 

 
2.6 Accessibility levels used to classify green spaces are:  

 
Accessibility Level Description 

Unrestricted 
Sites have unrestricted public access although some sites may 

have limitations to access between dusk and dawn. 

Limited 

Sites may be publicly or privately owned but access is limited 
either by a physical barrier such as membership, or 

psychological barrier such as a feeling that a green space is 
private. 

Not accessible Sites are out of bounds to the public 

 

Page 65



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   12 

2.7 All green spaces are important. However, there is a need to classify types of green 
spaces in terms of significance, which is done through the following hierarchy:  
 

Hierarchy level Description 

Borough 
Those sites whose significance should attract people from across the entire 

borough. Usually large sites with a range of facilities or designated importance 
for history or nature conservation. 

Neighbourhood 
Those sites which perform a function that serves a more immediate community. 

Unlikely to attract people from across the borough 

Local 
Those sites which perform a function to a small area – typically areas of amenity 

green space. 

 
2.8 The Green Spaces Audit 2018, completed by external consultants, compiles 

evidence using the following methodology: 
 
a. Mapping green spaces in quantity through the above typography and hierarchy. 

This is benchmarked against a sample of other local authorities and is measured 
in the number of hectares (i.e. play space provision) per 1,000 population.   
 

b. Sampling green spaces on quality in the following way using a score out of 10 for 
each criterion, and a maximum score available for each site of 100:  

 
 

Total of 209 sites (c40% of green space 
sites) were assessed as part of the Green 

Spaces Audit 2018 using these criteria 
across the borough. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Town 

Number of 
Sites 

Assessed 
(2018) 

Tipton 33 
Oldbury 24 

West Bromwich 57 
Smethwick 27 

Rowley Regis 38 
Wednesbury 30 

Total 209 

 2018 Criteria 
A Welcoming Place 
1. Welcoming 
2. Good and safe access 
3. Signage 
4. Equal access for all 
Healthy, Safe and Secure 
5. Appropriate levels of quality facilities and activities  
6. Safe equipment and facilities 
7. Personal security  
8. Control of Dogs/ Fouling 

Clean and Well Maintained  
9. Litter and waste management 
10. Horticultural maintenance 
11. Arboricultural maintenance 
12. Buildings and infrastructure maintenance 
13. Equipment maintenance 
14. Arboricultural maintenance 
Biodiversity, Landscape and Heritage 
15. Management of natural features, wild fauna and flora 
16. Conservation of landscape features 
17. Conservation of buildings and structures 
Community Involvement  
18. Appropriate provision for community 
Marketing and Communication  
19. Appropriate educational interpretation/ information 

Page 66



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   13 

 
 

 
c. Sampling green spaces on value in the following way using a score out of 10 for 

each criterion:  
 

Refer
ence 

Factor Reference Criteria Maximum 
score 

A Context A1 Accessibility 10 
A2 Proximity 10 
A3 Quantity 10 

Maximum Score 30 Calculation (score/3)x2.5 25% 
B Level and type of use B1 Hierarchy 10 

B2 Level of use 10 
Maximum Score 20 Calculation (Score/2)x2.5 25% 
C Wider benefits C1 Ecological benefits 10 

C2 Education benefits 10 
C3 Social inclusion 10 
C4 Cultural and heritage  10 

Maximum Score 40 Calculation (score/4)x2.5 25% 
D Open Space Networks D1 Strategic Open Space 10 

D2 Linear Open Space 5 
Maximum Score 10 Calculation (Score/1)x2.5 25% 

 
d. Sampling residents through a survey of 15,000 households, with a response rate 

of 1,314 valid surveys.  
 

Town n % of total sample Population Population 
Rank 

Oldbury 250 19.0 53,285 3 
Rowley Regis 203 15.4 51,255 4 
Smethwick 211 16.0 60,033 2 
Tipton 186 14.1 41,080 5 
Wednesbury 194 14.8 39,160 6 
West Bromwich 240 18.3 80,647 1 
No town stated 31 2.4 - - 
Grand Total 1315 100.0 325,460 - 

 
e. Sampling community groups through a community group survey, with 10 

respondents:  
 

Name of group Name of park(s) and open space(s) 
Friends of Sheepwash Sheepwash Nature Reserve 

Friends of Kerr Drive Open Space Kerr Drive Open Space 
Friends of Brunswick Park Brunswick Park 

Friends of Victoria Park Victoria Park Tipton 
Friends of Red House Park Red House Park 

Friends of Mary Macarthur Gardens Mary Macarthur Gardens 

Score 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
Quality Very Poor Poor Fair Good Very Good Excellent Exceptional 

 

Page 67



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   14 

Go Play Rowley Britannia Park and Haden Hill Park 
Creative Academies Network West Bromwich 

Friends of Rowley Hills Rowley Hills 
Albion Foundation (Go Play Team) Warley Woods, Lewisham, Victoria, Lightwoods 
 

3.0 Green Spaces in Sandwell – Current Picture  
 

Green Spaces  
 

3.1 Sandwell is rightly proud of its green spaces, with:  
 

Level 1 Typology Number Area (Ha) % of Total 
(Area) 

Allotments 34 43.72 6.3 
Amenity Greenspace 211 269.33 38.9 

Cemeteries & Churchyards 21 80.60 3.9 
Green Corridor 22 75.36 4.1 

Institutional Land 90 216.67 16.6 
Natural & Semi-Natural 

Greenspace 75 727.83 13.8 

Outdoor Sports Facilities 48 334.61 8.8 
Parks & Gardens 32 264.89 5.9 

Provision for Children & 
Young People 10 5.30 1.8 

Total 543 2018.31 100.0 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   15 

3.2 This translates to a town profile of:  
 

Typology Level 1 Oldbury 
Rowley 
Regis 

Smethwick Tipton Wednesbury 
West 

Bromwich 
Total 

Allotments 9 4 8 2 7 4 34 

Amenity 
Greenspace 49 46 10 37 17 52 211 

Cemeteries & 
Churchyardsi 1 4 6 4 3 3 21 

Green 
Corridor 0 1 3 9 6 3 22 

Institutional 
Land 23 16 9 11 13 18 90 

Natural & 
Semi-Natural 
Greenspace 

6 21 4 7 11 26 75 

Outdoor 
Sports 

Facilities 
8 11 6 3 8 12 48 

Parks & 
Gardens 4 5 8 4 4 7 32 

Provision for 
Children & 

Young 
People 

1 1 4 0 1 3 10 

Total 101 109 58 77 70 128 543 
 
 

3.3 Sandwell Borough has significant amounts of green space, which make up nearly 
24% of the total land area, ranking towards middle of the table for comparison 
studies, and more unrestricted green space per 1,000 population than Birmingham, 
Oldham, Hull, and Knowsley.  

Other Green Space Studies (by consultant) 
Hectares of unrestricted 

green space per 1000 
population 

Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (2011) 7.51 
Stoke-on-Trent City Council (2011) 6.60 

Coventry City Council (2018) 3.69 
Gateshead Council (2011) 5.64 

Walsall Council (2018) 4.72 
Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council (2011) 4.51 

Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (2018) 3.63 
Wolverhampton City Council (2011) 3.60 

Birmingham City Council (2018) 2.80 
Oldham Council (2011) 3.14 
Hull City Council (2011) 1.78 

Knowsley Council (2011) 1.50 

Page 69



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   16 

 
3.4 There are 323 green spaces making up nearly 1200 hectares (14% of the total land 

area, and 59% of all green spaces) that have unrestricted access. Natural and Semi-
natural Green Space makes up nearly 40% of the supply (by area) of unrestricted 
green space and is important in terms of contributing to landscape character and 
biodiversity. 

 

  
 

Town Number of Sites Area (Ha) % of Total (Area) 
Oldbury 53 111.69 9.4 

Rowley Regis 68 213.00 18.0 
Smethwick 33 146.40 12.4 

Tipton 51 169.52 14.3 
Wednesbury 37 84.52 7.1 

West Bromwich 81 457.39 38.7 
Total 323 1182.52 100.0 

Table Unrestricted Green space area by Town 

3.5 For all towns, the percentage of unrestricted green space sites is between 53-67%. 
However, in Smethwick and Tipton, unrestricted green space makes up around 3 
quarters of the total area of green space (71.6% and 76.8% respectively), which is 
considerably higher than other towns. This does not reflect the quality score for these 
spaces, or that these Town’s do not warrant focus within this strategy. 

Unrestricted 
Access, 323, 59%

Limited Access, 
166, 31%

Restricted 
Access, 54, 10%

543 Green Spaces in Sandwell (>0.2 h)

Page 70



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   17 

 

 
3.6 The average quality score in the 2018 green spaces audit was 34 (out of 100), the 

same as in 2006, but 4 points lower than 2013. However, the overall average mask a 
more complex picture where the quality of larger more significant spaces at a 
Borough and Neighbourhood level remain largely unchanged from 2013. The quality 
of local level spaces has however declined and is lower than the average recorded in 
2006 and 2013. 
 
 

 Very poor Poor Fair Good Very Good 
 No. % No. % No. % No. % No. % 

Smethwick 1 4% 12 44% 11 41% 3 11% 0 0% 
West 

Bromwich 1 2% 30 53% 17 20% 7 12% 2 3% 
Wednesbu

ry 0 0% 23 77% 6 20% 1 3% 0 0% 
Rowley 
Regis 2 5% 26 68% 9 24% 0 0% 1 3% 

Tipton 1 3% 26 79% 4 12% 2 6% 0 0% 
Oldbury 2 8% 8 79% 2 8% 1 4% 0 0% 

Total 7 3% 125 60% 49 23% 14 7% 3 1% 
 
 
 

 Very poor Poor Fair Good Very Good 

 No. % No. % No. % No. % No. % 
Borough 0 0% 2 9% 8 36% 10 45% 3 14% 

Neighbourhood 0 0% 21 42% 21 42% 1 2% 0 0% 
Local 7 5% 113 82% 20 14% 3 2% 0 0% 

 

Page 71



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   18 

 
 Very poor Poor Fair Good Very Good 

 No. % No. % No. % No. % No. % 
Amenity Greenspace 3 4% 68 83% 10 12% 1 1% 0 0% 

Cemeteries & 
Churchyards* 0 0% 1 13% 5 63% 2 25% 0 0% 

Green Corridor 0 0% 13 87% 2 13% 0 0% 0 0% 
Natural & Semi-Natural 

Greenspace 4 9% 28 65% 8 19% 2 5% 1 2% 
Outdoor Sports Facilities 0 0% 16 73% 5 23% 1 5% 0 0% 

Parks & Gardens 0 0% 6 19% 15 48% 8 25% 2 6% 
Provision for Children & 

Young People 0 0% 4 50% 4 50% 0 0% 0 0% 
*not part of the Green Spaces Strategy 
 

3.7 At a town level, Smethwick had the highest average quality score (42) and Oldbury 
the lowest (27). The average quality of spaces in Smethwick and West Bromwich has 
increased since 2006 and these increased have been sustained. The average quality 
in Wednesbury and Tipton is now higher than 2006, but the average scores have 
reduced since 2013. The average quality In Oldbury and Rowley Regis is now lower 
than in 2006. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 72



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   19 

Type Number of 
sites Range Average 

2018 
Average 

2013 
Average 

2006 

Amenity Greenspace 82 6 - 60 29 31 28 

Cemeteries & 
Churchyards 8 25 - 67 51 56 50 

Green Corridor 15 13 - 57 28 30 25 

Natural & Semi-
Natural Greenspace 43 7 - 71 32 37 33 

Outdoor Sports 
Facilities 22 24 - 60 36 35 33 

Parks & Gardens 31 13 - 75 51 54 47 

Provision for Children 
& Young People 8 13 - 51 36 37 35 

 
 

3.8 Parks and Gardens have the highest average score of all green spaces. Several 
parks have benefited from external funding and significant council investment in the 
last ten years, resulting in award winning parks and facilities at Sandwell Valley, 
Forge Mill Farm, Lightwoods House and Park, Haden Hill Park, West Smethwick 
Park, Dartmouth Park, Brunswick Park, and others. A funding bid to the Towns Fund 
is currently seeking approval for further investment into Britannia Park, and HLF and 
Sandwell Council Funded West Smethwick Park improvements are due for 
completion in June 22.  

Page 73



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   20 

 
 
 
3.9 Priorities have traditionally been set to focus on achieving Green Flag Awards for 

parks. This is understandable, as the priority had been to deliver significant externally 
funded parks development projects, and a focus on achieving Green Flag status 
assisted with this. However, the 2018 Green Spaces Audit demonstrates the need to 
address the neighbourhood and local level green spaces for the wards with the 
lowest amount of high-quality green space, with a larger number of smaller sites 
(green corridors and amenity green spaces) significantly impacting the quality score 
for Sandwell green spaces. This will be addressed by a more strategic approach to 
prioritising improvement works on parks and gardens (detailed in section 6 and 7 of 
this document).  

 
3.10 Quality scores by criteria demonstrate the priority areas for improvement in green 

spaces:  
 
 

Area Ward Town
Dartmouth Park West Bromwich West Bromwich 75 Good 74 Good
Haden Hill Park Cradley Heath and Old Hill Rowley Regis 71 Good 65 Fair
Warley Woods Abbey Smethwick 69 Fair 75 Good

Lightwoods Park Abbey Smethwick 66 Fair 61 Fair
Redhouse Park Great Barr West Bromwich 66 Fair 50 Fair

Victoria Park, Tipton Tipton Green Tipton 64 Fair 63 Fair
Barnford Park Langley Oldbury 61 Fair 47 Poor

Brunswick Park Wednesbury North Wednesbury 61 Fair 58 Fair
Garden of Remembrance West Bromwich 61 Fair 37 Poor

West Smethwick Park St Pauls Smethwick 58 Fair 45 Poor
Victoria Park, Smethwick Soho and Victoria Smethwick 57 Fair 49 Poor

Kenrick Park West Bromwich West Bromwich 56 Fair 46 Poor
Mary MacArthur Gardens Cradley Heath and Old Hill Rowley Regis 51 Fair 33 Poor

Lewisham Park St Pauls Smethwick 49 Poor 50 Fair
Britannia Park Blackheath Rowley Regis 46 Poor 40 Poor

Farley Park Great Bridge Tipton 46 Poor 30 Poor
Jubilee Park Great Bridge Tipton 46 Poor 34 Poor

Oakwood Park West Bromwich West Bromwich 46 Poor 31 Poor
Hill Top Park Wednesbury South Wednesbury 44 Poor 39 Poor
Langley park Langley Oldbury 43 Poor 45 Poor

Bury Hill Park Langley Oldbury 43 Poor 62 Fair
Lyng Park Lyng West Bromwich 42 Poor 25 Poor

Harry Mitchell Park Smethwick Smethwick 39 Poor 32 Poor
Smethwick Hall park St Pauls Smethwick 37 Poor 34 Poor
Coronation Gardens Tipton Green Tipton 36 Poor 40 Poor

Linear Park Tipton 36 Poor 40 Poor
Tividale Park Oldbury Oldbury 34 Poor 42 Poor

Laybourne Park Princes End Tipton 33 Poor 26 Poor
Broadwell park Langley Oldbury 32 Poor 33 Poor

Black Patch Park Soho and Victoria Smethwick 13 Very Poor 37 Poor
Marl Hole Park West Bromwich West Bromwich - - - -
Ratcliffe Park Wednesbury Wednesbury - - - -

Current Measure Scores (2018)Park/Garden and Location
Quality Value

Page 74



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   21 

Criteria 
Average 

Score 
(2018) 

Variance 
Average 

Score 
(2013) 

Average 
Score 
(2006) 

Personal security in park 4.3 -0.5 4.8 4.9 
Safe equipment and facilities 4.3 -0.6 4.9 4.1 
Equipment maintenance 4.3 -0.5 4.8 4.4 
Conservation of buildings and 
structures 

4.2 -1.1 5.3 4.5 

Good and safe access 4.1 -0.3 4.4 4.1 
Dog fouling 3.9 -0.9 4.8 4.9 
Buildings and infrastructure 
maintenance 

3.9 +0.3 3.6 3.5 

Arboricultural maintenance 3.8 -0.2 4 3.8 
Appropriate provision for the 
community 

3.8 -0.5 4.3 4.2 

Appropriate levels of quality 
facilities & activities. 

3.7 -0.7 4.4 4.1 

Welcoming 3.7 -0.3 4 4.1 
Management of natural features, 
wild fauna and flora 3.6 -0.2 3.8 3.9 

Conservation of landscape 
features 

3.6 -1.5 5.1 4.1 

Horticultural maintenance 3.5 +0.1 3.4 3.3 
Equal access for all 3.4 -0.6 4 3.6 
BOROUGH AVERAGE 3.4 -0.6 4 3.5 
Litter and waste management 2.8 -1.2 4 2.9 
Signage 2.2 -0.5 2.7 1.8 
Appropriate educational 
interpretation/info 

1.2 +0.2 1 0.5 

 

a. Litter – while the 2013 audit saw an improvement in the levels of litter and detritus 
across much of the Borough, the 2018 audit saw a return to a lower average score. 
Borough level Parks & Gardens had the highest average criteria score of 6.6. These 
spaces tend to have plenty of bins, including recycling bins, as well as being well staffed 
and well-maintained in general. Borough level sites as a whole had a higher average 
(5.5), whereas the local level sites that make up two thirds of the sites audited, only had 
an average score of 2.1 for litter.  
 
Action: We will map the current provision of bins in green spaces at borough, 
neighbourhood, and local level, including the maintenance and litter picking schedules, 
and ensure this is fit for purpose. We will also engage with residents and community 
partners – such as litter watch – to target litter hot spot areas, to both educate the public 
on the impacts of littering on biodiversity and people, and our community safety and 
environmental protection teams to target identified hot spots. 
 

b. Conservation of buildings and structures; and Conservation of landscape features 
– both these criteria scored significantly lower in comparison to the 2013 audit. The 
average score for Cemeteries and Churchyards, and Parks and Gardens were above the 
borough average in these criteria, suggesting the heritage features of these sites are 
overall being conserved. However, the average score for the Conservation of landscape 
features in Amenity Greenspaces was only 2.1, and 2 for Green Corridors.  

Page 75



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   22 

 
Action: We will audit the buildings and structures in amenity green spaces and green 
corridors and develop a conservation plan to address this.  

 
c. Interpretation – the provision of appropriate educational interpretation or information 

continues to score low.  
 
Action: We will review and replace some of the older panels to ensure the quality is 
being maintained and the information is still relevant. Local level sites scored particularly 
low, with an average of 0.7. We will complete an audit of interpretation at all sites as part 
of developing site improvement plans, and look at ways to improve the provision of 
interpretation to improve people’s sense of place and understanding of their local green 
spaces. Improvements in this area will also assist in engaging residents in the care and 
maintenance of local level sites, and targeting littering.  

 
d. Signage – the majority of sites have some kind of signage. However, half of the sites 

with signage only scored between 3 or less, indicating that either there is not adequate 
signage, or that that the signs present lack maintenance. The signs were generally 
consistent across council-owned sites, with larger borough and neighbourhood spaces 
often having welcome notice boards. These sometimes lacked maintenance or had 
graffiti.  
 
Action: As the prominent position of signage is a factor in the welcoming nature of the 
site’s entrance, their on-going maintenance and replacement will be a priority, with a map 
of signage assets and required improvements to these developed in 2022. This will 
include commissioning clear, up to date maps at the larger spaces. We will also 
modernise signage with the use of QR codes, to increase knowledge of walking routes 
and green spaces features.  

 
e. Management of natural features, wild fauna and flora– the council owns or manages 

some important natural and semi-natural green spaces, such as remnant heathland and 
semi-ancient woodlands. Natural and semi-natural greenspaces; and green corridors 
scored slightly above the criteria average, but still did not achieve half of the possible 
marks. The 2013 audit highlighted that these are at a tipping point with regards to their 
biodiversity and their conservation will need to be a priority to ensure their long-term 
value. The average criteria score reduced by -1.5, with spaces for Children and Young 
People scoring the lowest average at 2.1.  
 
Action: We will appoint a Nature Reserves Development Officer, as well as strengthen 
the agricultural and countryside ground maintenance team, to address this, as well as 
creating greater interest and range of provision for children and young people with 
regards to the natural world through our new countryside education team. 

 
f. Arboriculture maintenance - Sandwell Council, along with other Black Country Unitary 

Authorities, has maximised its use of the major grant schemes such as the Forestry 
Commission’s Woodland Grant Scheme and the Millennium Forestry Programme to 
create a number of woodlands and plantations on its parks and green spaces. The 2013 
audit recommended that many of these are now at a development stage where there 
needs to be a clear strategy for their future management in order to maximise their 
potential for conservation, education and recreation. The most recent audit found that 
many areas of young woodland would benefit from thinning and require a long-term 
management strategy.  
 

Page 76



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   23 

Action: We have commissioned a tree consultancy to work with us on developing a tree 
strategy for 2022, application for new tree funding, and to scope the longer-term 
aspiration to develop an urban forestry master plan. 

 
3.11 The Green Spaces Audit 2018 learnings from quality scores are:   

 
Areas of Progress and Success Areas for Development 

- Dartmouth Park (1st) and Haden Hill Park (2nd) 

the highest scoping space on quality points.  
- Swan Pool/Priory Woods nature reserves 

increased by 19 points since 2003 (due to 
accessibility / interpretation improvements) 

- Scores for over half (52%) of highest scoring 
sites have increased.  

- A third of sites saw their quality increase 
- 17 sites scored over 60 points, compared to 9 

sites in 2003.  
- Sites that improved scores did so by an average 

of +5.  
- Victoria Park (Smethwick), Brunswick Park, Red 

House Park, Lightwoods Park scores have 
benefited from significant investment from 
external funding.  

- Lyng Park, the Maltings Open Space, and 
Wednesbury Oak Play Area increased in scores. 

- Greets Green Playing Fields increased its score 
marginally, but remains significant potential 
for green space use.  

- Tollhouse Way Amenity Area was highlighted 
as an example of how even small, local 
amenity sites can provide high quality public 
realm spaces with multiple use.  

- Sites that decreased did so by an average of -6.  
- Some spaces that had scores increase, would 

have had a greater increase if there were more 
bins, signage, and weed control.  

- Warrens Hall Park scores decreased from 2013, 
due to ASB, and improvements needed in 
accessibility and signage (these improvements 
have since been completed in 2021). 

- Warrens Hall Farm scored considerably low 
across most criteria: main issues being broken 
fencing, unchecked growth, ack of signage – 
opportunity to increase link between both 
Warrens Hall sites.  

- Hall Green Open Space declined in scores from 
2013, largely due to ASB, security and 
accessibility, litter.  

- Timbertree Open Space continues to score 
low, largely due to signage and needing 
greater links to the community.  

- Criteria scored highly were personal security, 
safe equipment and facilities, and equipment 
maintenance.  

- Litter and detritus in parks and gardens scored 
highest at 6.6 average.  

- Conservation of buildings, structures, and 
landscape scored highest for parks and 
gardens.  

- The majority of sites have some signage, which 
is generally consistent and includes welcome 
notice boards at larger sites.  

- Management of natural features, wild fauna 
and flora scored slightly above the criteria 
average for natural and semi natural green 
spaces and green corridors.  

- Sandwell Council maximised its use of the 
major grant schemes for Arboriculture 
Maintenance.  

- Litter and detritus at local sites (amenity green 
spaces, green corridors, open spaces) scored 
lowest, at 2.1 average.  

- Conservation of buildings, structure, and 
landscape scored lowest for amenity green 
spaces (2.1) and green corridors (2). 

- Interpretation (appropriate educational and 
information) scored lowest for amenity green 
spaces, green corridors, and some larger sites.  

- Signage overall scored between 3 or less, 
largely due to maintenance and graffiti.  

- Management of natural features, wild fauna 
and flora have seen a decline of -1.5 since 2013 
and requires investment, particularly in 
creating greater interest and range of 
provision for children and young people.  

- Areas of young woodland would benefit from 
thinning and require a long term management 
strategy.  

 
 

 

Page 77



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   24 

Governance and Management  

3.12 Green Spaces sits within the directorate of borough economy, and as part of the 
Parks and Grounds Service. Green spaces are managed and developed by the parks 
team, and maintenance of green spaces sits with the ground’s maintenance team 
(including urban forestry). 
 

3.13 Sandwell Valley, Nature Reserves, and Lightwoods House have been temporarily 
incorporated into the Parks and Grounds Service to achieve synergy with grounds 
maintenance functions, income generation and education. There is scope to consider 
further synergy with other green spaces linked to heritage sites, achieving economies 
of scale in maintenance and income generation functions.  
 

3.14 The Green Spaces Audit (2018) recommended a Green Spaces Strategic Delivery 
Group. This will be implemented in 2022 as a Green Spaces Strategic Advisory 
Group, with officers from relevant departments and key external stakeholders 
meeting twice yearly. The purpose of this group is to share best practice and achieve 
greater levels of synergy between green spaces and the corporate plan / vision 
across other services and stakeholders. There will be a terms of reference 
established for this group.  
 

3.15 Cabinet members are currently kept up to date on the work of green spaces through 
weekly cabinet member briefings. Parks officers also attend town lead meetings and 
regularly engage with ward members on parks visits. We will formalise these 
governance arrangements, through an annual report to Cabinet on the progress of 
the Green Spaces Strategy and approval of the annual programme of planned works. 
Town Leads will continue to be engaged, through a six-monthly update on Green 
Spaces in their Town and through Cabinet Member Scorecards.  

 
3.16 The Green Spaces Audit – every five years – provides a benchmark for progress and 

improvements completed by an external provider. Some of these KPIs – as well as 
others – will be incorporated into our regular reporting internally (Appendix G). We 
will commission the next Green Spaces Audit to take place in 2025 to assess the 
progress of this strategy and business plan.  

 
3.17 The parks team experience a high level of member and public enquiries and requests 

for parks development and works both through and outside of the portal. We will 
address this by being more transparent about our annual programme of planned 
works, and that Elected Members and residents are aware of this. This will allow 
officers to focus on delivering these works and the green spaces strategy, 
understanding that there will still be issues raised through the portal that require 
response and action, and those that require transparency about timescales. We will 
continue to prioritise those requests and enquiries related to health and safety.   

 
3.18 There is a corporate and public knowledge profile gap in understanding green spaces 

in strategic terms and the reasons for our approach to the development and 
maintenance of green spaces. We will develop a learning and development offering 
for Elected Members and more information about our approach to green spaces on 
Sandwell internal and external communication channels.   

 

Page 78



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   25 

Community Impact – Education 

3.19 There are some examples of excellent educational schemes and activity, particularly 
the Forest School and forestry education programme in primary schools. The 
appointment of an Education and Outreach Manager and two officers to pilot a 
countryside and animal welfare education programme at Sandwell Valley and Forge 
Mill Farm in 2022/2023 is also positive. We will seek to expand this over the next 
three years and deliver a national curriculum linked and out of school education and 
activity programme in green spaces, wildlife management, and nature. 
 

3.20 Forge Mill Farm already benefits from a formal partnership with Sandwell College, 
offering Animal Welfare Course facilities and assessment. We will seek to expand 
this over the next 3 years with enhancements to this offering, making Forge Mill Farm 
a Centre of Excellent in Animal Welfare and further partnerships with other colleges, 
including adult education, in horticulture, land management, small animal welfare, 
and an increased number of apprentices, internships, work experience placement, 
and a care leaver apprenticeship pilot.  
 

3.21 Our Parks and Gardens – and other green spaces – benefit from horticultural 
improvements and significant investment into the development and maintenance of 
these. The new developments at Sandwell Valley Visitor Centre Walled Kitchen 
Garden, as well as other parks and gardens, presents an opportunity to increase 
horticulture apprenticeships and community level learning. We will seek to develop 
formal partnerships with colleges and education providers to offer horticulture sites 
for learning and assessment.  

 
Community Impact – Volunteering and Friends Groups 

3.22 There is a significant amount of volunteer activity – both formal and informal – in our 
green spaces. This includes Litter Watch, Lightwoods House and Park Volunteers, 
and Warley Woods Community Trust Volunteers – the latter two delivering more than 
£60k in volunteer value a year. Although there is no further borough wide data on 
volunteering value, friends’ groups – particularly Friends of Dartmouth Park (which 
has 200 members) – have delivered thousands of hours volunteering each year. We 
will work to formalise a volunteering offer in the management, development, and 
maintenance of green spaces with the appointment of a Volunteer Development 
Officer for green spaces in 2022/2023. 

 
3.23 Community engagement – mostly through volunteering and friends’ groups – is 

predominately focussed on large borough wide and neighbourhood level parks and 
nature reserves. We will work to develop community engagement and volunteer 
capacity at the local level, particularly with high value, low quality green spaces, such 
as green corridors and amenity green spaces.   

 
3.24 Sandwell has an active number of friends’ groups, with 10 referenced in the 2018 

Green Spaces Audit, and 14 currently listed on the Sandwell.gov.uk website. The 
relationship between the council and friends’ groups varies and is largely dependent 
on informal arrangements and personal relationships. This provides inconsistent 
governance and risks a disjointed approach to partnership working. Similarly – 
although there is a lot of good work done by many friends’ groups volunteers - there 

Page 79



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   26 

is a lack of formal and verifiable information about this activity, and we are unable to 
assess the community impact because of this.  

 
3.25 The Green Spaces Audit 2018 consultation with friends’ groups showed support from 

the council has been available. They would like to improve the support available for 
fundraising and grant applications (details of survey themes below).  

Theme Responses 
Advice i.e. to apply for funding 6 
Grant funding 4 
Staff time 3 
Other 3 
Training 2 
Meeting spaces 1 
Storage / office space 1 
Postage and photocopying 1 
Assistance to take more ownership / responsibility for site specific assets 1 

 
3.26 We will formalise the relationship with friends’ groups through agreements and 

structure, and integrate these relationships into the green spaces governance plan. 
This will ensure that:  
 
a. There is a register of friends’ groups recognised by the council, and a clear 

agreement in place for this.  
 

b. Expectations are clear between friends groups and the council about the 
relationship, roles and responsibilities.  

 
c. Support is made available in a clearly defined and consistent way to friends 

groups in the areas of funding advice, provision of meeting spaces, and access to 
training.  
 

d. There is clarity about the communication channels with the council and council 
officers, to enable prioritisation of work by officers in line with this strategy.  

 
3.27 The draft of the Friends Group Ways of Working and Agreement (Appendix H) will be 

consulted on with friends groups in June 2022, and implemented following Cabinet 
approval of this strategy in June 2022.  
 

3.28 Friends groups are an important part of improving our Green Spaces. However, the 
representation of residents on friends groups varies – both in numbers, age, and 
ethnicity. There is a disproportionate focus of officer time on engaging with a small 
number of friends groups, sometimes at the cost of engagement with all residents. 
We will seek to redress this balance with increased engagement and 
communications with all residents on green spaces directly, an agreed programme of 
meetings with friends groups throughout the year, and increasing the representation 
of those with disabilities, younger people, LGBT+, and from BAME residents (who 
make up 31% of the borough) in the development of Green Spaces.  

 

Page 80



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   27 

Community Impact: Health and Physical Activity 
 
3.29 Green spaces have a vital role in addressing health inequalities in Sandwell through 

increased physical activity and access to nature. However, the Green Spaces Audit 
2018 shows that we can do more in this area. Approximately one third of residents 
are inactive compared to a quarter of the population nationally; people living in 
deprived areas are twice as likely to be physically inactive as those living in more 
prosperous areas. The proportion of children in the borough obese or overweight is 
higher than the national average, and Sandwell ranks within the top ten nationally for 
child obesity.  

 
3.30 There is already a significant amount of sports and physical activity taking place in 

our green spaces – both informally and formally. There is no reliable borough wide 
data on the scale and impact of this activity, as much of it is informal (i.e. organised 
locally, and not booked or promoted through council avenues). A Parks Development 
Officer will be allocated specific responsibility for improving the facilities and activities 
available for informal and formal sport and physical activity in our green spaces, 
working with community groups, sports groups, football associations, the Lawn 
Tennis Association and implementing our Playing Pitches Strategy. This will include 
establishing borough wide data on physical and sports activity in green spaces.  

 
3.31 There is a significant amount of physical activity organised by volunteers, residents, 

other organisations, and the council. We will collate and promote this activity in easily 
accessible formats and medium. This will include working with the Sport and Leisure 
and Public Health colleagues.  

 
3.32 Green Corridors are a significant benefit to health and wellbeing – providing walking, 

cycling, and running routes from one location to the other, across different parts of 
the borough. We will develop a map of these green corridors, making walking, cycling 
and running routes clearer for residents, and improving these spaces to make them 
accessible and well used. This includes engaging with other public health initiatives, 
such as Move More Sandwell.  

 
3.33 In 22/23 we will pilot the development of a green corridor into a multi-purpose space, 

including park facilities, community event facilities, and accessible routes for walking, 
running and cycling, at what is commonly known as ‘The Railer’ in Tipton. We will 
seek further funding to develop this green corridor for improved community use and 
outcomes for the local community.  

 
Community Impact – Disability and Mental Health  

3.34 Green spaces provided a much-needed space for emotional and social health during 
the recent pandemic. There is a significant amount of emerging research about the 
benefits of green spaces in improving mental health, but also treating mental health 
conditions. We will work with public health colleagues to review best practice in this 
field – including the use of green prescriptions – and work with public health 
colleagues for green spaces to be better able to support, promote, and treat mental 
health conditions.  

 

Page 81



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   28 

3.35 Sandwell benefits from improved accessibility to green spaces for disabled people. 
There is scope for improvements to accessibility for a number of Borough wide sites, 
including nature reserves. We will prioritise accessibility improvements to green 
spaces for disabled people and develop a specific action plan for all sites with 
accessibility limitations for disabled people.  

 
3.36 Green spaces also provide a safe and inclusive space for disabled people with visual 

and hearing impairments and autism. The sensory garden at Dartmouth Park is an 
example of this. We will learn from best practice in other authorities and scope 
proposals for additional inclusive green space facilities for disabled people. We will 
engage with disability groups nationally and locally in the development of these 
initiatives.   

 
3.37 Green spaces are already used by older residents to combat loneliness – through 

engagement with volunteering and walking groups – and there are several dementia 
walking groups supported by Sandwell’s Public Health teams. We will work with 
Public Health to further enhance and promote green spaces for use to combat 
loneliness and dementia. 

 
3.38 Access to toilets is an issue for those with disabilities and some older people. We will 

complete an audit of our current toilet provision and seek to improve this provision 
with improved access to toilets (using digital locking and access systems) and scope 
additional needs and funding requirements for toilets in large green spaces.  

Financial  

3.39 Sandwell – like most authorities – has a challenging financial position, with increased 
costs from external factors, and growth in costs for adult and children’s social care 
provision. Similarly, the level of revenue funding available to green spaces is no 
longer keeping pace with the improvements and maintenance required for our green 
spaces. A more efficiency and effective model is therefore required.   

 
3.40 Green spaces across England are facing an increase in use following the recent and 

ongoing Covid pandemic. During the pandemic, green spaces were critical in 
maintaining the emotional and physical health of people when they were unable to 
use other spaces; it is expected that this increase in outdoor activity and use of green 
spaces will continue. This has further impacted the investment needed to maintain 
and improve our green spaces.  
 

3.41 Conversely, there are low quality, low value (in terms of impact) green spaces in 
Sandwell that would benefit from further analysis as to its future. It may be that 
repurposing some low quality, low value green spaces – that demonstrate little value 
to the community – can release funding for investment into low quality, high value 
green spaces, and increase the amount of accessible green spaces by investing in 
currently restricted / limited access green spaces. This may also positively impact 
maintenance, through a community adoption approach to some sites. The audit of 
current assets in the green spaces service in 2022 will scope this further.   
 

3.42 The primary source of income generation in parks is through ice cream concessions, 
park hire, and sports facilities hire (football and bowls predominantly). The current 
systems and processes for administering this income – from marketing, booking and 

Page 82



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   29 

fulfilment, and policing of income generating locations such as football pitches – is 
largely manual and is not capable of scalability. We will appoint an Income 
Generation Officer in the Green Services 
team to modernise these processes 
through digital solutions and address 
other areas of income generation 
through some appropriate commercial 
activity.  

 
3.43 There is little to no commercial activity in 

most green spaces, except for ice cream 
concessions and pitch bookings. The 
community response in the recent green 
spaces audit household survey showed 
that the majority of residents would 
favour commercial activity of some kind 
that benefits the green space and its 
users. The income strategy detailed in 
this plan proposes a phased approach to 
testing income generation potential, as 
well as delivering an increase in income 
over the next three years to contribute to revenue funding for green spaces 
development and maintenance.  

 
3.44 There has been some success with external funding; primarily larger bids for capital 

funding through Heritage Lottery Fund. There is scope to access small to medium 
funding through council applications and supporting friends and community groups to 
access funds that the council could not. We have appointed a funding consultant to 
work with green services for the next three months to prepare and submit funding 
applications for parks specifics funds, and to scope potential small, medium, and 
large capital and revenue funding streams available. We will use this scoping report 
to guide community groups and friends’ groups in types of funding available.  

 
Facilities and Activities – Green Spaces Built Facilities 
 
3.45 The Green Spaces Built Facilities portfolio includes a range of assets in varying 

condition and levels of usage. Well run and resourced green space facilities have the 
potential to be hubs of community engagement and activity in green spaces. These 
facilities currently include:  
 

26%

34%

26%

Support for future funding 
sources: More Commercial Use 

of Parks

Strongly Support Somewhat Support Neutral

Page 83



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   30 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Key: Yellow = planned works and development; Blue = not in use, requires scoping; White = no current 
planned works and development, requires scoping.  
 

3.46 Pavilions provide a base within a park for community activity and community events 
and additional income opportunities with room hire, catering, and ticketed events. 
Sandwell currently operates four pavilion style facilities, with the opportunity to 
increase community engagement and activity, and increase income generation for 
the park:  

 
• Dartmouth Park Pavilion  
• West Smethwick Park Pavilion  
• Redhouse Park Pavilion  
• Lion Farm / Birchley Sports Pavilion  

 
3.47 Changing room facilities provide a base for sports activity, meeting space facilities, 

and changing rooms with showers and toilets and are a requirement of the football 
league. Sandwell MBC currently operates six changing room facilities, with the 
opportunity to increase sports activity in parks, community engagement with meeting 
rooms, and increased income generation for the park:  
 
• Tividale Park Changing Rooms 
• Redhouse Park Changing Rooms (part of the Pavilion)  
• West Smethwick Park Changing Rooms 
• Barnford Changing Rooms 
• Bearmore Changing Rooms  
• Cakemore Changing Rooms (operated by Oldbury United Football Club) 

Facility Town/Ward Location Facilities

Barnford Changing Rooms Oldbury / Bristnall Barnford Park
6 x changing rooms, toilets, 
conference room

Bearmore Changing Rooms Cradley Heath / Cradley & Old Hill Bearmore Playing Fields 4 x changing rooms, 2 shower rooms

Cakemore Changing Rooms Oldbury / Langley Cakemore Playing Fields 8 x changing rooms, 1 x shower room
Charlemont Changing Rooms West Bromwich / Charlemont Charlemont Playing Fields 2 x changing rooms, café, toilets

Churchfield Changing Rooms
West Bromwich / West Bromwich 
Central Churchfield Playing Fields

8 x changing rooms, tea room, toilets, 
meeting room

Black Patch Park - Portacabin Smethwick / Soho & Victoria Black Patch Park Meeting room
Brunswick Park Lodge Wednesbury / Wednesbury North Brunswick Park 
Brunswick Park Mess Room Wednesbury / Wednesbury North Brunswick Park Toilet and mess room space

Hydes Road Changing Rooms Wednesbury / Wednesbury South Hydes Road Playing Fields
10 x changing rooms, 2 x shower 
rooms, 2 x toilets

Lion Farm / Birchley Sports Pavillion Oldbury / Langley Lion Farm Playing Fields
24 x changing rooms, 2 x large 
function rooms, toilets

Tividale Park Changing Rooms Oldbury / Oldbury Tividale Park 8 x changing rooms, 1 x shower room

Redhouse Park Changing Rooms West Bromwich / Newton Redhouse Park 
4 x changing rooms, 2 shower rooms, 
meeting room, toilets

West Smethwick Park Changing 
Rooms Smethwick / St Pauls West Smethwick Park 8 x changing rooms, 1 x shower room

Dartmouth Park Pavillion 
West Bromwich / West Bromwich 
Central Dartmouth Park 

1 x conference room, 2 x offices, café, 
toilets

West Smethwick Park Pavillion Smethwick / St Pauls West Smethwick Park 
2 (or 4) x conference rooms. Toilets, 
café

Victoria Park Smethwick Mess 
Room Smethwick / Soho & Victoria Victoria Park Smethwick Toilet and mess room space
Victoria Park Tipton Mess Room Tipton / Tipton Green Victoria Park Tipton Toilets and mess room space
Red House Park Mess Room West Bromwich / Newton Red House Park 1 x portacabin

Greets Green Changing Rooms
West Bromwich / Greets Green & 
Lyng Greets Green 

Haden Hill Park Bowls Hut Cradley Heath / Cradley & Old Hill Haden Hill Park 1 x portacabin
Langley Band Room Oldbury / Langley Langley Park 
Lewisham Park Changing Rooms Smethwick / St Pauls Lewisham Park 
West Smethwick Park Sons of Rest Smethwick / St Pauls West Smethwick Park Meeting room, kitchen, toilet

Page 84



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   31 

• Charlemont Changing Rooms (operated by Bustleholme) 
• Churchfield Changing Rooms (operated by the Albion Foundation) 
 

3.48 Meeting space facilities provides a base for community engagement, community 
activities and events, and meeting room facilities. Sandwell currently operates two 
meeting space facilities, in addition to the Pavilion facilities (which also have meeting 
room facilities):  

 
• West Smethwick Park Sons of Rest 
• Black Patch Park – Portacabin (operated by the Friends of Black Patch Park) 
 

3.49 Sandwell currently has five parks facilities buildings out of operation. The work to 
assess and consult on these spaces is currently underway as part of the assets 
review and outcomes will be confirmed as part of the 23/24 business plan proposed 
to Cabinet. These are: 
 
• Brunswick Park Lodge  
• Hydes Road Changing Rooms (requires building improvements) 
• Greets Green Changing Rooms 
• Langley Band Room  
• Lewisham Park Changing Rooms  
 

3.50 Maintenance arrangements for pavilions and changing rooms is currently shared 
between several services and contractors, including arrangements with external 
organisations and community groups. We will review and formalise these 
maintenance and management arrangements in 22/23 to ensure value for money 
and continued development of these sites as a valuable community resource and 
achieving a single entity self-sustained position by 2030.  
 

3.51 The appointment of a Pavilions Development Officer for two years from 22/23 will 
achieve a self-sustained position for Dartmouth Park Pavilion by 25/26, and a clear 
plan for the remaining facilities to achieve this by 2030. This post will also seek to 
increase the opening times for built facilities and maximise community use and 
impact from these facilities.  

 
3.52 West Smethwick Park Pavilion and Parks works will be fully completed end of May 

22, with an official community day opening the facilities in late June. This will be 
developed as a facility for community events, sports and health and wellbeing 
activities, venue hire, and a café (detailed within our income strategy). A separate 
business plan for West Smethwick Park – to include delivery of HLF outputs and a 
five year transition to a self sustained position – is currently been drafted, and will be 
included in the final draft of this document that goes to Cabinet for approval.  

Facilities and Activities – Fishing and Allotments  

3.53 Fishing is an activity that benefits resident’s health, both physically and mentally. 
Sandwell currently has five sites available for fishing, with a requirement for licences 
for anybody wishing to fish on these sites:  
 
a. Dartmouth Park  

Page 85



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   32 

b. Swan Pool, Sandwell Valley 
c. Sheepwash Nature Reserve 
d. Hydes Pool  
e. West Smethwick Park  
 

3.54 There is no current reliable data on fishing usage, as annual pass income is 
negligible, and licenses are not currently monitored. There is also no verifiable data 
on fishing stock. We will promote and limit annual fishing passes to the following sites 
for 22/23, and conduct an analysis of usage, demand, and approach to maintaining 
fish stock and fishing facilities, with a proposed approach to fishing as part of the 
23/24 green spaces business plan to Cabinet.  We will work with fishing groups and 
associations to explore potential partnership models in developing this offer, and 
policing / administering income from passes.  

Area Town 
22/23 Annual 
Pass Capacity 

22/23 Annual 
Pass Income 

Cost of Sale 

Dartmouth Park West Bromwich 20 1,000 500 
Swan Pool, 
Sandwell Valley West Bromwich 

20 1,000 500 

Sheepwash 
Nature Reserve Tipton 

20 1,000 500 

Hydes Pool  Wednesbury 20 1,000 500 
West 
Smethwick Park  West Smethwick 

20 1,000 500 

 
3.55 Allotments are a place for residents to grow their own fresh produce, who do not 

have access to their own green space or garden. There are currently 34 allotment 
sites, with various management arrangements, and 1,445 allotment plots across the 
Borough. These are:  

Page 86



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   33 

 

3.56 The current fees and charges 
and contract arrangements for allotments 
management requires renewal in 2023. We 
will review this in 2022 and propose to 
Cabinet revised arrangements to achieve 
value for money and improved governance 
and maintenance arrangements for 
allotments.  
 
3.57 There is a high demand for 
allotment plots with 510 on the waiting list. 
There is scope to increase the provision of 
allotment sites and plots, looking at the 
current limited and restricted green spaces 
in the borough.  
 
3.58 There have been some examples 
of community allotment projects, including in 
Sandwell – where multiple residents or a 
community group take on an allotment plot 
and share the produce for the community – 
with varied success. Learnings from this 
shared approach to allotment use and food 
production – as well as best practice from 
other authorities – show that purpose built 
and well-run allotment facilities for 
community food production and shared use, 
rather than individual plots, can be a 
successful model with multiple benefits, 
including health, wellbeing, and community 
cohesion.  
 
3.59 We will prioritise further 
development of new allotment sites and 

plots for use as community allotments and community food production, with 
appropriate facilities and support to develop this further. We will seek to pilot a 
community allotment site in 23/24, and scope further plans for this following the pilot.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Area Number Town
Tividale 23 Oldbury
Dudley Road 42 Oldbury
Pound Road 42 Oldbury
Cemetery Road 23 Oldbury
Basons Lane 31 Oldbury
Newbury Lane 29 Oldbury
Barnford Park 88 Oldbury
Meadow Road 3 Oldbury
Brandhall 32 Oldbury
Ramsay Road 23 Oldbury
Lewis Estate 22 Oldbury
Britannia Park 12 Rowley Regis
Perry Park 9 Rowley Regis
Cherry Orchard 18 Rowley Regis
Silverthorne 11 Rowley Regis
Stony Lane 82 Smethwick
Hall Road 8 Smethwick
Thimblemill 8 Smethwick
Bearwood Road 114 Smethwick
Londonderry 174 Smethwick
Hamilton Road 26 Smethwick
Salop Drive (now a Community 
Agriculture Site)

34 Smethwick

Lee Howl 72 Tipton
Central Library 8 Tipton
Whitehall Road 32 Tipton
Dingley Road 18 Wednesbury
Woodgreen 83 Wednesbury
Black Horse 29 Wednesbury
Brunswick Park 4 Wednesbury
Mesty Croft 14 Wednesbury
Paul Street 12 Wednesbury
Friar Park 36 Wednesbury
Woden Road South 56 Wednesbury
Moorlands 19 West Bromwich
Newton Street 39 West Bromwich
Caroline Street (Now a Community 
Agriculture Site)

8 West Bromwich

Bromford Lane 121 West Bromwich
Kenrick Park 40 West Bromwich

Page 87



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   34 

Facilities and Activities – Playing Pitches  

3.60 Sandwell currently has 13 sites with official football playing pitches: 

 
3.61 Sandwell currently has 4 sites with official bowling playing pitches: 

 
3.62 This Green Spaces Strategy does not address the development of these spaces. 

This is addressed in the Playing Pitches Strategy, which will be reviewed with internal 
and external stakeholders in 2022, with a revised Playing Pitches Strategy presented 
to Cabinet for 2023 implementation.  
 

3.63 We recognise the need to further improve the relationships with football, bowling, 
cricket and other playing pitch organisations and associations. We will consult again 
on our playing pitches strategy, with a clear plan to improve these relationships both 
locally and nationally, for the 2023 Cabinet report.  
 

3.64 In 22/23 specifically, we will work with Oldbury United Football Club to scope and 
develop options for improving the facilities at Cakemore Playing Fields.  

Playgrounds and Play Facilities  

3.65 Play spaces may or may not include sites containing play areas, Multi Use Games 
Areas (MUGAs) and outdoor gym equipment. In total, there are 69 sites with play 
spaces in Sandwell. Of these, 27 are local equipped area for play (LEAP) standard, 
with 7 additional neighbourhood equipped area for play) NEAP sites. There is only 
one strategic equipped for play (SEAP) site in Sandwell: Sandwell Park Farm. 
Overall, 35 sites have multi-use games areas (MUGA), 31 contain play areas or play 
equipment, 19 have fitness equipment, including trim trails and exercise machines, 
and 10 have skate or BMX facilities. 
 

3.66 In 22/23 we will commission a further – more detailed – review of our playgrounds 
and play facilities, and develop an improvement plan for these for 23/24 – 2030.  

 
 

 

 

Facility Town/Ward Location Facilities
Lion Farm Football Pitches Oldbury / Langley Lion Farm Playing Fields 11 x 11 a side pitches
Hydes Road Football Pitches Wednesbury / Wednesbury South Hydes Road Playing Fields 6 x 11 a side pitches, 1 x 9 a side pitch
Cakemore Football Pitches Oldbury / Langley Cakemore Playing Fields 2 x 5 a side, 2 x 7 a side, 2 x 9 a side pitches
Churchfields Football Pitches West Bromwich / West Bromwich Central Churchfield Playing Fields 2 x 11 a side, 1 x 9 a side, 1 x 7 a side
Bearmore Football Pitches Cradley Heath / Cradley & Old Hill Bearmore Playing Fields 2 x 11 a side
Barnford Park Football Pitches Oldbury / Bristnall Barnford Park 2 x 11 a side
Redhouse Park Football Pitches West Bromwich / Newton Red House Park 4 x 11 a side, 1 x 7 a side
Jubilee Park Football Pitches Tipton / Great Bridge Jubilee Park 2 x 11 a side
West Smethwick Football Pitches Smethwick / St Pauls West Smethwick Park 4 x 11 a side, 1 x 7 a side
Farley Park Football Pitches Tipton / Great Bridge Farley Park 1 x 11 a side
Britannia Park Football Pitches Rowley/ Blackheath Britannia Park 1 x 11 a side, 1 x 9 a side, 1 x 7 a side
Jesson Football Pitches West Bromwich / Greets Green & Lyng Jesson Playing Fields 1 x 11 a side
Tividale Park Football Pitches Oldbury / Oldbury Tividale Park 2 x 11 a side, 2 x 9 a side, 1 x 7 a side

Facility Town/Ward Location Facilities
Haden Hill Bowling Green Cradley Heath / Cradley & Old Hill Haden Hill Park 1 x Bowling Green
Victoria Park Bowling Green Tipton / Tipton Green Victoria Park Tipton 1 x Bowling Green
Farley Park Bowling Green Tipton / Great Bridge Farley Park 1 x Bowling Green
Hydes Road Bowling Green Wednesbury / Wednesbury South Hydes Road Playing Fields 1 x Bowling Green

Page 88



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   35 

Town Sites with play provision 
Rowley Regis 16 

Smethwick 14 
West Bromwich 12 

Tipton 10 
Oldbury 9 

Wednesbury 8 
Total 69 

 

Town Area of sites with 
play provision (ha) Town Area (ha) % of town area catered for 

by play provision 
Tipton 73.61 963.68 7.6 

West Bromwich 158.61 2481.40 6.4 
Smethwick 63.45 1147.62 5.5 

Rowley Regis 61.14 1357.76 4.5 
Oldbury 41.36 1450.27 2.9 

Wednesbury 30.15 1156.89 2.6 
Total 428.32 8557.62 29.5 

 

Row Labels Area (Ha) Population Ha/1000 
Oldbury 38.25 53,285 0.72 

Rowley Regis 40.96 51,255 0.80 
Smethwick 63.63 60,033 1.06 

Tipton 81.23 41,080 1.98 
Wednesbury 33.92 39,160 0.87 

West Bromwich 164.48 80,647 2.04 
Total 422.47 325,460 1.30 

 

Natures Reserves and Urban Forestry 

3.67 There are a total of 9 designated Local Nature Reserves in Sandwell Borough. The 
total area amounts to 288.60 hectares which equates to 0.89 hectare per 1000 
population, which is 0.11 hectares per 1000 population below the ANGSt Standard of 
1.0 hectares per 1000 population. Therefore, Sandwell requires an additional 35.80 
hectares designated as Local Nature Reserve to meet the National Standard. 
 

3.68 The current nature reserves are: Codsall Coppice, Forge Mill Lake, Gorse Farm 
Wood, Holly Wood, Mousesweet Brook, Priory Woods, Sheepwash, Sots Hole, and 
Warrens Hall. We will seek to increase our provision of nature reserves to meet the 
ANGSt standard of 1.0 hectares per 1,000 population. The first site to consult on this 
development is Millpool, and current discussions are happening with The Hateley 
Cross Big Local project to scope this further and bring pack proposals to Cabinet to 
develop this site as a nature reserve and work towards its designation as such. 
Timescales will depend on the funding available in 22/23, which is currently being 
scoped with a timeline expected to be approved in July 22.   
 

Page 89



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   36 

3.69 We do not currently have nature reserve management plans in place for 9 local 
nature reserves. We have transitioned nature reserves from tourism and culture, to 
the green spaces team, and will now develop a management plan for each nature 
research, including maintenance and education. This will be presented as a strategy 
to Cabinet by the end of the 22/23 financial year.  

 
3.70 We are currently developing a tree strategy with a consultancy that will give further 

analysis of our tree stock, forestry management, policy and approach, and deliver a 
trees strategy for presentation to Cabinet in late 2022. This will include the 
maintenance and development of current trees and forestry, as well as a sustainable 
plan to plant a further 10,000 trees in Sandwell by 2030.  

 
Climate Change 
 

3.71 Green spaces and urban forestry have a vital part to play in the successful outputs 
defined in the Climate Change Strategy and national / international climate change 
commitments. We will work with climate change colleagues to develop a specific 
action plan for green spaces to dovetail with the Climate Change Strategy objectives 
for Sandwell.  

3.72 We will use our Green Spaces to enhance the knowledge of residents of climate 
change and what they can do; we will begin this with a Green Fair at Sandwell Valley 
in 2022, and will seek to develop climate change information as part of our 
interpretation and signage at key green spaces.  

 
 
4.0 Green Spaces Strategy 2022/2023 – 2025/2026 

 
4.1 Increase average quality and value scores for green spaces. 

 
22/23 23/24; 24/25 3 Year Outputs 

a. Complete priority 1 and 2 
works for parks and play 
areas (section 6 – 8 of this 
document).  

b. Approve a 3 year 
investment strategy into 
parks and play areas.  

c. Retain Green Flag Status 
for current Green Flag 
parks.  

d. Develop improvement 
plans for parks and 
gardens with the lowest 
scores (section 7 of this 
document) 

e. Develop a management 
and maintenance 
schedule for green 
spaces, including 
contractors (waste), for 
integration and 

a. Maintain Green 
Flag Standards 
for borough and 
neighbourhood 
level green 
spaces.  

b. Develop an 
improvement 
plan for local 
level spaces, 
including green 
corridors and 
amenity green 
spaces.  

c. Embed the 
green spaces 
offer into the 
culture and 
tourism offer, 
including 
destination 
green spaces.  

a. Increase parks 
and gardens 
quality and value 
scores  

b. Clear 
improvement plan 
for increasing 
quality and value 
scores for green 
corridors and 
amenity green 
spaces.  

c. Increase overall 
Green Spaces 
quality score by 
10 points.  

d. Maintenance and 
monitoring 
schedule through 
PSS Ultimate to 
self-score sample 
green spaces on 

Page 90



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   37 

monitoring through PSS 
Ultimate.  

f. Commission a scoping 
exercise for low value, low 
quality sites.  

d. Implement a 
plan to improve 
access to 
spaces that 
currently have 
limited or no 
public access in 
wards with 
lowest amount 
of quality green 
spaces.  

an quarterly and 
annual basis.  

 
 
 
 

4.2 Improve accessibility and use of green spaces for sport and physical activity.  
 

22/23 23/24 3 Year Outputs 
a. Develop a relationship 

with the Lawn Tennis 
Association; 3 year 
development plan. 

b. Assess current use of 
green spaces for sport 
and physical activity in 
parks, and develop a 
programme of activity to 
expand on this 

c. Review the current 
Playing Pitches Strategy 
to ensure it is fit for 
purpose and has a clear 
five year set of objectives. 

d. Work with Oldbury United 
Football Club to scope 
and develop 
improvements for 
Cakemore Playing Fields 
and facilities.   

a. Implement 
improvement 
plans for playing 
pitches.  

b. Improve 
communications 
for green space 
sport and 
physical activity, 
to provide 
residents a one 
stop source of 
information.  

c. Monitor the use 
of green spaces 
for sport and 
physical activity.  

a. Baseline 
measurements 
for the use of 
green spaces for 
sport and 
physical activity.  

 

 
 

4.3 Improve accessibility and use of green spaces to target health inequalities, 
loneliness, disability, and mental health.  
 

22/23 23/24 3 Year Outputs 
a. Develop a pilot project 

for community food 
production and 
community gardening 
for 23/24 delivery, and 
secure funding and 
partner.  

b. Design a programme 
of green spaces 
events and activity 
programmes, working 

a. Implement the 
actions within 
the playing pitch 
strategy.  

b. Scope 
opportunities to 
link green 
corridors and 
linear walkways 
in the highest 
levels of air 

a. All Parks and 
Gardens and 
Nature Reserves 
with adequate 
accessibility for 
disabled people.  

b. Map / Programme 
of activity in 
green spaces that 
addresses health 
inequalities, 

Page 91



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   38 

with stakeholders, for 
23/24 delivery. 

c. Work with public 
health and sports 
colleagues to map 
current activities 
using green spaces to 
target health 
inequalities, 
loneliness, disability, 
and mental health.  

d. Commission an 
accessibility audit of 
Parks and Gardens, 
Nature Reserves, and 
local level priority 
green spaces to 
develop a programme 
of improvement works 
to improve disabled 
access of these 
spaces.  

e. Develop a map of our 
Green Corridors 
across the borough, 
and an improvement 
plan for these – 
encouraging walking, 
running, and cycling 
as a form of transport. 

f. Further develop ‘The 
Railer’ in Tipton as a 
multi-purpose Green 
Corridor, as a pilot 
and potential blueprint 
for other green 
corridors.  

 

pollution and 
health inequality 
– supporting the 
Sandwell Local 
Cycling and 
Walking 
Infrastructure 
Plan.  

c. Scope the 
potential to 
develop pocket 
parks and make 
greater use of 
low value green 
spaces in areas 
where the health 
inequality are 
the highest 
(amenity green 
spaces, green 
corridors) 

loneliness, 
disability, and 
mental health.  

c. Strategy for 
development of 
green corridors, 
and local level 
green spaces to 
increase walking, 
cycling and 
physical activity 
by 20230.  

 
 

4.4 Improve stakeholder engagement in the development, management, and 
maintenance of green spaces. 
 

22/23 23/24 3 Year Outputs 
a. Implement a Friends of 

Parks agreement and 
framework.  

b. Develop a programme of 
development 
opportunities for friends 
of parks groups to 
increase community 
engagement and 
fundraising activities.   

c. Appoint a Volunteer 
Development Officer and 
develop a volunteer 
strategy for green spaces.  

a. Promote and 
support 
opportunities for 
new friends groups 
to form.  

b. Deliver programme 
of development 
opportunities for 
friends of parks 
groups.  

c. Recruit 50 green 
spaces volunteers a 
year, each giving 6 

a. Increased number 
of active friends 
groups, 
measured by 
volunteer activity 
/ fundraising 
activity / 
development 
activity.  

b. Pilot a community 
ownership model 
for at least one 
green space site 

Page 92



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   39 

d. Develop a stakeholder 
map for green spaces, and 
establish development 
plans for key stakeholder 
relationships.   

e. Refresh resident and 
public communications 
information for green 
spaces.  

f. Work with resident and 
friends group of 
Goldicroft Park, to scope 
further developments to 
establishing this as a local 
level park.  

g. Work with Sandwell 
Equalities and Diversity 
Team to develop an EDI 
plan for green spaces to 
improve the 
representation of BME 
residents and young 
people in the development 
of green spaces.  

hours minimum a 
month.  

d. Meet with key 
stakeholders to 
build on positive 
relationships.  

e. Support the Big 
Local Partnerships 
to develop a 
masterplan for their 
local green spaces 
and deliver the 
identified 
improvements.  

f. Develop a green 
spaces forum for 
engagement with 
external 
stakeholders and 
communities.  

neighbourhood 
and local level.  

c. 150 active green 
space volunteers 
(exc. Friends 
groups 
volunteers) with a 
coordinated 
delivery plan of 
supported annual 
activity in green 
space 
improvements.  

d. Improved 
representation of 
BME residents 
and young people 
in the 
development of 
green spaces, 
through friends 
groups, 
volunteers, 
residents 
surveys, and 
other forums.  

 
4.5 Continue to improve the security and safety of green spaces. 

 
22/23 23/24 3 Year Outputs 

a. Conduct a best practice 
analysis of parks and 
green spaces security 
and safety.  

b. Present cabinet report on 
Green Spaces Security 
and Safety Strategy.  

c. Integrate the Anti Social 
Behaviour in parks as a 
permanent agenda item 
for Borough Tasking.  

d. Transition H&S checks in 
green spaces to PSS 
Ultimate.  

e. Increase signage and 
community awareness of 
self reporting 
mechanisms for ASB and 
off road motorbikes in 
parks.  

a. Implement Green 
Spaces Security and 
Safety Strategy.  

b. Implement self service 
locks to tennis courts, 
where possible.  

a. Increased quality 
score for personal 
security and green 
spaces safety in 
next audit.  

b. Decrease in 
reported incidents 
of ASB, including 
off road motorbikes 
in parks.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   40 

4.6 Increase funding for green spaces through income generation, fundraising and 
external grants, and efficiencies in processes, systems and ways of working.  
 

22/23 23/24 – 25/26 3 Year Outputs 
a. Pilot coffee bar pop up 

model at Swan Pool, 
Forge Mill Farm 
Playground, and 
Sandwell Valley 
Adventure Playground.  

b. Launch marketing 
activity, addition in 
directories for park 
spaces hire, park 
buildings hire, sports 
hire, and other income 
generation.  

c. Complete a scoping 
report on funding 
opportunities available 
for the next 5 years (Inc. 
friends groups and 
community groups).  

d. Submit funding 
applications for 
playgrounds and 
amenity green space 
development.  

e. Transition to digital ways 
of working, through 
venue hire software for 
parks spaces hire, and 
PSS Ultimate for parks 
and playgrounds 
inspection and 
maintenance.  

f. Revalue and retender the 
ice cream contracts for 
parks.  

a. Open 3 new pop up 
coffee bars, open for 
168 days a year (sites 
to be determined).   

b. Deliver 12 parks 
events achieving 2k 
surplus to the park 
each event (16 – 
24/25; 24 – 25/26) 

c. Achieve a year on 
year venue hire 
increase of 10% for 3 
years.  

d. Scope appropriate 
attraction contracts 
for some park sites 
(23/24).  

e. Appoint new ice 
cream and 
concession tenders 
for parks.  

f. Implement 
fundraising strategy 
for parks and open 
spaces: empower 
friends groups to 
raise 50k.  
 

a. Increase income for 
use for green spaces 
by c. 511k (total over 
3 years) and c. 229k a 
year thereafter.  

b. Use 20% of additional 
income generation to 
reduce budget 
contribution from 
SMBC by c.128k 
(target: 862k per year 
budget contribution, 
vs current 934k.  

c. 24 parks events a 
year in partnership or 
SMBC run, achieving 
2k surplus to parks 
per event.  

d. Achieve a year on 
year increase of 10% 
for 3 years.  

 

 
4.7 Increase educational activity for children and young people in green spaces, 

conservation, wildlife management, and access to nature.  
 

22/23 23/24 3 Year Outputs 
a. Recruit education 

manager and education 
and outreach officer.  

b. Pilot national curriculum 
linked programme of 
school visits and school 
activity in Sandwell 
Valley and Forge Mill 
Farm.  

c. Scope best practice on 
education initiatives for 
parks, conservation, 

a. Expand education 
programme to include 
nature reserves and 
one key park in each 
Town.  

b. Develop green spaces 
partner model with 
schools – linking key 
green spaces to 
school activity in 
conservation, wildlife 
management, and 
access to nature.   

a. Increased score on 
education and 
interpretation for 
children.  

b. 500 school visits a 
year, as part of the 
national curriculum.  

c. Formal partnership 
with one school in 
each ward, linked to a 
key open space.  

d. Green Spaces 
Sandwell micro-site 

Page 94



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   41 

wildlife management, 
and access to nature.  

c. Install child friendly 
interpretation at 
Green Flag Parks and 
Nature Reserves.  

d. Develop resources for 
education on 
conservation, wildlife 
management, and 
access to nature for 
schools, clubs, and 
children.  

e. Work with education 
stakeholders to 
increase the 
provision of forest 
school and forestry 
education.  

(website) with 
educational 
resources for 
children.  

 
 
 

4.8 Improve the accessibility and use of green spaces buildings and facilities – 
achieving maximum utilisation of spaces.  
 

22/23 23/24 Outcomes 
a. Complete an audit of use 

and value of all green 
space assets – buildings 
and facilities, with 
recommendations to the 
Director of Regeneration 
as to future use options.  

b. Complete a site survey 
of all buildings and 
facilities, and deliver an 
action plan for the 
development and 
maintenance of these 
spaces.  

c. Deliver improvements to 
sites for priority 1 and 2 
actions.  

d. Recruit a Development 
Officer for 2 years to 
increase the use of 
buildings and 
community engagement 
in the management and 
maintenance of these 
sites.  

e. Implement online 
booking of sites through 
venue hire software.  

a. Implement cabinet 
report actions on the 
development of green 
spaces buildings and 
facilities.  

b. Increase income 
generations, 
community activity, 
sport and physical 
activity use of 
Dartmouth Park 
Pavilion, West 
Smethwick Park 
Pavilion, and other 
sites.  

a. Investment secured 
for the development 
and maintenance of 
green spaces 
buildings and 
facilities.  

b. Dartmouth Park 
Pavilion self-
sustained through 
income generation.  

c. West Smethwick Park 
Pavilion delivery of 
HLF objectives 

d. Buildings and 
facilities on target to 
be self-sustained by 
2030.  

 
 
 
 

Page 95



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   42 

4.9 Improve the management and development of nature reserves and wilding 
sites.  
 

22/23 23/24 Outcomes 
a. Commission and 

complete an assessment 
of each of nature reserve 
site, with a national 
reserve management 
plan.  

b. Scope best practice on 
nature reserve 
management and 
funding, and develop a 
Nature Reserves 
strategy and Local 
Nature Recovery 
Strategy. 

c. Deliver improvements to 
sites for priority 1 and 2 
actions.  

d. Appoint a nature 
reserves development 
officer for three years.   

e. Develop a trees strategy.  

a. Develop and classify 
Millpool site as a 
nature reserve.  

b. Implement Nature 
Reserves Strategy. 

c. Secure funding for 
the further 
development of 
nature reserves to 
address shortfall in 
national target per 
1,000 population.  

d. Develop online 
resources for nature 
reserve education 
and activity.  

e. Implement the trees 
strategy.  

a. Increased community 
engagement in 
Nature Reserve 
management, 
development, and 
maintenance.  

b. Additional Nature 
Reserve (Mill Pool).  

c. Improved 
interpretation and 
nature reserve quality 
scores.  

d. Online resources 
educate people of all 
ages on nature 
reserve management, 
development and 
maintenance.  

e. 3,000 new trees 
planted, with a clear 
planting strategy for 
a further 7,000 by 
2030.  

 
4.10 Achieve excellent governance, oversight, and management of green spaces.  

 
22/23 23/24 Outcomes 

a. Set up a Green Spaces 
Strategy Advisory 
Group, with all key 
stakeholders to advise 
and deliver on the green 
spaces strategy.  

b. Complete a ‘mini’ green 
spaces audit (internal) to 
test assumptions and 
benchmark progress.  

c. Set up reporting 
framework, for twice 
yearly updates to Town 
Leads and Cabinet.  

d. Formally report to 
Cabinet annually on the 
progress of the Green 
Spaces Strategy.  

e. Appoint a green spaces 
champion on key 
boards: i.e. health and 
wellbeing board.  

a. Review and 
update 
management 
plans for all key 
parks and green 
spaces , assets 
etc 

b. Consider 
development of a 
natural capital 
account for green 
spaces in 
Sandwell.  

a. Green spaces 
advisory group that 
meets 2 times a year 
and contributes to 
the delivery of the 
Green Spaces 
Strategy.  

b. Clear set of KPIs, 
monitored 
throughout the year, 
with a data led 
approach to resource 
allocation in the 
green spaces and 
green services 
teams.  

 
 
 
 

Page 96



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   43 

4.11 Improve the provision of allotments and community food production.  
 

22/23 23/24 Outcomes 
a. Complete an 

allotments strategy 
and improvement 
plan for allotment 
sites.  

b. Scope a pilot for 
community 
allotments and food 
production and seek 
funding for this.  

a. Deliver the 
allotments 
strategy and 
improvement 
plan.  

a. Increase in the 
allotment 
provision of sites 
and plots.  

b. Evidence from at 
least one pilot for 
a community 
allotment site.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 97



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   44 

5.0 Green Spaces Budget and Investment – 3 year strategy  
 
5.1 This strategy is underpinned by the need to increase income through external 

sources, both earned income and grant income:  

 
5.2 Green spaces currently generate a target income of c.350k per financial year 

(excluding allotments). The revenue allocation for the maintenance and development 
of green spaces is unable to keep pace with the current and future needs of this 
strategy, without accessing additional funding. Funding sources have been defined 
as:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 >
Total Income 350,100     350,100      555,598         672,897         746,779         746,779         
Total Employee Costs 437,200     437,200      498,800         498,800         498,800         498,900         
  Total Premises 218,400   218,400    218,400      218,400      218,400      218,400      
  Total Transport 9,600       9,600       9,600          9,600          9,600          9,600          
Supplies & Services
D01001 Equipment & Furniture     134,400.00 134,400.00 134,400.00 134,400.00 134,400.00 134,400.00
D01002 Materials & Consumables     7,000.00 7,000.00 7,000.00 7,000.00 7,000.00 7,000.00
D02002 Catering Provisions     1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00
D04001 Printing Stationery 4,400.00 4,400.00 4,400.00 4,400.00 4,400.00 4,400.00
D05001 Operational Services        25,600.00 25,600.00 25,600.00 25,600.00 25,600.00 25,600.00
D05002 Professional Services 42,400.00 42,400.00 42,400.00 42,400.00 42,400.00 42,400.00
D05006 Pest Control               4,500.00 4,500.00 4,500.00 4,500.00 4,500.00 4,500.00
D06001 Telephones                  3,700.00 3,700.00 3,700.00 3,700.00 3,700.00 3,700.00
D06002 Postages, Carriage & Courier 600.00 600.00 600.00 600.00 600.00 600.00
D07009 Waste Disposal Charge      1,800.00 1,800.00 1,800.00 1,800.00 1,800.00 1,800.00
D07016 Civic Events               6,200.00 6,200.00 6,200.00 6,200.00 6,200.00 6,200.00
D08001 Grant Payments          73,100.00 73,100.00 58,480.00 46,784.00 46,784.00 46,784.00
  Total Supplies & Services 304,700.00 304,700.00 290,080.00 278,384.00 278,384.00 278,384.00
Total Controllable Expenditure 969,900 969,900  1,016,880 1,005,184 1,005,184 1,005,284 
H01001 Capital Charges - L&B       27,000   27,000    27,000      27,000      27,000      27,000      
Capital Investment for Income 50,000      70,000      90,000      
H01005 Capital Charges - Equipment 291,000   291,000    291,000      291,000      291,000      291,000      
  Total Capital Charges 318,000 318,000  368,000    388,000    408,000    318,000    

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 1,287,900  1,287,900   1,384,880      1,393,184      1,413,184      1,323,284      
TOTAL NET 937,800-     937,800-      829,282-         720,287-         666,405-         576,505-         
Total Year on Year Change 108,518         217,513         271,395         361,295         

Total Additional Parks Spend Available 108,518         217,513         271,395         361,295         
Total Net Budget Requirement 937,800-     937,800-      937,800-         937,800-         937,800-         937,800-         

Page 98



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   45 

a. Income Generation 
 

 
b. Internal and External Funding 
 

 
 

5.3 S106 current funds available are more than £1.2m. c.400k is currently planned for 
priority spend in 22/23, which leaves a balance of c.£0.8m. We will scope the 
remaining use of these funds, much of which is restricted to specific green space 
sites and wards, forecasting for the next 3 – 5 years. Future investment into S106 
funds is unknown at this time, and relying on this fund alone for development of 
green spaces in the future is not an option. 
 

5.4 Income generation opportunities have been scoped and a phased approach to 
increasing current income streams, as well as developing new income streams, will 
deliver additional revenue budget for green spaces development and maintenance. 
This increased income generation will be utilised for development and maintenance 
on priority sites, targeting those with the lowest quality, highest value.   
 

5.5 Based on a phased approach to trial new income generation opportunities, as well as 
increasing current streams, is expected to increase the revenue budget for the next 
three years from 2023/24 by c638k over three years.  

 
 

Page 99



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   46 

5.6 The additional income includes the following costs, incorporated into the proposed 
budget for this strategy:  

 
a. Capital expenditure over 3 years for income generation investment (210k over 

three years – subject to annual budget setting / invest to save process) 
 

b. Additional employee costs to deliver income generation targets and deliver 
improvements and funding for nature reserves and wildlife management.  

 
5.7 Once achieved, 
we will seek to at least 
maintain this additional 
level of income 
generation, with an 
expected additional 
£376k per year, 
increasing the revenue 
budget for development 
and maintenance to 
c.495k. Dependent on 
the income generation 
success, and the 
results of concessions 
and catering in some 
parks, this has the 
potential to increase 
further by 2030.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 100



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   47 

 

 
5.8 Subject to Council annual budget setting process, it is proposed as part of the Green 

Spaces Strategy and Business Plan that the additional income above base budget is 
ring fenced to contribute to the development of green spaces, and the delivery of the 
Green Spaces Strategy Objectives, in line with the Corporate Plan and 2030 
ambitions. Only additional income achieved will be allocated to spend, once achieved 
(we will not propose and spend potential income, until this has is actual income). 
Spend allocation from additional income will be proposed as part of the annual 
budget setting and proposed programme of green spaces works to Cabinet.  
  

5.9 The budget profile below does not account for additional funding through fundraising, 
funding applications, and fundraising activities by friends and community groups. 
Fundraising and grant activity will be allocated to specific projects and developments. 
We will develop an external funding plan for green spaces, including grant 
opportunities for community groups and friend groups.  
  

 
 
 

Page 101



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   48 

6.0 2022/2023 Programme of Planned Works  
 

6.1 The programme of planned maintenance and refurbishment works (that do not 
require public consultation) will be proposed to Cabinet on an annual basis, deciding 
the allocation of green spaces team resources – both financial and officer time – for 
that financial year. Only those approved works will be actioned in that financial year.  
 

6.2 The exception to this will be where urgent health and safety actions are required to 
play equipment and green spaces, which are defined as high risk as part of the 
monthly play and parks inspections.  

 
6.3 There are c.807k priority 1 and priority 2 works identified for 22/23 (requiring 

immediate rectification due to health and safety requirements or/and community 
impact through site and playground inspections).  

 
6.4 The proposed schedule of priority works are subject to supply availability of 

equipment and install, and final prices.  
 
6.5 The proposed schedule of works will be expanded, with delegated authority to the 

Cabinet Member for Leisure and Tourism and the Director of Borough Economy, as 
external funding becomes available during 2022 (such as Covid Recovery grants).  

 
807k Priority Works Total. 
 
229k priority works from base 
budget. 
 
Base budget available: 135k 
 
Budget pressure from base 
budget: c94k 
 
Budget pressure to be 
identified through grants, 
covid funding, income.  

 
6.6 Proposed Programme of Works 22/23: BMX Tracks 

 

 

Area Ward Town Works Cost Funding
Barnford Skate Park Bristnall Oldbury
Britannia Park Junior, Toddler, MUGA & Skatepark Blackheath Rowley Regis
Brunswick Park MUGA, Skatepark & Outdoor Gym Wednesbury North Wednesbury
Charlemont Open Space and Skate Park Charlemont West Bromwich
Norman Deeley Wednesbury Wednesbury BMX Resurfacing 4,000    Base
Farley Park MUGA and Fitness Great Bridge West Bromwich BMX Resurfacing 50,000 Base
Hill Top Park Play Area, Skate & MUGA Wednesbury South Wednesbury
Kenrick Park Play Area, Skate & MUGA West Bromwich Central West Bromwich
Ratcliffe Park BMX Wednesbury Wednesbury
Lightwood Park Play Area, MUGA & Wheeled Sports Abbey Smethwick
Tanhouse Open Space Newton West Bromwich
Victoria Park Tipton  All Areas Tipton Green Tipton BMX Repairs 10,000 Base

Base S106 Other Total 
Play Areas 152,040     312,920  68,000   532,960   
BMX 4,000         800          4,800        
Skate 8,000     8,000        
Gym 1,200         15,320    -          16,520      
MUGA 6,250         1,500      78,500   86,250      
Parks 23,760       67,200    -          90,960      
Playing Fields 1,600         400          25,600   27,600      
Nature Reserves 20,000       20,000      
Emergency Provision 20,000       20,000      
Totals 228,850     398,140  180,100 807,090   

Page 102



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   49 

 
6.7 Programme of Works 22/23: Skate Parks 

 

 
6.8 Programme of Works 22/23: MUGAs 
 

 
6.9 Programme of works 22/23: Play Areas  

 

 
 

Area Ward Town Cost Funding
Barnford Hill Park - Junior & Toddler Bristnall Oldbury
Brades Green Play Area & MUGA Oldbury Oldbury 520          S106
Broadwell Park Junior & Toddler Oldbury Oldbury 12,600     S106
Hartlebury Road Langley Oldbury
Langley Park Play Area Langley Oldbury 400          S106
Pitfields Close Play Area Old Warley Oldbury
Tividale Park Play Area, MUGA & Fitness Oldbury Oldbury

Area Ward Town Cost Budget
Barnford Park MAGU & Natural Play Bristnall Oldbury 500       S106
Black Patch park 
Farley Park MUGA and Fitness Great Bridge West Bromwich
Galton Village MUGA St Pauls Smethwick
Jubilee Park MUGA Great Bridge Tipton 51,000 Sport England
Montague Road Open Space Soho & Victoria Smethwick
Queensway MUGA Old Warley Oldbury 500       Base
Red House Park MUGA & Natural Play Newton West Bromwich
West Smethwick Park Adult Fitness & MUGA St Pauls Smethwick 1,000    Small sided pitches

Area Ward Town Cost Funding
Barnford Skate Park Bristnall Oldbury
Britannia Park Junior, Toddler, MUGA & Skatepark Blackheath Rowley Regis
Brunswick Park MUGA, Skatepark & Outdoor Gym Wednesbury North Wednesbury
Charlemont Open Space and Skate Park Charlemont West Bromwich
Farley Park MUGA and Fitness Great Bridge West Bromwich
Hill Top Park Play Area, Skate & MUGA Wednesbury South Wednesbury
Kenrick Park Play Area, Skate & MUGA West Bromwich Central West Bromwich
Lightwood Park Play Area, MUGA & Wheeled Sports Abbey Smethwick 8,000   NLHF
Tanhouse Open Space Newton West Bromwich
Victoria Park Tipton  All Areas Tipton Green Tipton

Page 103



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   50 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Area Ward Town Cost Funding
Bearmore Open Space, Play Area and MUGA Cradley & Old Hill Rowley Regis
Brickhouse Play Area Rowley Rowley Regis 8,000       Base 
Britannia Park Junior, Toddler, MUGA & Skatepark Blackheath Rowley Regis
Bury Hill Park Play Area & MUGA Tividale Rowley Regis 6,560       S106
Cradley Heath Community Centre (Redhill CC) Cradley & Old Hill Rowley Regis 1,000       Base 
Haden Hill Park MUGA & Play Area Cradley & Old Hill Rowley Regis 21,200     Base 
Mary McArthur Memorial Gardens Play Area Cradley & Old Hill Rowley Regis 12,000     S106
Moorlands Court Play Area Blackheath Rowley Regis
Mousesweet Play Area Cradley & Old Hill Rowley Regis 22,000     Base 
Ridding Mound Cradley & Old Hill Rowley Regis 400          Base 
Rowley Hall School Play Area Rowley Rowley Regis 200          Base 
St Giles Court Play Area Blackheath Rowley Regis 6,800       S106
Timbertree Open Space Cradley & Old Hill Rowley Regis
Wallace Close - Darley House Play Area Tividale Rowley Regis
Wallace Close - Selby House Gap Project Tividale Rowley Regis
Woodhouse Way Cradley & Old Hill Rowley Regis

Area Ward Town Cost Funding
Brindley Village Play Area St Pauls Smethwick 9,600       S106
Cuin Road Play Area Soho & Victoria Smethwick
Grenville Drive Toddler (Chance Drive) St Pauls Smethwick 1,600       S106
Harry Mitchell Park MUGA and Natural Play Area Smethwick Smethwick 24,000     S106
Lewisham Park Play Area & MUGA St Pauls Smethwick 3,600       S106
Lightwood Park Play Area, MUGA & Wheeled Sports Abbey Smethwick 20,000     NHLF
Montague Road Junior & Toddler Soho & Victoria Smethwick 400          Base 
Ron Davies Close Play Area Soho & Victoria Smethwick 9,760       Base 
Smethwick Hall Park Play Area Smethwick Smethwick
Unett Street Junior and Toddler Play Area Soho & Victoria Smethwick 20,000     HRA
Victoria Park Smethwick Junior, Toddler & Fitness Soho & Victoria Smethwick
West Smethwick Park Play Area & MUGA St Pauls Smethwick 82,000     S106

Area Ward Town Cost Funding
Hickman Road Flats Play Area Princes End Tipton
Jubilee Community Centre Great Bridge Tipton
Jubilee Park Trim Trail & Play Area Great Bridge Tipton 46,400     S106
Tibbington Play Area Princes End Tipton 7,200       S106
Victoria Park Tipton Toddler PA2 Tipton Green Tipton 10,400     S106
Wednesbury Oak Play Area Princes End Tipton

Page 104



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   51 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Area Ward Town Cost Funding
Balls Hill Park Play Area and Fitness Wednesbury South Wednesbury
Bilston Road Playing Fields Play Area Wood Green Wednesbury
Brunswick Park Play Area Wednesbury North Wednesbury 8,800       S106 / Base
Carnegie Drive Play Area Wednesbury North Wednesbury 3,600       Base
Friar Park Open Space, Play Area & MUGA Friar Park Wednesbury
Hill Top Park Play Area, Skate & MUGA Wednesbury South Wednesbury 400          Base
Hydes Road Open Space Play Area Wednesbury South Wednesbury 10,600     S106/Base
Kent Road Friar Park Wednesbury
Norman Deeley O/S, PA, MUGA & BMX Wednesbury North Wednesbury 200          Base
Ratcliffe Park Play Area, MUGA & Skate Wednesbury South Wednesbury 24,800     Base

Area Ward Town Cost Funding
Charlemont Open Space and Skate Park Charlemont West Bromwich 4,800       s106 / Base
Churchfields Play Area West Bromwich Central West Bromwich
Dartmouth Park Enclosed, Open & Adizone Play Area West Bromwich Central West Bromwich 21,500     NHLF
Farley Park Playground Great Bridge West Bromwich 8,000       S106
Forge Mill Farm Play Area West Bromwich Central West Bromwich
Greets Green Open Space, Play Area & MUGA Greets Green & Lyng West Bromwich
Kendrick Park Play Area, Skate & MUGA West Bromwich Central West Bromwich 9,000       S106
Lyng Play Area Greets Green & Lyng West Bromwich 22,400     S106
Marl Hole Park Junior & Toddler Play Area Greets Green & Lyng West Bromwich 3,600       S106
Oak Barns Greets Green & Lyng West Bromwich
Oakwood Park Natural Play Area, Play Area & MUGA West Bromwich Central West Bromwich 6,500       LAB
Red House Park Toddler & Junior Play Area Newton West Bromwich 15,200     S106/Base
Redwood Road Play Area & MUGA Great Barr & Yew Tree West Bromwich 4,000       S106
Sandwell Valley Adventure Playground West Bromwich Central West Bromwich 59,200     S106
Tanhouse Open Space Newton West Bromwich
Tiddly Wink Play Area Hateley Heath West Bromwich
Tame Road Play Area Oldbury Oldbury 35,200     Base

Page 105



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   52 

6.10 Programme of Works 22/23: Parks and Gardens  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Area Ward Town Cost Funding
Barnford Park Langley Oldbury 38,400 S106
Langley park Langley Oldbury 400       S106
Bury Hill Park Langley Oldbury 2,400    S106
Tividale Park Oldbury Oldbury

Broadwell park Langley Oldbury 800       S106
Haden Hill Park Cradley Heath and Old Hill Rowley Regis

Mary MacArthur Gardens Cradley Heath and Old Hill Rowley Regis
Britannia Park Blackheath Rowley Regis
Warley Woods Abbey Smethwick

Lightwoods Park Abbey Smethwick
West Smethwick Park St Pauls Smethwick 12,000 s106

Victoria Park, Smethwick Soho and Victoria Smethwick
Lewisham Park St Pauls Smethwick

Harry Mitchell Park Smethwick Smethwick 2,400    S106
Smethwick Hall park St Pauls Smethwick 9,600    S106

Black Patch Park Soho and Victoria Smethwick
Victoria Park, Tipton Tipton Green Tipton

Farley Park Great Bridge Tipton 3,600    Base
Jubilee Park Great Bridge Tipton

Coronation Gardens Tipton Green Tipton
Linear Park Tipton

Laybourne Park Princes End Tipton 800       Base
Brunswick Park Wednesbury North Wednesbury

Hill Top Park Wednesbury South Wednesbury 1,200    s106
Ratcliffe Park Wednesbury Wednesbury

Dartmouth Park West Bromwich West Bromwich
Redhouse Park Great Barr West Bromwich

Garden of Remembrance West Bromwich
Kenrick Park West Bromwich West Bromwich

Oakwood Park West Bromwich West Bromwich
Lyng Park Lyng West Bromwich

Marl Hole Park West Bromwich West Bromwich

Page 106



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   53 

7.0 Quality Improvement Plan – 22/23 – 25/26 
 

7.1 We will improve the quality and value scores for our Green Spaces by adopting the 
following strategy:  
 
a. MAINTAINING (M) green spaces with Good or Fair scores above 55/100 in 

Quality.  
 

b. Development an Improvement Plan (IP) for all green spaces with a fair, poor 
and very poor score (below 55 as a priority), with the priority order below.  
 

c. Implementing (I) those improvement plans, with the objective of all parks and 
gardens achieving a fair to good quality and value score by 25/26, and a clear 
timetable of improvements and quality/value targets for other green spaces in 
23/24.  

 
7.2 Maintaining (M): this means maintaining the current quality and value scores, and 

for some improving these marginally where required (i.e. in a low value score but 
high quality score). This will mean:  
 
a. No planned new investment over the next three years, enabling resources to be 

allocated to those with the lowest quality and value scores.  
 

b. Maintaining a level of park gardening activity to maintain these scores, but not 
maintaining full time gardeners allocated to one park as is the current model. This 
will allow the current quality and value score to be maintained, but also deploy 
some park gardner resource to those parks and gardens with low quality and 
value scores.  
 

c. A clear and transparent maintenance schedule, that includes all stakeholders in  
maintaining the park / garden.  

 
7.3 Improvement Plan (IP): this means developing an improvement plan that addresses 

the reasons for the low quality / value score, using the criteria set out in the Green 
Spaces Audit (and in this green spaces strategy).  
 

7.4 Implementation (I): this means implementing the improvement plan to achieve fair 
to good quality and value costs, based on the targets below by 25/26. This includes:  

 
a. Rediverting some park gardener and garden gang resource to improving garden 

elements of a park / garden.  
 

b. Deploying additional grounds maintenance and environment response teams to 
address significant maintenance issues impacting on quality and value scores.  
 

c. Commissioning additional / improvements to interpretation and signage.  
 

Page 107



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   54 

 
 

d. Working with friends’ groups, residents, volunteers, and community groups to 
increase stakeholder engagement in the implementation plan for the 
improvement plan, and a clear longer term plan for development and 
maintenance over following 25/26 – 2030.  

 
7.5 Monitoring  

 
a. The Green Spaces team will complete an assessment of quality and value, and 

progress against the improvement plan:  
 

a. Every 3 months for Parks, Gardens, Play Areas, and Nature Reserves.  
b. Every year for the sample of 209 green spaces assessed by the Green 

Spaces Audit. 
 

b. We will commission the next Green Spaces Audit to take place in 2025.  
 

7.6 Quality Improvement Plan – Priority Areas 

 

Criteria
Average 

Score 
(2018)

22/23 Actions

Personal security in park 4.3
Develop a Safer Parks and Green Spaces 

Strategy and Improvement Plan 

Safe equipment and facilities 4.3 Priority budget spend in 22/23; Assess works 
and funding requried for the next 3 years

Equipment maintenance 4.3 Priority budget spend in 22/23; Assess works 
and funding requried for the next 3 years

Conservation of buildings and structures 4.2
Complete a review of our current built 

facilities and develop a 3 year programme of 
works and usage plans.

Good and safe access 4.1
Develop a Safer Parks and Green Spaces 

Strategy and Improvement Plan 

Dog fouling 3.9
Increase awareness signage of the impact of 
dog fouling; increase bins in areas with high 

dog fouling / no bin access

Buildings and infrastructure maintenance 3.9
Complete a review of our current built 

facilities and develop a 3 year programme of 
works and usage plans.

Arboricultural maintenance 3.8
Develop a trees strategy in 22/23 and a 3 

year programme of works 

Appropriate provision for the community 3.8

Appropriate levels of quality facilities & activities. 3.7

Welcoming 3.7

Management of natural features, wild fauna and flora 3.6
Develop a Nature Reserves and Green Spaces 

Wildling Strategy 

Conservation of landscape features 3.6

Horticultural maintenance 3.5

Equal access for all 3.4
Review accessibility of parks, gardens, and 

nature reserves and a 3 year programme of 
works. 

Litter and waste management 2.8

Audit the provision of litter bins and signage 
in green spaces, including collection and litter 
picking schedules, and a programme of works 

for 22/23 and 23/24. 

Signage 2.2

Appropriate educational interpretation/info 1.2

Commission a review of green spaces signage 
and intepretation and develop a 3 year 

programme of works. 

Review the maintenance plan and use of 
current resources for horticulture 

maintenance in parks and gardens, and 
develop a strategy to address this. 

Complete a review of our current facilities 
and activities and provision for the 

community and develop a strategy to address 
this for 23/24 onwards.

Page 108



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   55 

 
7.7 Quality Improvement Plan – Parks and Gardens 

 

 
7.8 Quality Improvement Plan – Green Spaces (exc. parks and gardens) 

 
7.8.1 We will Complete an assessment of low level/low value sites from the 2018 

Green Spaces Audit and propose options for improvements, repurpose, and 
community engagement / asset transfer to Cabinet in 23/24. 
 

7.8.2 Complete an improvement plan and 3-year targets for amenity green spaces, 
green corridors, play areas, nature reserves, and allotments for proposal to 
Cabinet as part of the 23/24 business plan. 

 
8.0 Programme of Works 23/24 
 

8.1 The reviews completed in 23/24 will provide an analysis of the required works and 
spend requirements for the next 3 years for all green spaces.  
 

8.2 This will include further assessment of the increase in earned income for parks, and 
the potential funding available from external sources. 

 

Area Ward Town 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 Quality Value
Dartmouth Park West Bromwich West Bromwich 75 Good 74 Good M M M M Good Good
Haden Hill Park Cradley Heath and Old Hill Rowley Regis 71 Good 65 Fair M M M M Good Good
Warley Woods Abbey Smethwick 69 Fair 75 Good SM SM SM SM Good Good

Lightwoods Park Abbey Smethwick 66 Fair 61 Fair M M M M Good Good
Redhouse Park Great Barr West Bromwich 66 Fair 50 Fair M M IP I Good Good

Victoria Park, Tipton Tipton Green Tipton 64 Fair 63 Fair M M M M Good Good
Barnford Park Langley Oldbury 61 Fair 47 Poor M IP I M Good Fair

Brunswick Park Wednesbury North Wednesbury 61 Fair 58 Fair M M IP I Good Good
Garden of Remembrance West Bromwich 61 Fair 37 Poor M IP I M Good Fair

West Smethwick Park St Pauls Smethwick 58 Fair 45 Poor F I I M Good Good
Victoria Park, Smethwick Soho and Victoria Smethwick 57 Fair 49 Poor M IP I M Good Good

Kenrick Park West Bromwich West Bromwich 56 Fair 46 Poor M IP I M Good Good
Mary MacArthur Gardens Cradley Heath and Old Hill Rowley Regis 51 Fair 33 Poor M IP I M Good Good

Lewisham Park St Pauls Smethwick 49 Poor 50 Fair M IP I I Fair Fair
Britannia Park Blackheath Rowley Regis 46 Poor 40 Poor F I I I Fair Fair

Farley Park Great Bridge Tipton 46 Poor 30 Poor IP I I I Fair Fair
Jubilee Park Great Bridge Tipton 46 Poor 34 Poor IP I I I Fair Fair

Oakwood Park West Bromwich West Bromwich 46 Poor 31 Poor IP I I I Fair Fair
Hill Top Park Wednesbury South Wednesbury 44 Poor 39 Poor IP I I I Fair Fair
Langley park Langley Oldbury 43 Poor 45 Poor IP I I I Fair Fair

Bury Hill Park Langley Oldbury 43 Poor 62 Fair IP I I I Fair Fair
Lyng Park Lyng West Bromwich 42 Poor 25 Poor IP I I I Fair Fair

Harry Mitchell Park Smethwick Smethwick 39 Poor 32 Poor IP I I I Fair Fair
Smethwick Hall park St Pauls Smethwick 37 Poor 34 Poor IP I I I Fair Fair
Coronation Gardens Tipton Green Tipton 36 Poor 40 Poor IP I I I Fair Fair

Linear Park Tipton 36 Poor 40 Poor IP I I I Fair Fair
Tividale Park Oldbury Oldbury 34 Poor 42 Poor IP I I I Fair Fair

Laybourne Park Princes End Tipton 33 Poor 26 Poor IP I I I Fair Fair
Broadwell park Langley Oldbury 32 Poor 33 Poor IP I I I Fair Fair

Black Patch Park Soho and Victoria Smethwick 13 Very Poor 37 Poor IP I I I Fair Fair
Marl Hole Park West Bromwich West Bromwich - - - - IP I I I TBC TBC
Ratcliffe Park Wednesbury Wednesbury - - - - IP I I I TBC TBC

3 Year Strategy Target MeasureCurrent Measure Scores (2018)Park/Garden and Location
Quality Value

Page 109



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   56 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   57 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A: Sandwell Valley Business Plan 
22/23 – 25/26 Summary 

 
Approved as part of 22/23 budget setting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 111



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   58 

Appendix A: Sandwell Valley Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26 Summary   
 
1.0 Summary  
 
1.1 Sandwell Valley has a number of services for visitor and community benefit managed 

directly by SMBC and indirectly through a range of concessions and contracts. These 
include:  
 
1.1.1 Sandwell Valley Park Farm  
1.1.2 Forge Mill Farm  
1.1.3 Sandwell Showground (which is part occupied by Kay’s children’s funfair) 
1.1.4 King George V Pavilion (KGP)  
1.1.5 Play and Gym Equipment – adventure playground, high roles, children’s playground 
1.1.6 Sandwell Valley Sailing Club Building  
1.1.7 Brown’s Farm  
1.1.8 Hill House Farm  
1.1.9 Staff Accommodation  
1.1.10 The Sandwell  
1.1.11 Ice House Structure, Priory Woods Nature Reserve 

 
1.2 The three-year horizon for Sandwell Valley is to be cost neutral to SMBC and self-sustaining 

for the long term (reducing the current subsidy of around 700k to zero).  
 

1.3 This business plan sets out the delivery detail for 22/23 with a focus on Sandwell Valley Park 
Farm and Forge Mill Farm and start to consider the three-year horizon and beyond for 
Sandwell Valley. The focus for 22/23 is to:  

 
• Increase visitor and event income at Sandwell Valley  
• Enhance visitor attractions and experience at Sandwell Valley  
• Increase secondary spend and move towards full cost recovery and industry standard 

‘surplus’ for café and shop income.  
• Increase venue hire income.  
• Implement an education offering for schools and colleges.  

 
And 

 
• Lays the foundations for the drafting of a Master Plan and long-term business plan for 

Sandwell Valley incorporating Browns Farm, Hill House Farm, The Sandwell, Ice House 
Structure, Priory Woods Nature Reserve, and other further investment into our education 
offering.  

 
2.0 Current Position  

 
2.1 Sandwell Valley has been impacted by several factors over recent years:  

 
• Decline in visitor income (largely attributable to Covid restrictions) – from a peak of 

188,000 visitors in 2015 to the 109,000 pre-covid 2019.  

Page 112



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   59 

• Sustained reduction in secondary spend, not achieving full cost recovery: cafes and 
shops.  

• Redundant assets and undervalued concessions and attractions contracts.  
• The removal of animals from Sandwell Valley Park Farm to comply with modern day 

animal welfare standards; and the decline in the heritage experience of the ‘Victorian 
Walled Garden’ – this resulted in the removal of admission fees in 2021, with a loss 
of c.260k annual income. 

• Lack of strategy, modern offering for education visits, venue hire, and events 
infrastructure at across Sandwell Valley. 
  

2.2 Despite these impacts, Sandwell Valley still attracts a 100,000’s of walkers, runners, and 
visitors every year and remains a place of pride for Sandwell. The current infrastructure at 
Sandwell Valley Park Farm and Forge Mill Farm – with some initial investment – is well 
placed to recover from these impacts; establishing the foundations for an ambitious long-
term plan for Sandwell Valley as a whole.  
 

2.3 The business plan for 2022/23 financial is planned to achieve the following:  
 

a) Increase visitor income and secondary spend by at least 60k in 22/23, with significant 
increases in 23/24 – 25/26 to achieve net zero.  

b) Deliver 60k budget savings in 22/23 corporate budget through additional income 
(towards achieving net zero within three years).  

c) Increase additional income from venue hire, education, and events.  
d) Deliver on social value and SMBC corporate plan outputs.  
e) Measure the business plan stretch budget to achieve a further increase in income 

above the current corporate budget planned increase.  
 

3.0 Increasing Visitor Income – Approach 
 
 

 
 

3.1 Table (1) shows a peak on visitors to both sites in 2015 and 2016, with a significant dip in 
2018 (both sites) and 2019 (Forge Mill Farm). Visitor numbers for 2020 and 2021 are not 

Table 1 
 

Figures tracked 
annual from 2015 

– 2019 
 

No current figures 
from 2020 and 

2022 (due to no 
tracking) 

 
New tracking by 

financial year from 
22/23. 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26
SVVC 88 86 72 69 93 72 79 87 96
FMF 99 98 96 40 39 72 79 87 96
Total 188 184 168 109 132 144 158 174 192

 -

 50

 100

 150

 200

 250

Visitor Numbers '000

SVVC FMF Total

Page 113



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   60 

included as part of this planning, due to lockdown closures significantly impacting this 
number. The KPI for visitor numbers is based on: 

 
• Reasonable 22/23 visitor number increase based on the enhancement / addition of 

new visitor experience below.  
• Planned increment of 10% per year until 25/26 financial year, were we expect visitor 

numbers to return to 2015/2016 levels.  
• An average visitor fee per person of £2.5 – this means that there are different 

charges based on offer, family ticket options, and discounted options, but the 
average fee for financial planning purposes is achieved.   

 

 
 

3.2 We will benchmark fees against comparable visitor experiences in the West Midlands, with a 
proposal for future visitor fee increases to come to Cabinet in for 23/24 budget setting. Until 
then, we have factored in an increment in average fee charges of 50p per year until 25/26. 
 

3.3 Event ticket charges are treated separately to visitor fee charges (see events business plan). 
These fees are set by the events team as part of the event planning process, depending on 
the offering and comparable offerings. This flexibility in event ticket fee setting was 
previously agreed by Cabinet.  

 
3.4 Increasing Visitor Income at Forge Mill Farm  

 
Forge Mill Farm will achieve an increase in visitor income through:  

 
 Farm animals that are looked after to the highest of welfare standards, and 

accessible to visitors (22/23 – increase farm animals) 
 Visitor journey through the self-guided ‘farm tour’ that is interactive and educational 

for all ages (22/23 – new interpretation and education points) 
 Farm ‘experiences’ with interactions with animals facilitated by Forge Mill Farm staff 

(22/23 – new interaction spaces staffed by animal welfare apprentices and 
trained animal welfare volunteers).  

180 
238 

305 
383 

180 
238 

305 
383 360 

475 

610 

767 

22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26

Admissions Income '000

SVVC FMF Total Linear (Total )

£3 £3.5 £4£2.5 

Ave Price 

Table 2 
 

Fees and charges 
proposed 

increases subject 
to SMBC annual 
budget setting 

process. 

Page 114



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   61 

 Straw maze barn for children with farm craft activities for visitor days (22/23 – new 
farm craft area staffed by craft apprentices and volunteers). 

 Farm Activity Barn and Play Area (planned for 23/24)  
 Recognising one of the USP for the farm is the ability to engage urban youngsters in 

animal care and husbandry (22/23 – a targeted approach to engage young people 
who do not have access to / knowledge about farms).  

 
3.5 Increasing Visitor Income at Sandwell Valley Visitor Centre 

 
Sandwell Valley Visitor Centre will achieve an increase in visitor income: 
 
 Victorian Walled Garden with vegetables and plants grown and sold at Sandwell 

Valley (22/23 – renewed garden, inclusive interpretation, and volunteer led 
maintenance of the gardens)  

 Heritage buildings showcasing the old blacksmiths, antique equipment, Victorian 
garden infrastructure, and greenhouse working rooms (22/23 – heritage buildings 
refreshed and accessible, new interpretation and heritage tour experience).  

 Interactive Rabbit Village with and animal welfare education (22/23 – Rabbit Village 
piloted, and petting / animal welfare experience staffed by Animal Welfare 
Apprentices and trained volunteers) 

 
4.0 Increase in Secondary Spend - Approach 

 
4.1 Food and Beverage Catering  

 
4.2 The current Tea Rooms at Sandwell Valley Visitor Centre is the only current food and 

beverage offering at Sandwell Valley (excluding the Burger Bar concessions outside the 
adventure playground and away from the main visitor centre building).  
 

4.3 The Tea Rooms are regularly used by visitors, but not currently achieving full cost 
recovery or surplus. The reasons and approach to address these in the 22/23 
business plan:  

 
4.3.1 There will be a model around staffing levels to meet the varied customer demand at different 

times of the year (22/23 strategy – to adopt a digital rota system and the use of 
additional bank staff to flex up and down depending on demand times).  
 

4.3.2 There will be adequate systems or processes in place for stock control, just in time ordering, 
and menu planning that achieves a ‘gross profit’ (22/23 – Electronic Point of Sale system 
in place for stock take and ‘gross profit’ analysis on each product sold, reduction in 
waste).  
 

4.3.3 The menu will be refreshed to meet modern day café customer needs (22/23 – new menu 
adopting ‘best practice’ from other successful country park / farm cafes).  
 

Page 115



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   62 

4.3.4 There will be marketing / targeting to different groups outside of peak times – running 
groups, parent / toddler groups, OAPs (22/23 – a targeted approach to marketing our 
café offer to specific groups with specific deals).  
 

4.3.5 The previous ticketed model only allowed access to the Tea Rooms via reception, which is 
also not always visible to passing footfall (22/23 – the courtyard will have open and free 
access to the public on visitor days on a ‘market courtyard’ type set up).  
 

4.3.6 There are no ‘grab and go’ coffee options at either Forge Mill Farm or Sandwell Valley Visitor 
Centre (22/23 – addition of ‘pop up’ coffee bar huts to service hot drinks and cakes to 
walkers and visitors who do not want to enter the buildings).  

 
4.3.7 There is no adequate kitchen/food preparation facility, increasing staff time in food 

preparation and preventing scalability on foods that can be sold in our other outlets such as 
cakes in the shops (22/23 – refurbish current kitchen facilities and an outbuilding 
currently used as food preparation into a fit for purpose kitchen). 

 
4.3.8 Forge Mill Farm does not currently have a café option for visitors: but does see high demand 

for this, given the numbers of visitors and the distance from Sandwell Valley Tea Rooms 
(22/23 – scope and develop a café offering for visitors to open in spring 23/24).  
 

4.4 This approach is intended to:  
 

4.4.1 Achieve full cost recovery for catering offerings at Sandwell Valley and produce a surplus for 
contribution to achieving the net zero target within 3 years.  
 

4.4.2 It is recognised this is the start of the modernisation/customer focussed improvements. 
Putting the infrastructure, systems, and model in place to deliver a quality catering offering to 
our visitors will be the start, with the following possibilities from 23/24:  

 
• If successful, this will keep a larger portion of surplus within SMBC and allow a similar 

model for other park’s for pop up cafes / coffee bars.  
• If partially successful, this will allow adjustments to be made in the delivery model.  
• If unsuccessful, and there is a decision not to further proceed with an inhouse model, 

there is the option to scope outsourcing these catering units.  
 

4.5 Shops  
 

4.5.1 There are two shops: one at Sandwell Valley Visitor Centre and another at Forge Mill Farm. 
Years preceding the pandemic, the shops offered a range of locally grown or sourced 
produce, meat, and products. The shops currently have an eclectic offering and are not 
achieving full cost recovery/surplus. The reason and approaches to address in the 22/23 
business are: 
 

4.5.2 22/23 Restock based on the core principles of what both shops will sell:  
 

Page 116



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   63 

• Locally grown or sourced seasonal produce (veg, fruit, meat, from Sandwell Valley 
and local farms).  

• Products that are locally sourced and match the visitor offering at Sandwell Valley.  
• Gifts and memorabilia related to the visitor offering at Sandwell Valley and Sandwell 

heritage/history.  
• To support local businesses and micro-entrepreneurs.  
• Products that meet the demands of walkers and dog owners, who visit Sandwell 

Valley in their tens of thousands each year.  
 

4.5.3 Farm Shop at Forge Mill Farm offering locally grown / sourced produce and products (22/23 
– relaunch farm shop offering with new products and a business model that delivers a 
surplus).  
 

4.5.4 Visitor Shop at Sandwell Valley Visitor Centre offering locally grown / sourced produce and 
products and products for dogs and walkers (22/23 – relaunch visitor shop with new 
products and a business model that delivers a surplus). 

 
4.6 Open Courtyard free to access to the public, with access to the tea rooms, Visitor Shop, 

Coffee Bar, Pop Up Shops, and Courtyard events and activities (22/23 – pop up shops for 
local businesses / micro entrepreneurs to replace old farm pens, and additional 
seating and courtyard activities to attract walk ins).  
 

4.7 Open free to access to the public for the farm shop and coffee bar and picnic area at Forge 
Mill Farm (22/23 – refurbish entrance and open picnic area / children’s play area to 
attract footfall and planned visitors to the shop) 
 

5.0 Increase additional income: venue hire, grants, concessions, and events  
 

5.1 Venue Hire  
 

5.1.1 Sandwell Valley Visitor Centre and the land on Sandwell Valley are prime locations for high 
quality venue hire – meetings and training to large scale conferences, events and weddings.  
 

5.1.2 We currently have sporadic bookings for meeting room and private event hire, but this is a 
very small income stream of c.14k (2021).  
 

5.1.3 Our approach to increasing venue hire income is to address the following:  
 
• Current meeting rooms and venue hire spaces require modernisation (22/23 – small 

investment into installing WiFi, meeting room tech, and refresh of these 
spaces).  

• Current reception/shop area, courtyard entrances, and courtyard and are not easily 
set up and set down as event spaces (22/23 – relocation of shop and some 
investment into pop up event infrastructure, allowing use of these spaces for 
hire).  

Page 117



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   64 

• Although Lightwoods House has the necessary licences for wedding hire, Sandwell 
Valley sites do not (22/23 – wedding licence / alcohol sale licences to be 
secured) 

• We will clarify and package the ‘offering’ marketed or targeted to organisations, 
venue and event hire companies, and the community (22/23 – clear offering and a 
calendar of dates/times the various spaces are available).  

 
5.2 Concessions and Contracts  

 
5.2.1 Sandwell Valley currently has a number of concessions and contracts in place for additional 

income. These are not currently set at current market rates, which will be addressed as 
contracts come to retender dates.  

 
5.2.2 Our 22/23 plan is to address the following:  
 
 Tender contracts due to expire Apr 22 at current market rates.  

 
 Tendering a 3-year contract on the high ropes, with the option to consider other 

management options of this in future.  
 
 Ensuring that current land rental agreements and contracts for fairs / attractions are 

negotiated at current market rates, full cost recovery (inc. ground works and electricity) and a 
surplus contribution to SMBC.  

 
5.3 Grants 

 
5.3.1 We do not currently have a funding strategy in place for Sandwell Valley. We do have a 

Countryside Stewardship Grant, which will reduce over the next three years (22/23 – as part 
of the Master Plan scoping for Sandwell Valley, all potential funding streams and 
grants will be considered). 
  

5.3.2 Applications have been made in 2021, with decisions expected in Jan/Feb 2022. We will 
work with finance in Jan 22 to understand previous grant applications to support capital and 
revenue for Sandwell Valley.  

 
5.4 Events Income  

 
5.4.1 Events have been a significant source of income for Sandwell Valley, and this has 

traditionally been allocated as part of ‘admissions income’ and not able to be quantified in 
financial terms as an income stream itself. These events range from small (i.e. children’s 
craft activities) to large (i.e. ‘Santa at The Valley’).  
 

5.4.2 The recent ‘Christmas at The Valley’ events trialled some evening events, an enhanced 
christmas experience offering to complement ‘Santa’, and a new premium experience of 
‘Bedtime at The Farm’.  
 

Page 118



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   65 

5.4.3 The approach to increase event income and measure this as commercially viable income in 
itself will be to:  
 
5.4.4 Large seasonal events to be managed as part of the events team (inc within the 

events business plan 22/23), each event with its own income/budget that is designed 
to generate a surplus. 
 

5.4.5 The surplus for these events – if run in partnership with Sandwell Valley, rather than 
a straight ‘venue hire’ – will be split between current events budget and Sandwell 
Valley budget, with 80% being allocated to Sandwell Valley. This ensures the 
operational structure for Sandwell Valley is commercially viable for the income and 
outputs outlined in this plan, and that professional event experience and 
infrastructure is used to deliver these events at scale and achieving a surplus.  

 
5.4.6 The large-scale events currently scheduled to be run in 22/23 in this way (included in 

the events business plan and budget 22/23) are:  
 

• Easter at The Valley  
• Halloween at The Valley 
• CWG Live Site at The Valley 
• Open Air Cinema/Theatre/Music at The Valley 
• Christmas at The Valley 

 
5.4.7 Smaller ticketed events will be planned and managed by the operational team at 

Sandwell Valley to increase visitor income, enhance visitor experience, and bring in 
additional income (not currently projected within the income targets). A full schedule 
of these are currently being planned for 22/23, but examples are:  

 
• Bedtime / Lambing / Farming experiences at Forge Mill Farm 
• Market days at Sandwell Valley  
• School holiday activity programmes 

 
5.4.8 In addition to this, there will be non-ticketed event attractions/entertainment that will 

drive ‘footfall’ to both sites – converted into visitor income and secondary spend. 
Examples of this include Falconry Displays, Bug and Reptile Displays, face painters, 
entertainers, and other activities.  
 

6.0 Providing an education offering to schools, colleges and the community 
 

6.1 Sandwell Valley is well placed to deliver an education offering at both sites during term time. 
At present, these are ‘dead days’ in terms of visitor income.  
 

6.2 Forge Mill Farm currently has a partnership with Sandwell College, providing room hire and 
animal care tasks for their animal welfare course. However, this agreement only 
encompasses venue hire costs to Sandwell College at the present and there is scope to 
renegotiate and expand this offering both to Sandwell College and Dudley College. (22/23 – 
we will renegotiate the Sandwell College agreement to extend the service to working 

Page 119



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   66 

with our farm animals as well as room hire. This will increase income and establish 
Forge Mill Farm as the Animal Welfare Education Venue of ‘choice’ for the immediate 
vicinity; we will also appoint an Education and Engagement Coordinator to support 
this transition and deliver on the education visits).  
 

6.3 The current ‘Park and Countryside Rangers’ job roles are intended to be education 
focussed. However, there is currently no professional line management of this team to 
deliver education packages, and the education element / opportunity of their role has not 
been implemented. (22/23 – we will appoint an education and outreach team, so that 
Park Rangers are able to transition to focus on nature reserves development).  
 

6.4 The education visits income is currently minimal (3.4k 21/22). However, there is a need for 
education visits that meet national curriculum requirements – with scalability to serve 
schools across the West Midlands in the long term. We currently have no specific offering 
packaged that aligns with the national curriculum, yet with the delivery of this business plan 
will have the infrastructure, expertise and capacity to do so (22/23 – we will appoint a 
consultant to work with us and the new education and outreach team to design an 
offering for school visits that links to the national curriculum; we will package this 
and pilot for 22/23 a programme of educational visits targeted schools in Sandwell 
initially).  
 

7.0 Delivering on social value and SMBC corporate objectives  
 
We will work with our stakeholders to develop a social value action plan for Sandwell Valley 
for 22/23 that contributes to our economic, educational, health, social care, environmental, 
and employability outcomes.  
 

8.0 Rebrand, Relaunch and Market Sandwell Valley  
 
8.1 Sandwell Valley as a ‘brand’ has being impacted by the pandemic and a lack of visible 

improvements into both sites. However, this is still considered by residents and stakeholders 
as ‘jewel in the crown’ of Sandwell and one that has great potential. (22/23 – we will design 
a comms and marketing plan for our planned visitor experiences in 22/23 that 
maximises the use of social media, our current support for Sandwell Valley, and 
brings awareness to those residents and people in neighbouring boroughs who are 
not aware of the offering at Sandwell Valley) 
 

8.2 There is a need to consult more widely and fully with stakeholders – including local residents 
– about the longer-term options for Sandwell Valley, building on our 22/23 plans. (22/23 – as 
part of the master scoping, we will set up ways to consult with local residents and 
other stakeholders on the longer-term scoping for Sandwell Valley developments, 
including the sites and opportunities not planned for 22/23).  
 

8.3 There is confusion in the current branding / marketing of Forge Mill Farm and Sandwell 
Valley Park Farm because of the transition of animals away from ‘park farm’ and the lack of 
investment into the Victorian gardens and current heritage experiences available. (22/23 – in 
preparation for our relaunch, we will rename Sandwell Valley Park Farm, Sandwell 

Page 120



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   67 

Valley Visitor Centre, and give a distinct branding for both sites that reflect our 
offering; we will also scope the ‘Sandwell Valley’ brand as part of our master scoping 
in 22/23). 

 
8.4 Marketing for events and activities at Sandwell Valley is sporadic and often last minute. This 

means we are not always maximising potential partners, visitors, income, and community 
benefit from these events and activities, and it is not clear what the offering is for the 
‘season’ at Sandwell Valley (22/23 – as part of the planned relaunch of Sandwell Valley 
Visitor Centre and Forge Mill Farm we will produce a schedule of activities and events 
for the year, as well as conducting an advertising campaign and a microsite for 
Sandwell Valley linking through from the SMBC and Visit Sandwell Websites).  

 
9.0 2030 Master Plan Draft 

 
9.1 Jon Sheaf Associates were commissioned to complete a Draft Master Scoping completed in 

Jan 2020. This draft has not been progressed to consultation and not yet been put forward to 
Cabinet for approval. Sandwell Valley requires a long-term master plan that encompasses:  

 
• Sites not included as a focus in this 22/23 business plan.  
• Further investment into Forge Mill Farm.  
• Options around the use of building and land assets across sites.  
• The future maintenance and development of the nature reserves.  
• Next steps for the master plan.  
 

9.2 We will develop a timeframe and consultation plan to achieve a Master Plan for Cabinet 
consideration in 2023.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 121



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   68 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B: Lightwoods House 22/23 – 25/26 
Summary 

 
Approved as part of 22/23 budget setting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 122



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   69 

10.0 Summary  
 
1.1 Since its full opening in October 2017, Lightwoods House and Park has become a popular and 

well-used community hub and function venue. It has been revived due to its National Heritage 
Lottery Fund-supported renovation and now holds a wide variety of activities both in the House 
as well as in the Park that attract a broad range of people. 
 

1.2 The House has developed a strong group of volunteers who assist in the maintenance of the 
House and Park; delivery of community and public events as well as those commercial activities 
that will contribute towards the long-term financial sustainability of Lightwoods. 
 

1.3 Lightwoods House has multiple facets: 
 

1.3.1 Room and Venue Hire 
 

 Three rooms of differing sizes that can be hired individually or concurrently for a wide 
range of uses, from classes and workshops to parties and weddings 

 
 The Shakespeare Garden that can also be used for public and private events 

 
 Private hire office: available for meeting; use for wedding preparation etc 

 
 Venue hire facilities for Wedding packages  

 
1.3.2 Leased Spaces (Long Term Rental Leases) 

 
• Leased Tearoom: the kitchen, servery area and former Community Lounge are leased 

by a tenant caterer, who pays rent on the space as well as commission on gross 
turnover. Also has exclusive access to the Tearoom, which does not form part of the 
current lease. 

• Leased nursery rented by an external provider 
• Leased offices: four offices are leased to tenants. 

 
1.3.3 Open space park with various facilities including a Skatepark; Play Area, 

Basketball Court 
 

1.3.4 Lightwood’s House Run Events: including christmas events 
 

1.4 The original Business Plan set a target of Lightwoods being cost-neutral and self-sustaining when 
NHLF funding ceased in December 2021. This has not been possible and NHLF funding was 
extended to December 2022 following severe disruption in delivery of the Action Plan due to the 
Covid Pandemic. 
 

1.5 This Business Plan sets out the detailed plan for 2022/23 and sets out the three-year horizon to 
get to cost neutral/surplus by 25/26. 

 
2.0 Current Position 

Page 123



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   70 

 
2.1 This business plan addresses several factors that have previously impacted the development at 

Lightwoods to a self-sustained financial position: 
 

• 2020-22: COVID-19 resulted in full closure with loss of room hire income; postponement 
or cancellation of weddings and consequent deferred/lost income; deferred kitchen rent; 
inability to take new bookings e.g. for high-end events such as weddings 
 

• Reduction in class hire due to reluctance of attendees to return in person, making classes 
unviable for tutors 
 

• The Business Plan originally submitted to HLF in 2013 lacks the clarity needed to achieve 
a self-sustained position and 2022 – 2030 ambitions. 
 

• Office rental charges and venue hire fees significantly below market rate. 
 

• Kitchen lease (expires August 2022) permits use of Tearoom but does not include it in 
rent. This requires a retender process. The current arrangements utilise 46% of floorspace 
at Lightwoods House, but only accounts for 17% of the rental income.  
 

• Lack of suitable provision for families/children i.e. core Park users by cafe. 
 

• Longstanding infrastructure issues e.g. obtaining Wi-Fi; card machine; electric points in 
Shakespeare Garden. 
 

2.2 Net expenditure is currently budgeted at £135k (2021/22 budget Appendix A). 
 

2.3 £482k of capital monies from HLF match funding from SMBC remains available for House and 
Park improvements 
 

2.4 NHLF funding expires in December 2022 - £201k remained in the budget and capital monies were 
permitted to be reallocated, focusing on the extension of the House and Park Manager’s post for 
a further year and the delivery of the Activity Plan. 
 

2.5 The 2022/23 Business Plan will implement the following to recalibrate the Lightwoods model and 
achieve a self-sustained (net zero) position: 

 
2.5.1 Increase income from room hire, allowing for continued community benefit through 

class hire etc but creating a viable model for hosting large private functions. 
 

2.5.2 Increase office rents through an independent evaluation, to achieve market value and 
greater income for SMBC. 
 

2.5.3 Revalue and retender the café/catering offer – inclusive of, but not limited to, evaluation 
of rent charges; inclusion of all areas used; putting lease and catering contract out to 
tender. The timeline for this is:  

 

Page 124



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   71 

a. Extension of current lease to current tender until Dec 31st 2022, to allow 
additional time for the tender process (May 22).  

b. Review of tender value by an independent catering consultancy and rental 
evaluation surveyers (May 22) 

c. Tender live on intend: (June 22)  
d. Tender selection process: (July 22) 
e. Tender awarded: (Aug 22) 
f. Winning tender takes control of lease or continues with new lease (1st Jan 

2023) 
 

2.5.4 Strengthen the wedding offer with coherent catering package add-ons, establishing 
links with recommended suppliers, and incorporating referral/commission 
arrangements where possible. 
 

2.5.5 Increase secondary spend through provision of ‘The Garden Shed’ snack cabin and 
refreshments at events; utilise capital monies to enhance catering facilities in the Park 
and Garden, with the focus centring on families and other core Park users. 
 

2.5.6 Increase and enhance public events programme in collaboration with Events Team – 
Lightwoods House staff assisted by Volunteer Support Group. 
 

2.5.7 Remodel Lightwoods staffing in conjunction with staffing at Sandwell Valley to achieve 
scalability and commercial viability. 
 

2.5.8 Deliver key points of NHLF Activity Plan. 
 

2.5.9 Deliver against Corporate Outcomes of Vision 2030. 
 

3.0 Increase income from room hire 
 

4.0 We will increase the fees and charges for room hire at Lightwoods House to achieve full cost 
recovery (agreed by full council in 22/23 budget setting): 

Room Current Charge 22/23 New 
Charge (reduced 

rate) 

22/23 New 
Charge (Peak 

Times) 
Long Room (whole)  56.65 59.00 100.00 
Long Room Bandstand 
End 

30.90 32.00 55.00 

Long Room Aviary End 25.75 27.00 45.00 
Chance Room 20.60 21.50 40.00 
Weatherhead Room  15.45 17.00 30.00 

 
4.1 Peak times refers to where additional staff are required for opening and closing the building, and 

servicing bookings: this includes Saturday and Sunday, and parties that require additional staff 
outside of these times.  
 

4.2 We will procure and use a venue hire software solution to automate and manage our venue 
bookings – alongside venue bookings across parks and Sandwell Valley. This will reduce 
administration time, increase audit trails and governance around bookings, and provide live data 
to drive venue sales activity.  

Page 125



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   72 

 
4.3 We will incorporate the venue hire for Lightwoods into a sales strategy for Sandwell Valley, 

sponsorship and concessions for events, and venue hire across parks.  
 

5.0 Increase Office Rents 
 

5.1 We will commission an independent evaluation of the rental space and propose new rates for 
negotiation when the current leases expire.  
 

5.2 We will review and update the terms of the lease to include any additional costs of rental, currently 
borne by SMBC (i.e. rates, car parking fees, additional storage space, room hire).  

 
6.0 Revalue and retender the café/catering offer  

 
6.1 The current lease agreement with a catering provider expires in August 2022. 

 
6.2 We will commission an independent valuation of the rental space and catering offering and tender 

out to the market by end of May 22. We will procure a provider that includes the following:  
 

• Achieving market value for the space rented out.  
• Enhancements to the catering offering, to serve both regular and target new customers 

coming to Lightwoods House and Park.  
• Family friendly facilities, including provision for children.  
• Catering facilities (either through the provider or use of the facilities outside of hours) 

for weddings, venue hire, and events.  
 

7.0 Enhance wedding offer and increase income 
 

7.1 Lightwoods has steadily developed as a wedding venue, with a flexible approach, an affordable 
package, and positive feedback. The Long Room, Chance Room, and Bandstand are licenced 
for ceremonies. The Shakespeare Garden and Marquee are included in the venue hire package.  
 

7.2 There is a capacity issue with Sandwell Registry Office not always able to meet the offsite demand 
of wedding ceremonies at Lightwoods House. We will work with Sandwell Registry Office and 
external partners to meet the demand for wedding ceremonies at Lightwoods House.  
 

7.3 We will increase the additional wedding hire income with from providing a licenced bar, catering 
partnerships, and wedding infrastructure hire. This will include commercial partnership with 
external companies to enhance the offering to wedding hire packages and increase the additional 
income SMBC receives from this type of formal partnership.  

 
7.4 We will re-design and relaunch our wedding offering, including:  
 

• Establishing a clear ‘brand’ for weddings at Lightwoods House.  
• A wedding offering ‘micro-site’ to promote this specifically.  
• Enhance the sales capacity to increase wedding bookings, through arrangements with 

an external company, or as part of our venue hire sales strategy for all park’s venues.  
• Deliver several ‘wedding showcase’ days to promote the Lightwoods offering.  

 

Page 126



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   73 

7.5 We will scope the future potential of expanding our wedding package offering to other prime 
locations in Sandwell – including Sandwell Valley.  

 
8.0 Increase secondary spend 
 
8.1 There was a commission completed pre-covid which delivered a bespoke catering hut for 

external sale of coffee and cakes. This was planned to be an addition / and separate to the 
offering within the café run by the current leaseholder (grab and go offering/additional offering 
capacity in peak times).  
 

8.2 We will implement pilot the use of this catering hut in the summer period (including the CWG 
events programme at Lightwoods House) in 22/23.  
 

8.3 We will scope the potential future delivery of the catering hut, either as an inhouse model – 
combined with Sandwell Valley and other parks catering – or as an outsourced model.  

 
9.0 Increase and enhance public events programme in collaboration with Events Team  
 
9.1 Lightwoods currently has regular and well-attended events, such as a Christmas Market, Father 

Christmas at Lightwoods, theatre and several film nights per year. 
  

9.2 We will increase these events in number and surplus generation, by: 
 

• Incorporating the design and delivery of events to the SMBC events team, reflecting the 
business plan approach for Sandwell Valley.  
 

• Promoting Lightwoods House and Park as an event location for external hire, through our 
events offering and application process for external events (through the events 
governance framework).  
 

• Running a core set of annual events, including:  
 

o Cinema, Live Theatre and Live Music at Lightwoods House 
o Halloween at Lightwoods House  
o Christmas at Lightwoods House 
o Markets (such as farmers markets / food festivals) 

 
• The business model for events is to deliver small scale events:  

 
o 22/23: 6 events (@ 1k income per event) 
o 23/24: 12 events (@ 1k income per event) 
o 24/25: 12 events (@ 1.5k income per event) 
o 25/26: 24 events (@ 1.5k income per event) 

 
10.0 Remodel Lightwoods staffing in conjunction with staffing at Sandwell Valley 

 
10.1 Lightwoods House currently operates in isolation to our operational teams responsible for 

other parks locations (i.e. Sandwell Valley). This increases the risk of a ‘single point of failure’, 

Page 127



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   74 

with a dependency on an isolated team and does not achieve the economies of scale in ways of 
working, processes, and systems.   
 

10.2 The 22/23 business plan for Sandwell Valley and changes to operational, catering, and visitor 
services management resource and processes presents an opportunity to address this issue, 
whilst retaining a permanent onsite coordinator presence.  
 

10.3 We will transition the following functions for Lightwood’s House to the operations roles based 
in the Sandwell Valley team:  
 

1..1 Health and Safety and facilities management functions.  
1..2 Administrative functions.  
1..3 Coordination of rotas and visitor services roles (including volunteers).  

 
10.4 We will transition the events coordination and planning for events at Lightwood’s House 

(including approvals for external events) to the SMBC events team, and the governance 
framework for events.  
 

10.5 We will recruit a Lightwoods House Coordinator to fill the gap left by the vacant role of 
Lightwood’s House Manager, who will coordinate the day to day activities and supervise event 
delivery, event staff, and venue hire activities.  

 
11.0 Financial Summary 

 
11.1 Total budget allocation for 22/23 carries forward with the same figures from 21/22, with 

expected savings for Lightwoods to be made of 27k (from HLF funding for coordinator post).  
 

11.2 The budget and income targets are based on modest assumptions detailed within this plan 
(below), with an uplift on the income target from 21/22 of 27k.  
 

11.3 Operationally, the budget and income targets will be managed and monitored in two ways:  
 

• Corporate budget (set as SMBC budget for 22/23) 
• Business Plan Stretch Target (a trial business plan approach based on increased 

income with the assumptions below) 
• The Business Plan Stretch Budget will be monitored against a quarterly performance 

dashboard on income by the Director of Borough Economy, Service Manager, and 
Finance Business Partner. This will allow us to remain ambitious and ensure the 
viability of savings over 3 years, whilst also working to the Plan A budget 
requirements within current corporate governance checks and balances.  

 

Page 128



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   75 

Budget Profile – towards net zero/surplus within three years 

 
Income Profile – towards net zero/surplus within 3 years  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Venue Hire Income Assumptions 

• Assumes room hire is available for an average 40 weeks of the year.  
• Assumes an average actual hire based on average prices (i.e. 10% capacity for Corporate Budget 22/23) 

 

Corp Budget Stretch Target
21/22 22/23 22/23 23/24 24/25

TOTAL Income Assumptions 80,500       109,490       133,510           222,200    255,470    
Rental Income 32,000       35,000         37,000             48,500       48,500       
Catering Contract 6,500         6,500           6,500               18,000       18,000       
Nursery Rental Contract 10,000       10,000         10,000             10,000       10,000       
Office Rental Contract (3 offices) 10,500       10,500         10,500             10,500       10,500       
Accupuncture Office Contract 5,000         5,000           5,000               5,000         5,000         
Office 4 vacant 3,000           5,000               5,000         5,000         
Venue Hire Income -             39,720         39,720             79,440       79,440       
Capacity Sales 10% 10% 20% 20%
Chance Room 9,000           9,000               18,000       27,000       
Weatherhead Room 6,960           6,960               13,920       20,880       
Long Room (Combined) 23,760         23,760             47,520       71,280       
Wedding Hire Income 12,750         12,750             25,500       38,250       
Capacity Sales 10% 10% 20% 30%
Events/Concessions/Additional Income -             22,020         44,040             68,760       89,280       
Bar Income 2,520           5,040               7,560         10,080       
Concessions Hut Income 13,500         27,000             43,200       43,200       
Events Income 6,000           12,000             18,000       36,000       
Events and ave income per event 6*1,000 12*1,000 12*1,500 24*1,500

Corp Budget Stretch Target
21/22 22/23 22/23 23/24 24/25

Rental Income 35,000         37,000         48,500         48,500         
Venue Hire Income 39,720         39,720         79,440         79,440         
Wedding Hire Income 12,750         12,750         25,500         38,250         
Additional Income 22,020         44,040         68,760         89,280         
Total Income 80,500   109,490       133,510       222,200       255,470       

Total Direct Employee Expenses 131,800 131,800       131,800       131,800       131,800       
Total Premises Costs 56,500   56,500         56,500         56,500         56,500         
Total Suppliers & Services (Civic Events) 38,000   38,000         38,000         38,000         38,000         
Total Expenditure 226,300 226,300       226,300       226,300       226,300       

Total Surplus 145,800- 116,810-       92,790-         4,100-           29,170         

Annual Saving Reduction 28,990-         53,010-         88,690-         33,270-         

Page 129



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   76 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Wedding Hire Income Assumptions 

• Assumes wedding hire is available for an average 10 weeks of the year. 
• Assumes an average actual hire based on average prices (i.e. 10% of capacity for corporate budget 22/23)  

 

       

 
 
 

Bar Income Assumptions 
 
• Assumes bar income only from the number of weddings projected (i.e. 7 weddings for 22/23 corporate budget 

targets).  
• Assumes average guests for weddings at 60 people wedding.  
• Assumes average spend per head at £10 per person.  
• Assumes an average gross surplus (after cost of sale) of 60% (below industry standard).  
• Assumes NO bar income from events or other venue hire (i.e. parties) – scope to achieve additional bar income from 

this.  

Catering Income Assumptions 

• Assumes only 50 days of pilot activity in 2022/23 (summer days and some peak event days).  
• Assumes an average of 90 customers per day @ £3 average spend per customer.  
• Costs already included in cost of sale / staff budget for 22/23.  

Event Assumptions 

• Assumes 6 events @ £1,000 surplus per event (after cost of sale) for 22/23.  
• Increase in events / average surplus per event for next three years.  

Additional Income Streams – Not Included in Projections 

• Wedding infrastructure hire and additional spend – i.e. catering partnerships  
• Events additional spend / external events hire  
• Venue infrastructure hire (i.e. projector / audio / visual facilities) 
• Anticipated rental contract increases following re-evaluation  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WD WE
Chance Room 21.5 40
Weatherhead Room 17 30
Long Room - Bay End 32 55
Long Room - Aviary End 27 45
Long Room combined 59 100

Hire Fees/Hour

M-T F-S
Wedding Full Hire (Ave) 1,500       2,250       

Hire Fees/Hour

Income Weddings
10% 12,750    7              
20% 25,500    14            
30% 38,250    21            
40% 51,000    28            

100% 127,500  70            

Income Hours
10% 39,720    1,008      
20% 79,440    2,016      
30% 119,160  3,024      
40% 158,880  4,032      

100% 397,200  10,080    

Page 130



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   77 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix C: Environment Response Team 
Pilot 

 
Approved as a pilot in 21/22 and 22/23 budget setting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 131



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   78 

1.0 Summary 
 

1.1 The initial Bagnall Way / St Paul’s Crescent Case Study (Nov 2022) showed that a 
multi-team approach was able to resolve a long-standing significant ‘hot spot’ of fly 
tipping, overgrowth, land clearance and repair.  
 

1.2 The Case Study showed that the site would have been unable to resolved to an 
acceptable standard for community use by one team (i.e. street cleansing), as much 
of the fly tipping had been embedded within overgrowth. The site had also become a 
health hazard and the overgrowth was making much of the alleyway and surrounding 
paths inaccessible to older people and people with disabilities. Without clearance, the 
fly tipping would also likely worsen with more people littering an already heavily 
littered area.  

 
1.3 The Case Study involved a team of grounds operatives, various specialist equipment, 

and urban forestry operatives. The result was 26 tipper loads of rubbish waste and 
23 tipper loads of green waste removed, and the site was cut back and repaired to 
ensure it could easily be accessed and maintained by street cleansing and grounds 
operatives in future.  

 
1.4 Similar sites exist across the borough that require a detailed multi-team clean up so 

that it can be maintained by routine street cleansing and grounds maintenance.  
 
1.5 The Environment Response Team Pilot is designed to identify and target sites that 

require a detailed clean up. This includes:  
 

1.5.1 Identifying the reasons why the site has become this way.  
 

1.5.2 Engaging residents, community groups, litter watch, and other services in 
addressing these reasons (i.e. bins, signage, enforcement).  
 

1.5.3 Cleaning up the site using the Environment Response Team, with access to 
multi-discipline skills and equipment: removing waste, cutting back to ensure 
future access, cleaning up and beautifying where possible. Community 
partners (i.e. litter watch, community payback) will also be used to 
complement this work where possible.  

 
1.5.4 Engaging residents and ward members in the promotion of the clean-up of 

the site and to empower community ownership for ensuring the issues are 
addressed (i.e. fly tip reporting).  

 
1.5.5 Handing back the site to the routine maintenance teams (grounds and street 

cleansing), ensuring this is on street cleansing / grounds maintenance routes 
and schedules. 

 

Page 132



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   79 

1.6 The Environment Response Team Pilot will sit within the Parks and Grounds Service 
and will run from Jan 22 – Aug 22 and has been funded through reserve allocation 
from 21/22 underspend in Borough Economy. 
 

1.7 The work of the Environment Response Team will not replace business as usual 
(BAU) works required by Grounds, Street Cleansing, or the Fly Tip / Graffiti Removal 
teams.   
 

1.8 The work of the team will be evaluated at various stages throughout the pilot, with a 
final evaluation at the end of the pilot with recommendations. KPIs monitoring the 
impact of this teams work will be included in the Cabinet Member Scorecard.  

 
2.0 Environment Response Team  

 
2.1 The core team will be made up of:  

 
2.1.1 Dedicated Supervisor to allocate, coordinate, and evaluate the work of the 

team.  
 

2.1.2 Community Engagement Coordinator to support engagement with residents, 
community groups, other services and partners. This includes addressing the 
root causes of the issues with the site (i.e. installing bins, liaising with 
enforcement colleagues, new signage).   
 

2.1.3 Six grounds operatives with training in multi-discipline skills and access to 
specialist equipment. Additional grounds operatives will be allocated on a 
needs basis for the works through overtime allocation from the pilot budget.  

 
2.1.4 Allocation of additional resource from specialists within the grounds service or 

other departments where needed (i.e. urban forestry).  
 

2.1.5 Allocation of additional support from community volunteers, litter watch, 
community payback, and other community groups.  

 
3.0 Environment Response Team Work Programme  

 
3.1 The EET Work Programme will consist of:  

 
3.1.1 Large sites identified as requiring a deep clean up (i.e. community open 

spaces / large walkways). 
3.1.2 Small sites identified as requiring a deep clean up (alleyways / smaller open 

spaces).  
3.1.3 Major thoroughfares into the borough.  
3.1.4 All key roundabouts.   

 
3.2 The programme of work will be decided by a steering group consisting of the 

(Interim) Service Manager for Parks & Grounds, Grounds Operations Manager, 

Page 133



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   80 

Service Manager for Waste, and Cabinet Member’s for Environment, and Tourism 
and Culture on a monthly basis from July 2022.  
 

3.3 The criteria for deciding on the programme of works will be:  
 

3.3.1 The site has significant waste and overgrowth that cannot be quickly or easily 
addressed through ‘business as usual’ services.  
 

3.3.2 The site is visible to the public and/or used by the community.  
 

3.3.3 The site has environmental health, accessibility, and/or safety issues because 
of the waste and overgrowth.  

 
3.4 Work will be spread across the six towns, ensuring that all communities who require 

it benefit from the pilot.  
 

3.5 Ward members will be able to nominate sites within their ward for ERT work through 
the portal. The criteria (3.3) will be used to determine whether this is allocated to 
BAU works or ERT works. The current impact on the community and health and 
safety impacts will determine the order of priority for sites.  
 

4.0 Outputs and Timeline 
 
4.1 Outputs for RRET pilot are:  

 
Large Sites c. 24 (6 in each Town) 
Small Sites c. 90 (15 in each Town) 
Roundabouts Number TBC 
Thoroughfares Number TBC 

 
4.2 Evaluation Measures for the pilot are:  

 
• Number of sites cleared up.  
• Total tonnages of waste / green waste cleared.  
• Numbers of volunteers engaged.  
• Cost per site.  

 
4.3 The Pilot Timeline is:  

 
Milestone Date Officer Leads 

Cabinet Briefing  4th Jan Service Manager 
Members Briefing 19th Jan Service Manager 
Press Launch  24th 

Jan 
Completed 

ERT in place 10th 
Jan 

Completed 

ERT Pilot Partners Briefed and Engaged  17th 
Jan  

Completed 

Page 134



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   81 

Jan sites allocated 10th 
Jan 

Completed 

Members nominations open for sites from 
Feb 

20th 
Jan 

Completed 

Feb – July sites allocated 31st Jan Completed 
Monthly pilot review with Cabinet Leads Month 

End 
Service Manager 

Final Pilot Evaluation report to Cabinet 
Leads 

1st Aug Cabinet 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 135



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   82 

 
 

Appendix D: Events Governance Framework 
(Summary) 

 
Approved as part of the Improvement Plan in response to the 

Grant Thornton Value for Money Report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 136



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   83 

1 Summary 
  
 
10.1 SMBC proactively supports well run, safe, and accessible and inclusive events on council 

owned land. Events are managed directly by SMBC and through an application process for 
other organisations.  
 

10.2 SMBC does this in the following way:  
 

- An events team and infrastructure to process, advise, and support event applications for 
internal and externally run events. 

- An events application and decision-making process that is fair and transparent, and 
proportionate to the event size and type.  

- Providing access to council owned land for approved events (including parks, council 
owned buildings, and town centres). 

- Ensuring fees and charges are proportionate to the size and type of event.   
 
10.3 This events governance framework details the type of events SMBC supports, the decision-

making process, the application process, and the terms of conditions of bookings.  
 

10.4 This events governance framework will be reviewed annual by the Director of Borough 
Economy.  

 
11.0 Events 

 
11.1 ‘Events’ in this process refer to activitiesii that take place on SMBC owned land or property, 

organised for people to enjoy. This can include:  
 
- Activities (i.e. crafts, sports, dance) 
- Entertainment (music, theatre) 
- Fairs 
- Fetes 
- Selling (farm markets, craft stalls) 
- Charity Events (fundraising, challenges) 
- Celebration (christmas events, street parties) 
- Civic (remembrance Sunday) 
- Awareness (LGBT+ walk, Breast Cancer Awareness activity) 

 
11.2 Events are organised by a range of groups and individuals, and will include: 
 

- SMBC Events Team (Inc. Sandwell Valley, Lightwoods events) 
- Internal services (i.e. public health events, libraries, museums activities) 
- Residents (i.e. street parties, ‘friends groups’ events) 
- Community groups (‘friends groups’ events, local clubs) 
- Charities 
- Commercial businesses (fairs, event companies, concerts) 
 

Page 137



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   84 

11.3 The events governance framework classifies events in the following way:  
 
- Commercial (making a profit from the event)2 
- Community (not making a profit from the event) 
- Internal (organised by SMBC departments) 

 
11.4 Event decision making categories are classified as: 

  
- Events under 500 people 
- Events over 500 people 
- Events over 5,000 people 
 
Small activities and events that require a room hire / pitch hire only, and do not require 
Safety Advisory Group review, are treated separately as a ‘venue hire only booking’ 
(Appendix A). 
 

12.0 Event Fees and Charges 
 

12.1 Event Fees 
 

Event Type Commercial Fee Non Commercial Fee 
Small Event or Sports 
Activity 

Venue Hire Only Venue Hire Only 

Up to 249 people £346 £56 
250 – 499 people £578 £115 
500 – 999 people £1,157 £230 
1,000 – 1,999 people £2,317 £463 
2,000 – 4,999 people £5,968 £694 
5,000+ people Spec Price Spec Price 

  
Event Fee Includes Event Fee Does Not Include 

- Administration costs of 
processing the event paperwork 

- Cost of representatives to 
assess safety measures in place 

- Cost of checks of paperwork and 
verification documents  

- Cost of Safety Advisory Group 
(SAG) assessment  

- Cost of land use for one day 
(subject to premium surcharge) 

- Equipment or event 
infrastructure (hire from 
council available if 
required) 

- Road closure / traffic 
management costs 

- Parking restrictions or 
parking provision 

- Event management 
support or on-site safety 
management  

- Reparation of damage to 
soft surfaces 

 

                                      
2 Charities running events for ‘profit’ (i.e. fundraising activities), will be subject to commercial fees 
and charges.  

Page 138



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   85 

 
 

Fee Type Fee  
Event Infrastructure & Equipment Various charges based on option: 

gazebo, stage, PA system, barriers, 
etc.. 

Event Management Support (per 
hour) 

£54.15 £84.15 

Event Fast Track Application Fee £50 £150 
Premium Land Hire: 

 
- Town Centre High Streets 
- Green Flag Parks 
- Sandwell Valley Showground 

10% surcharge 20% surcharge 

Indoor Venue Hire:  
 

- Council room hire 
- Sandwell Valley Venue Hire 
- Lightwoods Venue Hire  
- Museums Venue Hire 
- Libraries Venue Hire 
- Sports Venue Hire 

 

Various: Charged in addition to 
event fee, based on hourly/daily rate 
for indoor venue.  

Other Fees: 
  

- Traffic Management Orders 
- Parking Suspensions 
- Level of 

indemnity/reinstatement 
- Refuse services 
- Electricity  
- Water 
- Licencing  
 

Various charges based on option.  

 
12.2 Discounts and Fee Waivers 

 
There will be some occasions when an event organiser is unable to afford the fees 
associated with an event; in these cases, the event organiser will be signposted to small 
grants, such as Awards for All.  
 
 
 

 
13.0 Event Decision Making Process 
 

13.1 Event Decision Making Categories 
 

Event Type SAG Resident 
Consultation 

Event Approval 

Page 139



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   86 

Small events or 
sports activities 

No No  - Automatic 
- If does not meet 

all conditions, 
manual approval 
required  

Events Below 500 
Events Below 100 
People 

Only if triggers 
SAG 

No - Event Manager 
Approval 

Events Above 100 
People 

Yes Notification of 
event, if 
temporary 
impact 

- Event Manager 
Approval 

- Service 
Manager 
Approval 

Events Above 500 People 
Events Above 500 
people – limited 
community impact 

Yes Notification of 
event, if 
temporary 
impact 

- Service 
Manager 
Approval  

- Director 
Approval 

Events Above 500 
People – 
Community Impact 

Yes Resident 
impact 
assessment 

- Service 
Manager 
Approval  

- Director 
Approval  

- Cabinet Member 
Consultation 

Events Above 5,000 People 
Events Above 
5,000 People (one 
day) 

Yes Resident 
impact 
assessment  

- Director 
Approval  

- Cabinet Member 
Approval 

Events Above 
5,000 People 
(multiple days) 

Yes Resident 
impact 
assessment 

- Director 
Approval  

- Cabinet 
Approval 

 
13.2 Decision Making Framework  

 
13.2.1 SMBC views well run and safe events on council owned land as a positive benefit for the 

community and local economy. Well organised and accessible events have the power to 
engage residents in both the organisation and participation in activities, that would otherwise 
not be possible.  
 

13.2.2 To ensure this positive impact on the community is maximised, decisions for event approvals 
will be made on the following basis:  

 
- Links to the SMBC Corporate Plan.  
- The financial impact the event may have on the local authority.  
- The community impact the event may have on residents.  
- The reputational impact the event may have on the local authority.  

 

Page 140



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   87 

13.2.3 Most events that take place on council owned land have little to no negative impact on 
residents. Unless these types of events do not comply with SAG requirements or have a 
negative financial or reputational impact on the local authority, these will usually be 
automatically approved by the decision maker within the delegated authority in 4.1. This is 
on the basis that the council can service the event (i.e. process the applications, consider 
the SAG review, and fulfil an event booking).  

 
13.2.4 Some events may have a temporary impact on residents. Examples of these events may 

include: 
 
- A walk or sports event that uses the highways, involving a temporary road closure or 

‘rolling’ road closure.  
- A music event in a park that runs until 9pm, involving some additional noise for residents.  
- A large gathering of people in a park or town centre, which may involve both or either 

temporary road closures, parking restrictions, and traffic at the start and end times of the 
event.  

- Events that have the potential to result in some Anti-Social Behaviour.  
 
13.2.5 In the cases where an event is deemed to have a potential impact on residents (including 

noise), the event organisers (including SMBC), will be required to mitigate these. This will 
include the following:  

 
- All approved events will be published on the SMBC website.  
- Events that have a limited impact: residents who are may be impacted will be notified by 

the event through social media; it may be a condition of booking that residents directly 
impacted by the event are notified in writing by the event organiser.  

- Events that have the potential for a greater level of impact (including the perception from 
residents that they may be impacted) will be required to conduct a resident impact 
assessment and associated communications. 

- Sandwell Valley and Dartmouth Park will have a resident forum that meets with the 
Director of Borough Economy and the Service Manager twice a year. This group will be 
engaged in communications about the annual schedule of events, and the mitigations to 
reduce impacts on residents.  
 

13.3 Resident Impact Assessment  
 

13.3.1 The purpose of a resident impact assessment is to: 
 

- Consider the potential impacts of the event on local residents.  
- Put in place mitigations to reduce these impacts.  
- Engage residents in the mitigations to reduce these impacts (this may be in writing, 

online, through residents’ groups, or a meeting). 
 
13.3.2 The types of mitigations will vary, but can include:  
 

- Additional security requirements, to deter anti-social behaviour that may arise from an 
event.  

Page 141



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   88 

- Additional parking restrictions and traffic management measures to ensure residents can 
easily access and exit the area they live in.  

- Free tickets to a ticketed event, as a thank you for additional noise – for example, a 
music event that runs until 9pm.  

 
13.3.3 A resident impact assessment does not mean that the event approval is dependent on all 

residents agreeing to the event. The decision maker(s) should take account of the resident 
impact assessment and either:  

 
- Require the event organiser to increase the mitigations planned.  
- Make changes to the nature / programme / logistics of the event, if the mitigations 

necessary are not possible with the current plan.  
 
14.0 Safety Advisory Group  
 
14.1 A decision about whether an event should be approved by SMBC, is always dependent on 

the event organiser satisfying the conditions set by the Safety Advisory Group (SAG).  
 
14.2 The Safety Advisory Group is set up to review and consider the safety element of an event, 

which includes:  
 

- Any mandatory safety documentation (risk assessment, relevant safety 
certificates, relevant licences, relevant qualifications).  

- The event has met the safety threshold required for the size of the event (SMBC 
requires ‘The Purple Guide for events) 

- Adequate security measures are in place (including advice and engagement with 
West Midlands Police, if required).  

- Traffic management plans are adequate and in place.  
 

This is not an exhaustive list, and the SAG Terms of Reference are attached Appendix (B).  
 

14.3 All events that trigger a SAG related question on their event application, will be reviewed by 
SAG (either through digital review, or at a scheduled SAG meeting). An example of this is 
where an event only has 100 people – yet includes higher risk activities, such as a triathlon 
through the borough. 

 
14.4 SAG advise will usually result in events been approved, subject to conditions that must be 

met by the event organiser.  
 
15.0 Commercial Activities at Events  

 
15.1 Events on council owned land are sometimes run by commercial ventures. These can 

include:  
 

- Event companies (such as music promoters, sports providers) 
- Fairs and Circuses 
- Performance Companies  

Page 142



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   89 

- Conferences and Convention Providers  
- Charities running for profit / fundraising events 

 
15.2 Events will be considered commercial if the event organiser is making (or intending to make) 

a profit or surplus from the event (including fundraising). In these cases, a commercial fee 
may be applied to the event, even if the event is run by a not for profit organisation. This is to 
ensure that SMBC can continue subsidising non-commercial events and achieves ‘full cost 
recovery’ for events that take place on council owned land. 

 
15.3 Some non-commercial events will want to carry out some commercial activities at their 

event, such as allowing concessions or fairs. This must be included in the original event 
application and the following may be required:  

 
- Commercial activities within a non-commercially run event may incur additional 

charges (depending on the nature and extent of the commercial activity).  
- Commercial activities will need to meet the same conditions and will be considered in 

the same way as the event itself (i.e. a fair or concession provider within an event, 
would need to meet the same safety requirements of the event).  

- Depending the land used for the event and the time / nature of the event, there may 
be restrictions applied by SMBC on the event provider’s commercial activities (i.e. an 
ice cream concession may not be allowed in some parks for events, because of an 
agreement that may already be in place for that park).  

 
16.0 Decision Making Timescales 

 
Event Type Application before event Decision from application 

Small Activities and Events 20 Working Days Within 10 working days 
Events Under 500 People 3 Months 25 Working Days 
Events Over 500 People  3 Months 25 Working Days 
Events Over 5,000 People 6 Months 2 Months 
Urgent Events (requires 
additional fee and can only 
be considered for events 
with no community impact) 

20 working days Within 10 working days 

 
 

17.0 Event Booking Process and Documents 
 

17.1 Event Booking Process 
 
SMBC will use EventApp to automate some of the administration processes and to ensure a 
one stop shop for making an application to run an event on council owned land. This 
provides a clear audit trail of event application decision making and communications. Only 
applications made through EventApp will be considered by SMBC. The current application 
questions used on EventApp are attached in Appendix (C).  

 
17.2 Documents 
 

Page 143



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   90 

Documents required as part of an event application depend on the type of event and 
whether they follow the Purple Guide (events below 5,000) or the Blue Guide (events above 
5,000), but may include:  

 
- Standard SMBC Terms & Conditions (attached, appendix () ) 
- Fee payment and invoice 
- Event Application  
- SAG Report (when required) 
- Marketing and Social Media Conditions  
- Sample Risk Assessment  
- Relevant sections of Purple Guide (i.e. confirmation of medical services procured) 
- Recommended suppliers (minimum specs required for suppliers used by event 

organisers – i.e. minimum wage payments, training requirements) 
- Copies of relevant licences (i.e. bouncy castle) 
- Sample Event Management Plan  
- Dependent on the event size and type, may require:  

 
o Traffic Management Plan  
o Fire Risk Assessment  
o Fire performer / SFX risk Assessment method of working 
o Medical Specification  
o Challenge 25 policy (for alcohol sale) 
o Premise Licence 
o Ingress & Egress Policy 
o TTRO applications  
o Parking plan  
o Ticketholder information  
o Noise Management Plan  
o Eviction policy  
o Safeguarding policy 
o Showman’s guild licence 
o Ride safety documentation 
o Inflatable safety documentation  
o Staff welfare policy 
o CAA Licence & permission to fly 
o Drone operator policy 
o Adverse weather plan  
o Waste management plan  
o Sustainability policy 
o Marketing and social media plan 
o Search policy 
o Security Schedule  
o Security and Stewarding Policy and Procedure 
o Show stop procedure 
o Counter terrorism plan  
o Covid mitigation plan  
o Adventure sports Licences 

Page 144



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   91 

o PLIs from suppliers 
o Residents Communications 
o Catering registrations/local authority registrations 
o Performing animal licenses 
o Animal movement certificates 
o Animal movement and welfare policy 
o Cash handling procedures 
o Additional site mapping  
o Drug and Alcohol welfare policy 
o Water safety policy inc temp, algae, open water safety 
o Water sports registrations 
o Staff Welfare Policy 
o Camping and Caravanning license 
o Industry registrations 
o Allergy information 
o COSHH 
o Build and break method of working statements 
o Evacuation Procedure 
o Local Transport Plan 
o Parade route Planning 
o Services CT scanning 
o Crowd Management Policy 

 
17.3 Document Retention Policy 

 
Documents provided to SMBC will go through the EventApp system. A digital back up of 
these documents and the event application will be retained securely for a minimum of 5 
years following an event and will comply with relevant aspects of the GDPR regulations.  

 
17.4 Event Marketing and Promotion 

 
17.4.1 The event marketing and promotion for an event on council owned land can only begin once: 
 

- a decision to proceed has been agreed 
- a signed booking agreement is in place 
- a resident impact assessment has been completed (if required) 
- payment of any event fees (or an agreed deposit) has been made 

 
17.4.2 SMBC does not automatically endorse an event approved to take place on council owned 

land with its logo or marketing support (i.e. posting on our events page or promoted through 
SMBC social media). Event organisers will be able to request use of the SMBC logo, and/or 
postings on SMBC social media channels, as part of their application.  

 
17.5 Signed Booking Agreement  

 
Most events will be small and require an online signing of the standard terms and conditions 
within the booking agreement (attached Appendix (D)). Some larger and more complex 

Page 145



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   92 

events may require a specific contract, with a schedule of specific conditions and 
agreements in place.  

 
18.0 Banned Events 
 

SMBC will not accept applications or approve events that include the following:  
 
- The use of animals as performers (i.e. circuses). This does not include events that 

promote animal welfare or raise awareness of farm activity (i.e. ‘Farm to Town’ events, or 
‘Dog Shows’), if they follow the animal welfare standards within ‘The Purple Guide’.  

- Events that have previously breached terms and conditions, and these have not been 
resolved with remedial actions (i.e. safety conditions not met, booking payments not 
made, ground reparations not made).  

- Events that directly conflict with the Equality and Diversity Policy of SMBC, intentionally 
prohibit certain groups from attending without a valid reason (i.e. under 18’s will not be 
able to attend an event that is not age appropriate is acceptable, whereas excluding 
children or older people because the event organiser does not like them, would not be 
acceptable).  

- Events that promote hate speech or promulgate falsehoods that have the potential to 
harm others (i.e. an anti-covid vaccine convention on council owned land).  

- Commercial activities (or any events) that use child labour or do not pay the minimum 
wage and adopt staff welfare standards (the use of volunteers would be acceptable, but 
forcing somebody to work for below minimum wage, when it is considered work – i.e. a 
for profit catering unit or fair – would not be acceptable).  

 
Appendices (available on request / on the council website):  
 

- Event Governance Framework – Process Map (Appendix A) 
- SAG Terms of Reference (Appendix B) 
- Event Application Questions (Appendix C) 
- Event Standard Booking Agreement (Appendix D) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 146



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   93 

 
 
 
 
 

Appendix E: Green Spaces Strategy 
Governance Framework 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 147



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   94 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Governance Visual – Green Spaces Strategy Review, Audit, and Implementation 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 148



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   95 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix F: Green Spaces KPIs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 149



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   96 

 
KPI Frequency  Baseline 23/24 Target 23/24 – 25/26 
Parks and Gardens 
Quality and Value 
Scores 

Annual 2018 Parks and 
Gardens 
Scores 

TBC TBC 

Playgrounds Quality 
and Value Scores 

Annual  May 2022 
Scores (TBC) 

TBC TBC 

Green Spaces Sample 
Quality and Value 
Scores (Amenity Green 
Spaces / Green 
Corridors / Allotments)  

Annual  2018 Sample 
Quality Scores 

TBC TBC 

Nature Reserves Quality 
and Value Scores 

Six Monthly  2018 Sample 
Scores 

TBC 
 

TBC 

Green Spaces Hectars 
per 1,000 people 

Green Spaces 
Audit 2025 

3.64 N/A For measurement 

Playgrounds per 1,000 
people 

Green Spaces 
Audit 2025 

1.34 N/A For measurement 

Improvement Plans in Place 
Parks and Gardens  Annual  NA All sites with very 

poor / Poor 
Scores 

All sites with Fair 
Scores Playgrounds Annual  NA 

Green Spaces  Annual  NA 
Playing Pitches  Annual NA 
Nature Reserves Annual  NA 
Allotments  Annual  NA 

Community Engagement 
Registered Friends 
Groups 

Annual  NA All friends groups 
registered 

TBC 

Total Friends Groups 
Fundraising 

Annual NA NA NA 

Total Friends Groups 
Volunteering Hours 

Annual NA NA NA 

Registered Green Space 
Volunteers 

Annual NA NA TBC 

Register Green Space 
Volunteer Hours 

Annual  NA NA TBC 

Key Project Deliverables and Programme of Works 
Programmes of Works 
Completed by % 

Monthly / 
Quarterly 

TBC TBC TBC 

Tree indicators to be 
agreed following audit / 
strategy  

Monthly / 
Quarterly 

TBC TBC TBC 

Key project progress (to 
be listed with RAG 
status) 

Monthly / 
Quarterly 

TBC TBC TBC 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 150



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   97 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix G: Friends Groups Ways of Working 
and Agreement Draft (for consultation) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 151



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   98 

1.1. Sandwell Council has been working with Friends of Parks Groups for a number of years for 
the benefit of the Borough’s parks and open spaces. At present there are 14 Friends Groups 
listed on the Council website, of which 4 have a live link to a website for the group. 
 

1.2. Friends Groups play a vital role in the overall development and management of parks and 
open spaces both at a national and local level.  Sandwell currently has 14 parks which have 
achieved Green Flag status, and an active friends group is a requirement to achiev this 
award. 
 

1.3. Officers within the parks section work with the groups in a variety of ways, including: 
 

• Attendance at meetings 
• Advice on fundraising and event activity  
• Responding to concerns  

 
1.4 The Friends Groups deliver a broad range of multiple benefits to both the local communities 

and to parks and open spaces, and it is vital that the Council supports this valuable activity in 
a coherent, consistent and transparent way. Some of the ways that Friends Groups can 
support our green spaces are listed below: 
 

• organise events such as: bulb and tree planting, clear-up days, picnics, 
• health and nature walks and maybe a summer community festival 
• research the history of the park and produce a pamphlet 
• apply for grants for some of the things above 

 
1.5 The partnership work is not currently governed by formal agreements, and this may lead to 

inconsistency in terms of both the support provided to groups, and also in the understanding 
of the role of the Council and that of the Friends Groups. 
 

1.6 There is no government guidance in relation to friends of parks groups.  The National 
Federation of Parks and Green Spaces is an umbrella organisation supporting over 7,000 
groups across the UK, and has the stated aim: To amplify the voices of Friends Groups 
across the UK. 
 

1.7 The National Federation runs the Parks Community UK website which provides a ‘one-stop 
shop’ of information compiled by and for Friends Groups. This website aims to support 
Friends’ groups across the country to feel better equipped and more confident in their active 
involvement with their local green space.  
 

1.8 The site was originally set up by the Friends of Lordship Rec in London with Lottery grant 
funding via NESTA (an innovation agency for social good) of £145,000 (from Sept 2018 to 
March 2021) as part of the ‘Rethinking Parks’ programme. The purpose of this fund was to 
find and replicate the best ideas and models available for the overall management, 
maintenance and development of parks. In April 2021 the PCUK team and work was 
integrated into the NFPGS. 

 
1.9 The Green Flag award scheme has a toolkit for the development of a Friends of Park Group. 
 

Page 152

https://natfedparks.org.uk/
https://natfedparks.org.uk/
https://lordshiprec.org.uk/
https://www.nesta.org.uk/
https://www.greenflagaward.org/
https://www.greenflagaward.org/resources-research/greenspace-toolkit/toolkit-setting-up-a-friends-group/


Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   99 

1.10 The COVID pandemic has resulted in increased usage of parks and open spaces and this 
coupled with the need to continuously improve services for residents has initiated a focus on 
the development of a refreshed approach to the partnerships with Friends of Parks groups in 
Sandwell. 
 

1.11 The Green Spaces Audit 2018 highlighted the need to address quality and value scores and 
issues for all green spaces – not just those with Green Flag status and active friends groups. 
Friends groups and community engagement are key to the delivery of the Green Spaces 
Strategy and a more formal and transparent working relationship will help to increase the 
activity and number of friends groups, the diversity and representation of all residents, and 
the contribution to the improvement plans for green spaces at borough, neighbourhood, and 
local level.  
 

1.12 The Parks assets are currently under review and this will also require an efficient and 
effective approach to support for Friends Groups as proposals to refurbish assets are 
progressed. The assets in parks refer to both buildings and fixed equipment. 
 

1.13 As outlined above the Council provides a variety of support and engages in a range of 
partnership working arrangements with Friends Groups.  Parks officers roles are not 
dedicated solely to the support of Friends Groups. The role also manages park improvement 
projects, and manages day to day issues within the Parks service. This refreshed approach 
to supporting Friends Groups will provide a sustainable approach to improve outcomes and 
provide support in a more efficient and effective way. 
 

1.14 The proposed approach will move away from multiple separate meetings with officers 
present, to meetings held on a collective basis. It is proposed that Sandwell be split into 
North and South areas and meetings will happen quarterly with all friends group in those 
areas, attended by the Director of Borough Economy or Service Manager, and the Cabinet 
Member for Leisure and Tourism.  
 

1.15 These meetings will be the only meetings formally recognised and supported by the Council. 
The main objective remains to see parks and open spaces flourish through the hard work 
and efforts of Friends and other volunteers.  
 

1.16 The reporting of operational day to day issues will remain primarily through the Council’s 
website. The online booking system will support events. 
 

1.17 To provide clear and consistent support to the valuable resource of local park and open 
space Friends Groups in Sandwell the following outline provides the framework and 
timeframe proposed for consultation with the current groups over the coming 16 weeks: 
 

Dates Actions 
June 14th 2022 Draft of proposed friends group agreement and refreshed approach 

approved by Cabinet Member.  
June 15th 2022 Consultation letter and date for consultation session sent to all 

current Friends Groups.  
June 22nd  Cabinet approval of new approach and agreement as part of Green 

Spaces Strategy and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26.  

Page 153



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   100 

June – August Update of council information and resources to support friends 
groups / friends groups to sign agreement and ways of working.  

September 2022 Implementation deadline of new arrangements, with first North/South 
friends group meetings taking place.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 154



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   101 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix I: Green Spaces Quality Scores 
2018 – 209 Sample Green Spaces 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 155



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   102 

Town SITE NAME 
QUALITY 

SCORE 
(2018) 

Quality 
Rating 

VALUE 
SCORE 
(2018) 

Value 
Rating 
(2018) 

Oldbury Ashes Road Open Space 18 Very 
Poor 25.2 Poor 

Oldbury Barnford Hill Park 61 Fair 47.3 Poor 

Oldbury Birchley Sports Ground 27 Poor 29.6 Poor 

Oldbury Birchley Sports Ground (Newbury Lane) 34 Poor 30.2 Poor 

Oldbury Brades Green Open Space 44 Poor 43.1 Poor 

Oldbury Broadwell Park 32 Poor 32.8 Poor 

Oldbury Canal Side Open Space 21 Poor 29.4 Poor 

Oldbury Dudley Road Walkthrough 10 Very 
Poor 24 Poor 

Oldbury Embassy Road Play Area 13 Very 
Poor 40.6 Poor 

Oldbury Grafton Road Playing Fields 34 Poor 35.6 Poor 

Oldbury Hartlebury Road Amenity Space 27 Poor 26.5 Poor 

Oldbury Hill Top Road Open Space 20 Poor 29.8 Poor 

Oldbury Langley Park 43 Poor 45.4 Poor 

Oldbury Lion Farm Playing Fields 26 Poor 36.5 Poor 

Oldbury M5/Tame Road Open Space 29 Poor 41.3 Poor 

Oldbury Norfolk Road Open Space 29 Poor 31.9 Poor 

Oldbury Norman Road Walkthrough 29 Poor 35 Poor 

Oldbury Old Park Lane Open Space 9 Very 
Poor 39 Poor 

Oldbury Queensway Open Space 36 Poor 42.5 Poor 

Oldbury Rattle Chain Urban Forest 8 Very 
Poor 41.3 Poor 

Oldbury Titford Lane Open Space 18 Very 
Poor 40.8 Poor 

Oldbury Titford Pools 14 Very 
Poor 34.6 Poor 

Oldbury Tividale Park 34 Poor 42.1 Poor 

Oldbury York Road Open Space 31 Poor 38.3 Poor 
Rowley 
Regis Angela Avenue Open Space 30 Poor 29.2 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Ashtree Mound Playing Fields 27 Poor 28.5 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Barn Close Open Space 20 Poor 26.3 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Bearmore Playing Fields 44 Poor 34 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Bearmore Road Open Space 34 Poor 30.8 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Brickhouse Farm Open Space 34 Poor 37.3 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Brickhouse Open Space 26 Poor 37.9 Poor 

Page 156



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   103 

Rowley 
Regis Britannia Park 46 Poor 40.2 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Bury Hill Park 43 Poor 61.5 Fair 

Rowley 
Regis Chatsworth Road Open Space 16 Very 

Poor 38.8 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Codsall Coppice 33 Poor 37.2 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Corngreaves Public Open Space 42 Poor 48.5 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Corngreaves Road Open Space 20 Poor 41.3 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Corngreaves Walk Embankment 33 Poor 23.1 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Darbys Hill Open Space 22 Poor 28.8 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Darbys Hill Quarry Open Space 28 Poor 29.6 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Fairway Avenue Amenity Greenspace 6 Very 

Poor 21.5 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Grace Mary Open Space 23 Poor 27.7 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Haden Hill Park 71 Good 64.8 Fair 

Rowley 
Regis Mary MacArthur Gardens 51 Fair 33.1 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Moor Lane Open Space 29 Poor 42.7 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Mousesweet Brook LNR 41 Poor 53 Fair 

Rowley 
Regis Mousesweet Brook/River Stour SLINC 19 Very 

Poor 45.8 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Rowley Hall Open Space 20 Poor 29 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Rowley Hills Strategic Open Space - Portway Road SOS 24 Poor 65.4 Fair 

Rowley 
Regis Rowley Regis Cemetery 57 Fair 44.8 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Springfield Estate Embankments 28 Poor 38.8 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis St Lukes Church 25 Poor 30.8 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis The Knowle SOS 16 Very 

Poor 53.1 Fair 

Rowley 
Regis Timbertree Crescent Open Space 18 Very 

Poor 24.4 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Timbertree Open Space SLINC 7 Very 

Poor 40.2 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Warrens Hall Farm SOS 24 Poor 58.5 Fair 

Rowley 
Regis Warrens Hall Park SOS 50 Fair 63.5 Fair 

Rowley 
Regis Warwick Road Open Space 26 Poor 42.1 Poor 

Page 157



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   104 

Rowley 
Regis Waterfall Lane SINC 32 Poor 49.4 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Woburn Road Amenity Greenspace 40 Poor 40 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Wrights Lane Open Space 19 Poor 40.4 Poor 

Rowley 
Regis Wylde Crescent Open Space 34 Poor 25.6 Poor 

Smethwick Basons Lane Playing Fields 27 Poor 27.3 Poor 

Smethwick Black Patch Park 13 Very 
Poor 37.1 Poor 

Smethwick Bridge Street Amenity Space 32 Poor 43.9 Poor 

Smethwick Fowler Close Open Space 36 Poor 31.7 Poor 

Smethwick Galton Valley Canal 57 Fair 53.9 Fair 

Smethwick Galton Valley Heritage Centre 47 Poor 52.9 Fair 

Smethwick Galton Valley Play Area 51 Fair 39.6 Poor 

Smethwick Harry Mitchell Park 39 Poor 32.3 Poor 

Smethwick Lewisham Park 49 Poor 50 Fair 

Smethwick Lightwoods Park 66 Good 60.5 Fair 

Smethwick Londonderry Lane Amenity Space 38 Poor 30.6 Poor 

Smethwick Londonderry Playing Fields 28 Poor 36 Poor 

Smethwick Merry Hill SLINC 8 Very 
Poor 29.6 Poor 

Smethwick Montague Road Open Space 45 Poor 32.3 Poor 

Smethwick Roebuck Lane Open Space 19 Very 
Poor 36.3 Poor 

Smethwick Smethwick Hall Park 37 Poor 34.4 Poor 

Smethwick Smethwick Summit 48 Poor 53.3 Fair 

Smethwick St Johns Recreation Ground 36 Poor 29.5 Poor 

Smethwick St Pauls Cemetery 45 Poor 31.3 Poor 

Smethwick The Maltings Open Space 36 Poor 31 Poor 

Smethwick Thimblemill Brook 37 Poor 35.4 Poor 

Smethwick Tollhouse Way Amenity Area 60 Good 30.8 Poor 

Smethwick Unett Street Open Space 47 Poor 34.4 Poor 

Smethwick Uplands Cemetery 51 Fair 31 Poor 

Smethwick Victoria Park (Smethwick) 57 Fair 49 Poor 

Smethwick Warley Woods 69 Good 74.6 Good 

Smethwick West Smethwick Park 58 Fair 45.4 Poor 

Tipton Beaumont Close Open Space 30 Poor 38.1 Poor 

Tipton Bilston Road Open Space 18 Very 
Poor 39.4 Poor 

Tipton Bloomfield Road Amenity Space 20 Poor 37.7 Poor 

Tipton Brierley Lane Open Space 19 Very 
Poor 37.5 Poor 

Tipton Bullers Open Space 20 Poor 38.1 Poor 

Page 158



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   105 

Tipton Central Avenue/Upper Church Lane 21 Poor 38.3 Poor 

Tipton Coneygre Canal Green Space 9 Very 
Poor 40.2 Poor 

Tipton Coneygre Youth Centre 45 Poor 36.5 Poor 

Tipton Coronation Gardens 36 Poor 39.7 Poor 

Tipton Dudley Road Amenity Space 36 Poor 27.9 Poor 

Tipton Farley Park 46 Poor 30.2 Poor 

Tipton Furnace Parade Open Space 27 Poor 36.9 Poor 

Tipton Great Western Street 26 Poor 43.1 Poor 

Tipton Haines Branch Canal 30 Poor 39.4 Poor 

Tipton Hall Lane Open Space 16 Very 
Poor 24.4 Poor 

Tipton Jubilee Park 46 Poor 34.2 Poor 

Tipton Kerr Drive Open Space 28 Poor 41.9 Poor 

Tipton Laybourne Park 33 Poor 26.3 Poor 

Tipton Lichfield Street Open Space 11 Very 
Poor 39.4 Poor 

Tipton Powis Avenue Open Space 37 Poor 26.7 Poor 

Tipton Princes End Branchline Walkway 13 Very 
Poor 40.6 Poor 

Tipton Sheepwash Urban Park 55 Fair 54.6 Fair 

Tipton Standbridge Way Amenity Space 19 Very 
Poor 37.7 Poor 

Tipton Tibbington Open Space 17 Very 
Poor 43.8 Poor 

Tipton Tibbington Playing Fields 15 Very 
Poor 39.4 Poor 

Tipton Tipton Cemetery 67 Fair 26.7 Poor 

Tipton Tipton Linear Park 36 Poor 39.6 Poor 

Tipton Union Street Open Space 33 Poor 38.8 Poor 

Tipton Upper Church Lane/Powis Avenue Walkthrough 25 Poor 24.2 Poor 

Tipton Victoria Park (Tipton) 64 Good 63.2 Good 

Tipton Weddell Wynd Open Space 17 Very 
Poor 41.3 Poor 

Tipton Wednesbury Oak Open Space 35 Poor 25 Poor 

Tipton Wednesbury Oak Play Area 38 Poor 39.4 Poor 

Wednsbury  Balls Hill Open Space 46 Poor 32.3 Poor 

Wednsbury  Black Horse Open Space 33 Poor 27.1 Poor 

Wednsbury  Blakedon Road Open Space 34 Poor 30.2 Poor 

Wednsbury  Bradley Locks 20 Poor 39 Poor 

Wednsbury  Brickhouse Lane Open Space 26 Poor 31.9 Poor 

Wednsbury  Brunswick Park 61 Fair 57.6 Fair 

Wednsbury  Church Hill Open Space 39 Poor 35.7 Poor 

Wednsbury  Coronation Road 27 Poor 42.3 Poor 

Wednsbury  Ebenezer Street Open Space 45 Poor 26 Poor 

Page 159



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   106 

Wednsbury  Friar Park Playing Fields 34 Poor 32.7 Poor 

Wednsbury  Goldicroft Playing Fields 24 Poor 32.9 Poor 

Wednsbury  Hawkes Lane Open Space 33 Poor 28.3 Poor 

Wednsbury  Hill Top Park 44 Poor 38.5 Poor 

Wednsbury  Hydes Road Pool 44 Poor 50.8 Fair 

Wednsbury  Kent Road Playing Fields 31 Poor 24.6 Poor 

Wednsbury  Lakeside Open Space 27 Poor 39.8 Poor 

Wednsbury  New Gas Street Open Space 27 Poor 37.9 Poor 

Wednsbury  Nobury Road Open Space 24 Poor 40 Poor 

Wednsbury  Norman Deeley Playing Fields 45 Poor 32 Poor 

Wednsbury  Ridgeacre Branch Canal Walkthrough 29 Poor 46.9 Poor 

Wednsbury  River Tame Corridor Hydes Road Playing Fields 38 Poor 41.3 Poor 

Wednsbury  River Tame Corridor Johnson Road (Wednesbury) 26 Poor 47.5 Poor 

Wednsbury  River Tame Corridor North (Wednesbury) 30 Poor 46.9 Poor 

Wednsbury  Sandy Lane Open Space 28 Poor 43.1 Poor 

Wednsbury  Tame Avenue Open Space 31 Poor 42.7 Poor 

Wednsbury  Walton Road Amenity Space 24 Poor 27.5 Poor 

Wednsbury  William Green Road Open Space 31 Poor 42.5 Poor 

Wednsbury  Wood Green Cemetery 52 Fair 36.5 Poor 

Wednsbury  Worleys Wharf Open Space 19 Very 
Poor 42.3 Poor 

Wednsbury  Wyntor Lane Open Space 31 Poor 25.4 Poor 
West 
Bromwich Beaconview/Walsall Road Open Space 39 Poor 45.1 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Biddleston Grove Open Space 26 Poor 39.4 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Billhay Lane Amenity Space 8 Very 

Poor 42.1 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Brackendale Drive Playing Fields 35 Poor 21.9 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Brooklands Open Space 37 Poor 21.9 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Charlemont Farm Playing Fields 48 Poor 46.3 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Constance Avenue Open Space 21 Poor 36.3 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Dartmouth Park 75 Good 74.1 Good 

West 
Bromwich Delta Gardens 15 Very 

Poor 44 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Denbigh Crescent Open Space 36 Poor 24.4 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Firtree Drive Open Space 43 Poor 23.5 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Forge Mill Farm 59 Fair 66.5 Good 

West 
Bromwich Forge Mill Lake & Nature Reserve 66 Fair 78.4 Good 

Page 160



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   107 

West 
Bromwich Garden of Remembrance 61 Fair 37.3 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Gorse Farm Wood 43 Poor 37.6 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Greets Green Playing Field 31 Poor 36 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Hall Green Open Space 18 Very 

Poor 40.6 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Hambletts Open Space 47 Poor 30.6 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Haypitts Woods 28 Poor 22.7 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Hill Farm Bridge Fields 26 Poor 42.7 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Hobhouse Close Play Area 30 Poor 28.3 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Holly Wood & Pasture 44 Poor 49.6 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Kenrick Park 56 Fair 45.5 Poor 

West 
Bromwich King George V Playing Fields 60 Fair 57.3 Fair 

West 
Bromwich Ladbury Grove Open Space 41 Poor 23.5 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Lily Street Open Space 31 Poor 28.1 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Lindsey Road Open Space 43 Poor 28.5 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Longleat Spinney 38 Poor 27.3 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Lyng Park 42 Poor 24.6 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Manor House 49 Poor 20.5 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Marsh Lane Open Space (Proposed play area) 37 Poor 31.9 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Maud Road Open Space 23 Poor 24.6 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Menzies Open Space 31 Poor 37.5 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Navigation Lane Amenity Space 35 Poor 42.1 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Newton Road Playing Fields 38 Poor 28.3 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Oak House 67 Fair 38 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Oakwood Park/Jesson Playing Fields 46 Poor 31.1 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Okehampton Drive Play Area 34 Poor 28.1 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Poppy Drive Open Space 34 Poor 36 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Ray Hall Pastoral Land 31 Poor 49.5 Poor 

Page 161



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   108 

West 
Bromwich Red House Park 66 Fair 50 Fair 

West 
Bromwich Redwood Road Open Space 49 Poor 29.2 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Ridgeacre Branch Canal SINC 17 Very 

Poor 20.4 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Sandwell Park Farm 68 Good 72.5 Good 

West 
Bromwich Sots Hole Wood 52 Fair 28.6 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Stone Cross Open Space 30 Poor 41.5 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Sussex Avenue Open Space 24 Poor 45.1 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Swan Pool/Priory Wood 71 Good 75.3 Good 

West 
Bromwich Tamebridge Walkthrough 23 Poor 35.8 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Tanhouse Avenue Amenity Space 29 Poor 29.2 Poor 

West 
Bromwich The Grove Open Space 40 Poor 23.8 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Tildasley Street Amenity Space 29 Poor 25 Poor 

West 
Bromwich West Bromwich Cemetery 48 Poor 37.5 Poor 

West 
Bromwich West Bromwich Crematorium 65 Fair 59.9 Fair 

West 
Bromwich West Bromwich Parkway SINC 30 Poor 38.8 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Whitecrest Open Space 41 Poor 40.4 Poor 

West 
Bromwich Wilderness Lane SLINC & SINC 18 Very 

Poor 40.6 Poor 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 162



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   109 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix J: Green Spaces Audit 2018 
Household Survey Summary of Findings 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 163



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   110 

Understanding the Demand 

A key component of the Green Space Audit has been consultation with local communities and other 
providers. This has provided the opportunity to make an assessment of existing patterns of use, to 
explore ideas for improvement and to provide data to complement other parts of the audit such as 
quantity and quality assessments. In addition to comparing the findings of the latest survey with the 
previous surveys carried out in 2006 and 2011, the questionnaire has also generated qualitative 
consultation to explore key issues that arise and comparisons have been made later in this report to 
the results of the quantity, quality and value assessments that have been carried out. 

Household Survey 

Summary of findings  

• 1315 valid surveys were returned, of which 74.5% were paper copies. 

• A greater proportion of respondents are visiting green spaces within Sandwell Borough 
than in 2013, increasing from 93.4% to 96.4%, and respondents are visiting more 
frequently, with respondents visiting weekly or more often increasing from 51.7% to 
67.9%. 

• Most frequently used/visited green spaces: 

• Sandwell Valley Country Park was the most frequently visited green space, being 
mentioned twice as much as the second most visited (19.1% compared with 10.8% for 
Warley Woods). It was also the most popular for events.  

• The majority of respondents travel to green spaces on foot, usually for less than 10 
minutes. 

• The main use of green spaces was walking, with passive uses being more popular than 
active.  

• Overall average quality ratings for green spaces was 7.3 out of 10. Warley Woods was 
rated highest with a score of 8.8.  

• Just under 4 in 10 (39.0%) of respondents considered that the quality of their most visited 
space had improved, with a slightly greater proportion (40.1%) stating that quality had 
stayed the same. The proportion of respondent that thought quality had improved had 
fallen by a third since 2013 (from 60% to 39%). 

Page 164



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   111 

• Respondents wanted there to be more refreshment and general facilities such as toilets 
and for green spaces to be safer with less antisocial behaviour.   

• Green spaces across Sandwell: 

• The biggest barriers for all respondents were antisocial behaviour and lack of time while 
barriers for current non-users were not feeling safe and age/illness/disability. 

• Nearly 2 in 3 (64.2%) thought there was the right quantity of parks. Over 4 in 10 
considered there to be sufficient outdoor sports facilities, provision for play and 
allotments and community gardens. However, a greater proportion of respondents 
considered that there was insufficient provision for these types of green space. 

• Satisfaction is fairly high for parks and green spaces, with 68.8% of respondents 
satisfied/very satisfied. However, satisfaction is lower for other types of provision, with 
all with less than half of respondents satisfied/very satisfied.  

• The most important issues for respondents were standards of litter clearance and 
feelings of personal safety but these were rated poorly in terms of performance. The 
issues with the best performance were general standard of maintenance and provision 
of flowerbeds, trees and shrubs.  

• Over half of respondents (56.9%) felt that green spaces contributed to their health and 
well-being and cited benefits such as a place to relax and contributing to a better local 
environment 

• Respondents were in favour of all sources of funding except for increased charges for 
park facilities, which was opposed/strongly opposed by 55.6% of respondents.  

• More respondents preferred fewer green spaces of higher quality than more, low quality 
spaces.  

• Respondent profile: 

• There was a larger proportion of female respondents (62.2%) 

• Younger respondents were the most underrepresented age group (16-24). 

Page 165



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   112 

• BME respondents were underrepresented compared with the population of Sandwell, 
particularly Asian and Asian British respondents.  

• A third of respondents (33.0%) had a long term illness or disability. 

Desired Improvements:  

 

Theme Number of 
mentions % of comments % of total 

respondents 
Refreshment facilities 
(e.g. café, tearoom, prices) 100 13.1 7.6 

Safety and Security  
(e.g. less antisocial behaviour, CCTV, no alcohol) 90 11.8 6.8 

Facilities 
(e.g. toilet, community space) 79 10.3 6.0 

Litter  
(e.g. bins, clearance, broken glass) 75 9.8 5.7 

Children’s Play Area  
(improvements, maintenance) 74 9.7 5.6 

General Maintenance 
(e.g. grass cutting, paths) 69 9.0 5.2 

Events and Activities 63 8.2 4.8 

Car Parking/Charges 53 6.9 4.0 

Seating and shelter 53 6.9 4.0 
Dog control  
(e.g. fouling, on lead, dog areas) 51 6.7 3.9 

Planting and wildlife 
(more flowers, trees and shrub management) 47 6.1 3.6 

Onsite and security staff  
(e.g. park wardens, patrols) 37 4.8 2.8 

Outdoor sports and exercise facilities 28 3.7 2.1 

Lighting 11 1.4 0.8 
Accessibility  
(e.g. for disabled people) 5 0.7 0.4 

Information 
(e.g. signage) 3 0.4 0.2 

Public transport 1 0.1 0.1 

Total 765 - - 

Page 166



Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26   113 

 

 

 
 

                                      

Category Too Little About Right Too Much Total 

Parks and green spaces 
436 

(35.1%) 
798 

(64.2%) 
9 

(0.7%) 
1243 

Outdoor Sports Facilities 
499 

(52.5%) 
444 

(46.6%) 
7 

(0.7%) 
950 

Provision for Play 
512 

(53.1%) 
444 

(46.1%) 
8 

(0.8%) 
964 

Allotments and Community Gardens 
438 

(57.5%) 
317 

(41.6%) 
7 

(0.9%) 
762 

 

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank



Sandwell Green Spaces Strategy 
22/23 Progress Report
NOVEMBER 2022

P
age 169



The Cabinet approved the Green 
Spaces Strategy (GSS) and 

Implementation Plan 22-25 in 
June 2022. 

This included a set of objectives 
for the next three years, including 

a programme of planned works 
for 22/23 financial year (which 

runs from April 1st 2022 – March 
31st 2023).

We committed to publishing the 
planned programme of annual 
works for Green Spaces and 

keeping Councillors and 
residents up to date with our 

progress.

This is the mid-year progress 
report for 22/23 (November 2022).

We will publish progress 
quarterly (next in Feb 23) and an 

Annual Report on our Green 
Spaces Strategy (May 23)

Page 2: Introduction

Page 3: Overview of 22/23 Programme of 
Works Progress

Page 4 & 5: Overview of our progress on 
what we said we would do in 22/23 in 

the Green Spaces Strategy

Page 6: Play Areas 22/23 Programme of 
Works

Page 7: Nature Reserves and Green 
Spaces 22/23 Programme of Works

Page 8: Outdoor Sports Facilities 22/23 
Programme of Works Progress

Page 9 & 10: Funded Projects 22/23 
Works Progress

All information published is correct at 
the time of publication. This does not 

include emergency works.

Other Useful Information

Information about our Green Spaces team, Green 
Spaces Strategy, and projects listed in this update: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200237/green_spac
es_leisure_and_events/4941/green_spaces

Information about Friends Groups and supports: 
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200249/parks_in_sa

ndwell/4939/friends_groups_in_sandwell

Information about Green Services, including mowing 
schedules and grounds maintenance work: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200237/green_spac
es_leisure_and_events/4909/green_services

Information about trees in Sandwell: 
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200248/parks_and_

green_spaces/4916/trees

Information about how we look after our play areas 
and keep them safe: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200248/parks_and_
green_spaces/4940/play_areas_in_sandwell

Information about football fixtures bookings and how 
to book a sports pitch: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200248/parks_and_
green_spaces/795/outdoor_sports_facilities_in_parks

Information about how to apply to hold an event in a 
green space: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200242/events/4417/
events

INTRODUCTIONP
age 170



£4,454,616

NOV GREEN SPACES STRATEGY 
22/23 DELIVERY DASHBOARD

41 Play Area 
Major Works

10 major 
green spaces 

projects

10 nature 
reserves 
projects

7 BMX/Skate 
Park Refurbs

9 Outdoor 
Gym Sites 
Refurbs

2 new MUGA 
refurbs

43 Play Area 
Easy Gates 

Refurbs

60 Bin Repairs 
/ Refurbs

1 New Play 
Area

£1,407,090 

£2,113,878 

What we committed in the GSS What we are on track to
achieve

Total Green Spaces Programme of Works 
22/23 (exc. Funded Projects)

£752,960 

£220,000 
£290,960 

£12,800 £16,520 
£86,250 

£987,933 

£303,220 
£431,500 

£100,000 
£98,000 £165,625 

Play Areas Nature
Reserves

Green Spaces
(Parks,

Allotments,
Built Facilities,
Playing Fields)

BMX / Skate Outdoor Gyms MUGAs

22/23 Spend Breakdown (Exc. Funded Projects)

 What we committed to in the GSS What we are on track to actually deliver

55%

37%

44%

25%

29%

26%

36%

Play Areas

Nature Reserves

Green Spaces (Parks,…

BMX / Skate

Outdoor Gyms

MUGAs

Total Green Spaces Progress

Green Spaces 22/23 Programme of 
Works Progress

28%

30%

25%

25%

50%

25%

16%

50%

41%

26%

32%

Hateley Cross Big Local Project

Sandwell Valley Urban Bike…

English Cricket Board Project

UK Shared Prosperity Project

Small Sided Playing Pitches…

Black Patch Park Levelling Up…

Britannia Park Town's Fund…

Jubilee Park Astro Turf Project

West Smethwick Park NLHF

Lightwoods House and Park…

Total Funded Projects

Green Spaces 22/23 Funded Projects 
Programme of Works Progress

Funding Stream Total Grant 22/23 Committed %
Lightwoods House NLHF Project 120,000£                                                            120,000£                                                                   120,000£       100%
West Smethwick Park NLHF Project 89,038£                                                              89,038£                                                                      72,038£          81%
Jubilee Park Astro Turf Project 56,000£                                                              56,000£                                                                      56,000£          100%
Britannia Park Towns Fund Project 2,478,000£                                                        886,700£                                                                   886,700£       100%
Black Patch Park Levelling Up Project 85,000£                                                              85,000£                                                                      40,000£          47%
Small Sided Playing Pitches Project 500,000£                                                            160,000£                                                                   160,000£       100%
UK Shared Prosperity Project 1,370,000£                                                        420,000£                                                                   40,000£          10%
Covid - Play Areas 220,000£                                                            220,000£                                                                   220,000£       100%
Covid - Nature Reserves 200,000£                                                            200,000£                                                                   200,000£       100%
Covid - Grounds Maintenance / Green Spaces 200,000£                                                            200,000£                                                                   200,000£       100%
Covid - Trees 180,000£                                                            180,000£                                                                   180,000£       100%
Public Health Physical Activity in Parks 56,000£                                                              56,000£                                                                      56,000£          100%
English Cricket Board 140,000£                                                            140,000£                                                                   140,000£       100%
Snadwell Valley Urban Bike Track 600,000£                                                            600,000£                                                                   600,000£       100%

£2,113,87
8 , 47%

£2,340,738 
, 53%

Total 22/23 Green Spaces 
Programme of Works (Inc. Funded 

Projects)

22/23 Spend 22/23 Funded Projects

P
age 171



Increase average quality score for green spaces by 10 
points, with a clear strategy to achieve ‘good’ by 2030.

202 Green Space Improvement Plans 
Commissioned (for completion for 22/23)

Grounds improvements works completed on 5 
low scoring parks, and 22 amenity spaces and 

green corridors

202 Green Space Improvement Plans Completed 
(Mar 22)

New interpretation and signage in all nature 
reserves and parks with average scores

Target score improvements for 23/24 for priority 
sites with low scores

Improve accessibility and use of green spaces for sport 
and physical activity. 

Small Sided Playing Pitches Project 
commissioned two new MUGA improvements 

for 22/23. 

Urban Bike Track Tender Awarded.

English Cricket Board Funding Approved 
(£156k)

Lawn Tennis Association funding for Tennis 
Courts Refurbs 22/23 (Nov Cabinet Member)

Mapping of sports and physical activity and 
strategy for 23/24 onwards (Mar)

Jubilee Park Astro Turf Project Completed

Improve stakeholder engagement in the development, 
management, and maintenance of green spaces.

Friends Groups Consultation and new 
partnership agreement and ways of working 

approved.

Friends Groups information on ways of working 
and funding signposting online.

Stakeholder Analysis for Green Spaces 
completed for wider stakeholder engagement 

(Jan)

Friends Groups Training and Online Resources / 
Friends Groups Quarterly Meetings

Improve accessibility and use of green spaces to target 
health inequalities, loneliness, disability, dementia, and 

mental health. 

Accessibility Audit commissioned for green 
spaces for users with disabilities.

Volunteer Development Officer advertised.

West Smethwick Park Engagement Coordinator 
in place with Community Engagement Plan for 

22/23 – 23/24

Continue to improve the security and safety of green 
spaces.

Environment Response Team over 140 sites to 
date cleared of waste / overgrowth

New solar lights at St Martins Way Open Space

Campaigns on litter and BBQs during summer, 
including increased security

Volunteer Engagement Strategy and 
Recruitment and Training Live (Feb)

Accessibility projects to target health 
inequalities, loneliness, disability, dementia, 

and mental health for 23/24 (Feb)

Safer Green Spaces Strategy (Feb Cabinet)

BBQs and Fire Prevention Plan for summer 2023 
(Feb Cabinet)

New anti-social behaviour and water safety 
signs in all parks and nature reserves

Green Spaces Strategy Objectives 22/23 Progress Summary

These are the objectives set out in the Green Spaces 
Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22 – 25

Achieved In Progress

P
age 172



Increase educational activity for children and young 
people in green spaces, conservation, wildlife 

management, and access to nature. 

Education and national curriculum linked 
programme for Forge Mill Farm and Animal 

Welfare LIVE

School Visits pilots bookings LIVE for Q3/Q4

Partnership with Sandwell College for work 
experience and internships

New classroom facilities for education at 
Sandwell Valley and Forge Mill Farm (Mar)

Education and Outreach Strategy for Green 
Spaces (Jan)

Partnership with Groundworks and Colleges for 
Green Space Careers (UKSPF)

Increase funding for green spaces through income 
generation, fundraising and external grants, and 

efficiencies in processes, systems and ways of working. 

3 New Café / Coffee Bars Opened

Agreement reached with Hateley Cross Big 
Local 22/23 Spend (£100k)

LUF Secured (£85k – Black Patch Park)
£1.37m UKSPF Secured for Green Spaces 
Improvements at Sandwell Valley / Railer

£100k additional funding from WMCA for 
community led green space projects

Transitioned to digital systems for venue hire 
(LIVE), digital project management (LIVE) and 

PSS Live (In Progress)

Funding scoping report completed
S106 3 Year Spend Plan

Income Generation Strategy for Green Spaces

Review of Green Spaces Built Facilities and 
Assets

Pilot two dog washing stations

PSS Live Full Implementation (Mar)

Improve the accessibility and use of green spaces 
buildings and facilities – achieving maximum utilisation 

of spaces. 

West Smethwick Park Pavilion Open

WSP Sons of Rest Building Refurb

Online booking for facilities now LIVE

Utilisation model and targets for earned income 
use / community use

Complete review of all green spaces built 
facilities and assets (Jan)

Dartmouth Park Pavilion and Red House Park 
Pavilion programme of works 22/23

Green Spaces Built Facilities Operations 
Supervisor Recruited to increase usage

Achieve excellent governance, oversight, and 
management of green spaces. 

Programme of works for 22/23 published.

Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and 
Business Plan approved. 

Performance dashboards in place with Cabinet 
Member.

Green Spaces Strategy Advisory Group set up 
(two meetings before March)

Green Spaces Quarterly Progress Published 
(first update Nov)

Green Spaces 22/23 Annual Report (May 23)

Improve the management and development of nature 
reserves and wildlife. 

One Nature Reserve Management Plan 
Completed (Sot’s Hole)

Programme of Works 22/23 approved for 309k of 
immediate improvements

Trees Strategy in DRAFT

Improve the provision of allotments and community 
food production. 

Allotments review commissioned.

Trees Strategy, inc. planting (Jan Cabinet)

Re-wilding Strategy (Mar Cabinet)

Wildlife Management Policy and Approach (Mar 
Cabinet)

Allotments review completed and Allotments 
Strategy (Feb Cabinet)

P
age 173



£987k
22/23 
Spend

55% 
Works 

Progress

41
Play 

Areas 
Large 

Works*

PLAY AREAS PROGRAMME OF WORKS DASHBOARD

43
Play 

Areas 
Easy Gate 
Refurbs

6
Swing 
Basket 

Replaced

7
Zip Slides 
Replaced

£4,571 

£38,208 

£28,959 

£16,823 

£40,620 

£10,006 

£24,465 

£9,714 

£39,635 

£46,999 

£34,893 

£29,889 

£21,242 

£27,121 

£29,835 

£14,423 

£60,000 

£28,486 

£67,078 

£56,458 

£25,882 

£13,978 

£19,172 

£41,225 

£17,152 

£25,636 

£33,721 

£87,654 

£20,568 

£30,318 

£43,200 

Balls Hall Play Area

Bilston Road Open Space Norm D Play Area

Brickhouse Play Area

Brindley Village Doulton Dr Play Area

Broadwell Park Play Area

Brunswick Park

Bury Hill Park Play Area

Charlemont Open Space Play Area

Churchfields Play Area

Dartmouth Park Play Area

Galton Village Play Area

Harry Mitchell Park Play Area

Hill Top Park Play Area

Hydes Road Play Area

Laybourne Park Play Area (NEW PLAY AREA)

Oakwood Park Play Area

Lightwoods Park Play Area

Lyng Play Area

Marl Hole Park Play Area

Mousesweet Play Area

Pitfields Close Play Area

Redhouse Park Play Area

Ron Davies Close Play Area

Sandwell Valley Adventure Play area

Timbertree Open Space & Play Area

Victoria Park Smk Play Area

Victoria Park Tipton Play Area

West Smethwick Park Play Area

Basket Swings

Zip Slides

Easy Gate Repairs

22/23 Spend per Play Area

£152,040 
£380,920 

£220,000 

£752,960 

£125,211 

£649,736 

£212,986 

£987,933 

Core Budget Funding Covid 22/23 Spend

Play Areas Programme of Works 22/23 
Spend

Play Areas GSS Commitments Play Areas Planned Actual Spend

53%

71%

100%

41%

Play Area
Refurbishments

Play Area Zip
Wires

Play Area Swing
Baskets

Play Area Easy
Gate Repairs

Play Areas Programme of Works Progress 
22/23

41, 59%

Total 22/23 Play Areas Large Works

Total Play Area Works 22/23

69 Play 
Areas in 
Sandwell

P
age 174



£303k
22/23 

Nature 
Reserves

Spend

37% 
Nature 

Reserve 
Works 

Progress

10
Nature 

Reserves 
Large 

Works*

NATURE RESERVES & GREEN SPACES PROGRAMME OF WORKS DASHBOARD

£30,900 

£28,300 

£68,600 

£6,020 

£20,500 

£62,650 

£27,800 

£12,300 

£38,000 

£8,150 

Sheepwash Local Nature Reserve

Hollywood Local Nature Reserve

Warrens Hall Local Nature Reserve

Warrens Hall Farm Nature Reserve

Codsall Coppice Nature Reserve

Gorse Farm Wood

Mousesweet Brook Nature Reserve

Sandwell Valley - Priory Woods

Sandwell Valley - Sots Hole

Sandwell Valley - Forge Mill Farm

22/23 Spend Per Nature Reserve

£431k
22/23 
Green 

Spaces 
Spend

44% 
Works 

Progress

42% 45%

28%
39%

67%

30% 30% 32% 32%
25%

22/23 Nature Reserve Works Progress

25%

25%

25%

25%

25%

25%

25%
25%

100%

25%

50%

25%

100% 100% 100%

75%

25%
25%

25%
25%

76%

25%
25%

22/23 Green Spaces Works Progress

£8,000 

£10,000 

£8,000 

£15,000 

£15,000 

£15,000 

£8,000 

£10,000 

£25,000 

£7,000 

£5,000 

£5,000 

£5,000 

£5,000 

£500 

£10,000 

£20,000 

£20,000 

£10,000 

£20,000 

£50,000 

£140,000 

£20,000 

Red House Park

Red House Park Pavilion

Corngreaves Nature Reserve

Bin Replacement Project

Kenrick Park - Footway Resurfacing

Haden Hill - Footway Resurfacing

Harry Mitchell Park

Farley Park

St Martins Way Open Space Improvements

Bearwood Road - Asbestos Roof Removal…

Haden Hill Toilets Refurb / Digital Locks

King George V Pavilion

Broadwell Park

Bury Hill Park

Lewisham Park

Haden Hill Toilets

Dartmouth Park Pavilion

Dartmouth Park

Brunswick Park

Gospel Oak Amenity Space

The Railer

Victoria Park Smethwick

Allotments refurbishments

22/23 Spend Green Spaces

P
age 175



31 31

£234k
22/23 
Spend

27% 
Works 

Progress

42
Site 

Works

OUTDOOR SPORTS FACILITIES PROGRAMME OF WORKS DASHBOARD

7
BMX / 
Skate 

Repairs

9
Outdoor 

Gym 
Sites 

Refurb

£800 
£12,000 

£-
£12,800 

£20,000 

£80,000

£-

£100,000

Core Budget Funding Covid 22/23 Spend

BMX/Skate Programme of Works 22/23 
Spend

BMX/Skate GSS Commitments

BMX/Skate Actual Spend

£1,200 £15,320 £- £16,520 £-

£98,000 

£-

£98,000 

Core Budget Funding Covid Total Approved

Outdoor Gyms Programme of Works 22/23 
Spend

Outdoor Gyms GSS Commitments Outdoor Gyms Actual Spend

£6,250 

£80,000 

£-

£86,250 

£-

£165,625 

£-

£165,625 

Core Budget Funding Covid 22/23 Spend

Multi-Use Games Areas Programme of 
Works 22/23 Spend

Multi-Use Games Areas GSS Commitments

Multi-Use Games Areas Actual Spend

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 
£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£225 

£100,000 

£2,000 

£2,000 

£4,000 

£4,000 

£5,000 

£6,000 

£10,000 

£10,000 

£10,000 

£12,000 

£13,000 
£20,000 

£20,000 

£20,000 

£30,000 

£60,000 

MUGA - Barnford Hill Park - Junior & Toddler

MUGA - Bearmore Open Space, Play Area and MUGA

MUGA - Black Patch Park

MUGA - Brades Green Play Area & MUGA

MUGA - Britannia Park Junior, Toddler, MUGA & Skatepark

MUGA - Bury Hill Park

MUGA - Brunswick Park Play Area

MUGA - Farley Park Playground

MUGA - Friar Park Open Space, Play Area & MUGA

MUGA - Galton Village Heritage Centre

MUGA - Greets Green Open Space, Play Area & Muga

MUGA - Haden Hill Park MUGA & Play Area

MUGA - Harry Mitchell Park MUGA and Natural Play Area
MUGA - Jubilee Park Trim Trail & Play Area

MUGA - Kenrick Park Play Area, Skate & Muga

MUGA - Lightwood Park Play Area, MUGA & Wheeled Sports

MUGA - Montague Road Junior & Toddler

MUGA - Norman Deeley Play Area, Muga & BMX

MUGA - Oakwood Park Natural Play Area, Play Area & MUGA

MUGA - Queensway Open Space

MUGA - Red House Park Toddler & Junior Play Area

MUGA - Redwood Road Play Area

MUGA - Tividale Park Play Area, MUGA & Fitness

MUGA - Victoria Park Smethwick Junior, Toddler & Fitness

MUGA - Victoria Park Tipton Toddler PA2

MUGA - West Smethwick Park Play Area & MUGA

Gym - Broadwell Park Junior & Toddler

BMX - Brunswick Park Play Area

BMX - Barnford Hill Park - Junior & Toddler

BMX - Charlemont Open Space and Skate Park

Gym - Langley Park Play Area

Gym - Tipton Linear Park

Gym - King George V Playing Fields
Gym - Barnford Hill Park - Junior & Toddler

BMX - Norman Deeley Play Area, Muga & BMX

Gym - Farley Park Playground

Gym - Haden Hill Park MUGA & Play Area

Gym - Red House Park Toddler & Junior Play Area

Gym - Brunswick Park Play Area

BMX - Victoria Park Tipton Toddler PA2

BMX - Farley Park Playground

MUGA - New MUGA at Jubilee Park (funding through Small Sided…

Outdoor Sports Facilities Programme of Works 22/23 by Site

26
MUGA 10-
year line 
marking

2 NEW MUGA

P
age 176



SPECIFIC FUNDED PROGRAMME OF WORKS DASHBOARD

£2,000 

£10,586 

£3,000 

£7,000 

£8,000 

£750 

£3,000 

£3,000 

£3,000 

£5,000 

£1,000 

£4,250 

£1,000 

£2,500 

£2,000 

£2,000 

£8,000 

£6,000 

£600 

£2,000 

£10,000 

£5,000 

£20,000 

£10,000 

£10,000 

£20,000 

£40,000 

Bandstand Repairs

Facilities improvements for weddings and venue hire

Bin enclosure

Upgrade WiFi for users and venue hire

Repair or floor to Long Room (to Heritage Standards)

Repainting in Long Room (to Heritage standards)

repair/upgrade of public toilets

Lighting on front of house improved (safety issue)

uplighters (coloured) on front of house repaired

Repairs to tiled floor in reception (quarry tiles from Italy)

Repair to the clock on front of building

Heating system upgrade

Baiting around garden

Floodlights in garden (exit)

Fire compliance work on Marquee

External electric points improved (watertight)

Improve electricity supply in garden

Permanent lights in garden

Signage for internal (lift, toilets etc)

Upgrade on disabled access lift

Shakespeare Garden intepretation

Fountain improvements

Tree Survey and Tree Works

Skatepark repairs and improvements

Purpose built bar for wedding hire

Pop up coffee cabin

Wedding offer improvements

22/23 Lightwoods House Spend (Funded)

£5,500 

£6,750 

£4,750 

£10,250 

£64,000 

Somerset Green

Kesteven Green

Denbeigh Drive

Westminster / Marsh Lane

Mill Pool

22/23 Hateley Cross Big Local Spend

£50,000 

£60,000 

£10,000 

£437,000 
£75,000 

£2,000 

£40,000 

£100,000 

£40,000 

£72,700 

Civils for Changing Rooms

Utilities Upgrade

Main Entrance Improvements

Car Park Improvements and Street Lighting

Pathway Renewal and Installation

Tree Surveys

Tree works

Play Area

Design Fees (23/24)

CONTINGENCY (10%) (23/24)

22/23 Britannia Park Town's Fund Spend

£887k
Britannia 

Park 22/23 
Spend

£92k
Hateley

Cross 22/23 
Spend

£190k
Lightwoods 
House 22/23 

Spend

P
age 177



£30,000 
£-

£22,038 

£20,000 

£-

£10,000 

£5,000 

£2,000 

Interpretation and Signage

Snagging Works to West Smethwick Park
Pavilion

Digital Screens and Furniture Improvements
to West Smethwick Park Pavilion

Sons of Rest Refurbishment

Caseys contractor snagging works

Remaining landscape works to SUDS &
Junior Football Pitch

Repair to Pool Aerators

Bat survey to chaning rooms and toilet
blocks

West Smethwick Park NLHF Project 22/23 Spend

£5,000 

£10,000 

£45,000 
£5,000 

£20,000 

£6,000 

£5,000 

Master Planning for Black Patch Park

Grounds Improvements

Fencing and Entrance Improvements

Tree Survey and Tree Works

Other Works (to be confirmed from Master
Scoping)

Interpretation improvements

Tree Planting

Black Patch Park Levelling Up Project 22/23 
Spend

Funding spend plans for:

UKSPF
SANDWELL URBAN BIKE TRACK

ENGLISH CRICKET BOARD
OTHER FUNDING (S106)

To be published in January dashboard.

P
age 178



22/23 Green Spaces Strategy Programme of Works – November 2022 Update 

1 – For up to date programme of works published quarterly, and the Green Spaces Strategy visit www.sandwell.gov.uk 
 

Play Areas 

Balls Hall Play Area Zip slide/Wire refurbishment 

Bilston Road Open Space Norm D Play Area Refurbishment, Play Area Equipment Improvements 

Brickhouse Play Area New Roundabout / Maintenance Repairs 

Brindley Village Doulton Dr Play Area Safety Surface Improvements, Repairs 

Broadwell Park Play Area Refurbishment, Play Area Equipment Improvements 

Brunswick Park  New Roundabout   

Bury Hill Park Play Area Safety Surface Improvements, Repairs 

Charlemont Open Space Play Area New Roundabout, Basket Swing Install 

Churchfields Play Area Safety Surface Improvements, Repairs 

Dartmouth Park Play Area Refurbishment, Play Area Equipment Improvements, Zip Slide 

Galton Village Play Area Safety Surface Improvements, Play Equipment Replacements 

Harry Mitchell Park Play Area Refurbishment, Play Area Equipment Improvements 

Hill Top Park Play Area Safety Surface Improvements, Repairs 

Hydes Road Play Area Safety Surface Improvements, Repairs 

Laybourne Park Play Area (NEW PLAY AREA) New Play area including swing, spring, safety surfacing and bin 

Oakwood Park Play Area 
Replace safety surface under junior swings, new spring and safety surface, 4 new bins, refurb viking 
swing 

Lightwoods Park Play Area Play area items refurbishment  

Lyng Play Area New play equipment and new safety surface 

Marl Hole Park Play Area Refurbishment, Play Area Equipment Improvements 

Mousesweet Play Area Refurbishment, Play Area Equipment Improvements 

Pitfields Close Play Area All new safety surface 

Redhouse Park Play Area New safety surface, edge repairs, replacement of items, Zip Wire, Basket Swing Install 

Ron Davies Close Play Area Safety Surface Improvements, Repairs 

Sandwell Valley Adventure Play area Refurbishment, Play Area Equipment Improvements, Zip Slide 

Timbertree Open Space & Play Area Refurbishment, Play Area Equipment Improvements 

Victoria Park Smk Play Area Safety Surface Improvements, Play Equipment Replacements 

Victoria Park Tipton Play Area Safety Surface Improvements, Play Equipment Replacements, Zip slide 

West Smethwick Park Play Area Refurbishment, Play Area Equipment Improvements 

P
age 179



22/23 Green Spaces Strategy Programme of Works – November 2022 Update 

2 – For up to date programme of works published quarterly, and the Green Spaces Strategy visit www.sandwell.gov.uk 
 

  

Basket Swing Install 

Brades Green Play Area  Basket Swing Install new bearing/chains/seat complete 

Charlemont Open Space Play Area  Basket Swing Install new bearing/chains/seat complete 

Kent Rd  Basket Swing Install new bearing/chains/seat complete 

Mary MacArthur Gdns  Basket Swing Install new bearing/chains/seat complete 

Redhouse Park Play Area  Basket Swing Install new bearing/chains/seat complete 

Redwood Road Play Area  Basket Swing Install new bearing/chains/seat complete 

  

Zip Slides 

Tividale Park Zip slide/Wire refurbishment 

Ratcliffe Park Play Area Zip slide/Wire refurbishment 

Victoria Park Tipton Play Area Zip slide/Wire refurbishment 

Langley Park Play Area Zip slide/Wire refurbishment 

Redhouse Park Play Area Zip slide/Wire refurbishment 

Jubilee Park Play Area Zip slide/Wire refurbishment 

Redwood Road Play Area Zip slide/Wire refurbishment 

  

BMX and Skate Parks 

BMX - Norman Deeley Play Area, Muga & BMX Repairs and Surfacing  

BMX - Barnford Hill Park - Junior & Toddler Repairs and Surfacing  

BMX - Brunswick Park Play Area Repairs and Surfacing  

BMX - Charlemont Open Space and Skate Park Repairs and Surfacing  

BMX - Farley Park Playground Repairs and Surfacing  

BMX - Lightwoods House and Park  Repairs and Surfacing 

BMX - Victoria Park Tipton Toddler PA2 Repairs and Surfacing  

  

Outdoor Gyms 

Gym - King George V Playing Fields Repairs and Refurbishments 

Gym - Red House Park Toddler & Junior Play Area Repairs and Refurbishments 

P
age 180



22/23 Green Spaces Strategy Programme of Works – November 2022 Update 

3 – For up to date programme of works published quarterly, and the Green Spaces Strategy visit www.sandwell.gov.uk 
 

Gym - Tipton Linear Park  Repairs and Refurbishments 

Gym - Langley Park Play Area Repairs and Refurbishments 

Gym - Haden Hill Park MUGA & Play Area Repairs and Refurbishments 

Gym - Farley Park Playground Repairs and Refurbishments 

Gym - Brunswick Park Play Area Repairs and Refurbishments 

Gym - Broadwell Park Junior & Toddler Repairs and Refurbishments 

Gym - Barnford Hill Park - Junior & Toddler Repairs and Refurbishments 

  

Muti Use Games Areas (MUGAS) 

MUGA - Barnford Hill Park - Junior & Toddler Line Marking 
MUGA - Bearmore Open Space, Play Area and 
MUGA Line Marking 

MUGA - Black Patch Park  Line Marking 

MUGA - Brades Green Play Area & MUGA Line Marking 
MUGA - Britannia Park Junior, Toddler, MUGA & 
Skatepark Line Marking 

MUGA - Bury Hill Park  Line Marking 

MUGA - Brunswick Park Play Area Line Marking 

MUGA - Farley Park Playground Line Marking 

MUGA - Friar Park Open Space, Play Area & MUGA Line Marking 
MUGA - New MUGA at Jubilee Park (funding through 
Small Sided Playing Pitches Project) New Muga Improvements 

MUGA - Galton Village Heritage Centre Line Marking 
MUGA - Greets Green Open Space, Play Area & 
Muga Line Marking 

MUGA - Haden Hill Park MUGA & Play Area Line Marking 
MUGA - Harry Mitchell Park MUGA and Natural Play 
Area Line Marking 

MUGA - Jubilee Park Trim Trail & Play Area Line Marking 

MUGA - Kenrick Park Play Area, Skate & Muga Line Marking 
MUGA - Lightwood Park Play Area, MUGA & 
Wheeled Sports Line Marking 

P
age 181



22/23 Green Spaces Strategy Programme of Works – November 2022 Update 

4 – For up to date programme of works published quarterly, and the Green Spaces Strategy visit www.sandwell.gov.uk 
 

MUGA - Montague Road Junior & Toddler Line Marking 

MUGA - Norman Deeley Play Area, Muga & BMX Line Marking 
MUGA - Oakwood Park Natural Play Area, Play Area 
& MUGA Line Marking 

MUGA - Queensway Open Space Line Marking 

MUGA - Red House Park Toddler & Junior Play Area Line Marking 

MUGA - Redwood Road Play Area Line Marking 

MUGA - Tividale Park Play Area, MUGA & Fitness Line Marking 
MUGA - Victoria Park Smethwick Junior, Toddler & 
Fitness Line Marking 

MUGA - Victoria Park Tipton Toddler PA2 Line Marking 

MUGA - West Smethwick Park Play Area & MUGA MUGA Refurbishment and Play Zone Project 

  

Playgrounds - EasyGate Repairs 

Barnford Park Play Area 4 Easygates 

Bearmore Open Space & Play Area 2 Easygates 

Bilston Road Open Space Norm D Play Area 2 Easygates 

Brades Green Play Area 2 Easygates 

Brindley Village Play Area 2 Easygates 

Britannia Park Play Area 4 Easygates 

Broadwell Park Play Area 2 Easygates 

Brunswick Park Play Area 2 Easygates 

Bury Hill Park Play Area 2 Easygates 

Carnegie Drive Play Area 1 Easygate 

Cuin Road Play Area  2 Easygates 

Charlemont Open Space Play Area 2 Easygates 

Cradley Heath Community Centre Play Area 1 Easygate 

Galton Village Play Area 2 Easygates 

Greets Green Open Space Play Area 2 Easygates 

Haden Hill Park Play Area 2 Easygates 

Hartlebury Road/Harry price Hse Play Area 2 Easygates 

P
age 182



22/23 Green Spaces Strategy Programme of Works – November 2022 Update 

5 – For up to date programme of works published quarterly, and the Green Spaces Strategy visit www.sandwell.gov.uk 
 

Hill Top Park Play Area 4 Easygates 

Hydes Road Play Area 2 Easygates 

Jubilee Park Play Area 2 Easygates 

Kenrick Park Play Area 2 Easygates 

Langley Park Play Area 2 Easygates 

Lewisham Park Play Area 2 Easygates 

Lightwoods Park Play Area 2 Easygates 

Lyng Play Area 2 Easygates 

Marl Hole Park Play Area 4 Easygates 

Montague Road Play Area 2 Easygates 

Pitfields Close Play Area 2 Easygates 

Redhouse Park Play Area 2 Easygates 

Redwood Road Play Area 3 Easygates 

Ridding Mound Open Space Play Area 2 Easygates 

Ron Davies Close Play Area 1 Easygate 

Smethwick Hall Park Play Area 1 Easygate 

St Giles Court Play Area 2 Easygates 

Timbertree Open Space & Play Area 1 Easygate 

Tividale Park Play Area 2 Easygates 

Unett Street Open Space Play Area 3 Easygates 

Victoria Park Tipton Play Area 1 Easygate 

Victoria Park Play Area 4 Easygates 

Wallace Close/Darley House Play Area 4 Easygates 

Wednesbury Oak PF Play Area 2 Easygates 

West Smethwick Park Play Area 3 Easygates 

York Road Open Space Play Area 2 Easygates 

  

Britannia Park Town's Fund Refurbishment 

Changing Rooms (23/24) New inclusive and accessible changing rooms for informal sports 

Civils for Changing Rooms As above 

P
age 183



22/23 Green Spaces Strategy Programme of Works – November 2022 Update 

6 – For up to date programme of works published quarterly, and the Green Spaces Strategy visit www.sandwell.gov.uk 
 

Utilities Upgrade As above 

Basketball Upgrade & Relocation New basketball facilities and relocation  

Main Entrance Improvements (23/24) Accessible improvements for entrance 

Car Park Improvements and Street Lighting Additional car parking facilities and lighting for increase use for informal sports 

Pathway Renewal and Installation New pathways to improve accessibility and allow for increased use 

Additional Pathways (23/24) As above 
Entrance Improvements- Ross / Mackmillan Rd 
(23/24) Accessible improvements for entrance 

Tree Surveys Survey trees in park to identify works required 

Tree works  Tree works and improvement for woodland management 

Tree Planting (23/24) New tree planting project, based on tree surveys 

Allotment Extension (23/24) New allotments for community food production 

Grass Sports Pitch Improvements (23/24) Improvements to playing pitches for increase informal and fomal sports use 

MUGA Upgrade and Improvements (23/24) Improved multi-use games area 

Trim Trail & Contemplation Garden (23/24) New features in the park to improve use and for mental health and wellbeing  
Biodiversity upgrades to edges and glade, 
Horticultural improvements (23/24) Conservation improvements 

Skatepark (23/24) New Skatepark facilities for informal skating and BMX 

Play Area New  play area for toddlers and juniors 

Site Furniture (23/24) Improved benches and bins on site 

Interpretation (23/24) Improved intepretation of park features 

Design Fees Design costs associated with the above improvements 

CONTINGENCY (10%) (23/24) Contingency for above improvements 

  

Hateley Cross Big Local  

Somerset Green  Installation of Basketball and Goal Posts 

Kesteven Green  Installation of 4 x benches and 2 x bins 

Denbeigh Drive Installation of goal posts, 2 x bins, Tree Survey 

Westminster / Marsh Lane Lifting & cutting back og overgrown shrubbery; Installation of 2 bins 

Mill Pool Removal of existing redundant infrastructure; installation of 4 bins and 4 benches; tree survey 

Mill Pool Entrance improvements to Rydding Lane; Beverly Road; Footpath Repairs 

P
age 184



22/23 Green Spaces Strategy Programme of Works – November 2022 Update 

7 – For up to date programme of works published quarterly, and the Green Spaces Strategy visit www.sandwell.gov.uk 
 

Mill Pool Intepretation Strategy and Installation 

Mill Pool Grounds Maintenance Uplift (Grounds Works) 

  

Black Patch Park - Levelling Up Fund Project 

Master Planning for Black Patch Park Ecological survey, consultation sessions, and master plan for further improvements/funding 

Grounds Improvements Improvements to the vegetation, overgrowth, fly tips and grounds 

Fencing and Entrance Improvements Secure entrances and exits, improve accessibility, repair surfaces, secure fly tip hot spots 

Tree Survey and Tree Works Survey all trees and deal with urgent works and woodland management 

Other Works (to be confirmed from Master Scoping) To be determined following master scoping 

Interpretation improvements Improvements to intepretation for wildlife and conservation 

Tree Planting Tree planting in identified areas, for sustainable planting 

  

Green Space Improvements 

Red House Park   Repair steps,  

Red House Park Pavilion Internal Painting, replacement ceiling tiles, internal leak issues, Digital Door Locks 

Corngreaves Nature Reserve H&S issue - Repair steps 

Bin Replacement Project  Installation of replacement bins (x80) across various sites 

Kenrick Park - Footway Resurfacing Resurfacing of works affected tree root damaged footways, bins to be replaced (8) 

Haden Hill - Footway Resurfacing Resurfacing of works affected tree root damaged footways 

Harry Mitchell Park Drainage improvements & step repairs 

Farley Park Footpath & step repairs 

St Martins Way Open Space Improvements Tree works, cutting back, new bins install, new lights install, tarmac pathworks 
Bearwood Road - Asbestos Roof Removal and 
Replacement Match funding as part of roof replacement at Bearwood Allotments Shop 

Haden Hill Toilets Refurb / Digital Locks  

King George V Pavilion  Improvements and digital locks 

Broadwell Park  Grounds Improvement Works 

Bury Hill Park  Grounds Improvement Works 

Lewisham Park  Grounds Improvement Works 

Haden Hill Toilets   Refurb and Digital Locks for reopening 

P
age 185



22/23 Green Spaces Strategy Programme of Works – November 2022 Update 

8 – For up to date programme of works published quarterly, and the Green Spaces Strategy visit www.sandwell.gov.uk 
 

Dartmouth Park Pavilion  Various refurbishment works  

Dartmouth Park   Bandstand refurbishment - rotten timbers 

Brunswick Park  Benches, bins, Clock  

Gospel Oak Amenity Space 
Joint project with Public Health to improve a local amenity green space, and pilot community 
allotment 

The Railer  Entrance improvements, install of gym equipment, grounds improvements 

Victoria Park Smethwick  English Cricket Board funded project for 12 new synthetic cricket wickets and facilities 

Allotments refurbishments Refurbishments to allotments for 91 plots to address waiting list 

  

West Smethwick Park NLHF Project 

Interpretation and Signage Interpretation of Heritage and Conservation features 
Snagging Works to West Smethwick Park 
Pavilion Snagging works to new Pavilion completed at no cost from contractor  
Digital Screens and Furniture Improvements to 
West Smethwick Park Pavilion  Installation of screens for venue hire / internal information and accessible furniture 

Sons of Rest Refurbishment New Kitchen, painting and other improvement works 

Casey’s contractor snagging works Site works to be completed (separate list on tracker) 
Remaining landscape works to SUDS & Junior 
Football Pitch  

Repair to Pool Aerators  

Bat survey to changing rooms and toilet blocks  

  

Lightwoods House and Park NLHF Project and Improvements 

Bandstand Repairs Repairs to the roof and other minor repairs 
Facilities improvements for weddings and venue 
hire Dishwasher, shelving, washing machine, dryer, project and screen, wheelie whiteboards 

Bin enclosure  Improvements to bin to reduce overflow waste and appearance 

Upgrade WiFi for users and venue hire Improved WiFi for access for users of building and venue hire income 
Repair or floor to Long Room (to Heritage 
Standards) Repair to scratches and cuffs in flooring 

Repainting in Long Room (to Heritage standards) Renew painting where required to Heritage standards 

repair/upgrade of public toilets  Improvements to the Public Toilets, including digital access system 

P
age 186



22/23 Green Spaces Strategy Programme of Works – November 2022 Update 

9 – For up to date programme of works published quarterly, and the Green Spaces Strategy visit www.sandwell.gov.uk 
 

Lighting on front of house improved (safety 
issue)  New lighting at Front of House for late night access / usage / safety 

uplighters (coloured) on front of house repaired  Improvements to lighting for front of building 
Repairs to tiled floor in reception (quarry tiles 
from Italy) Repairs to floor to Heritage Standards 

Repair to the clock on front of building Repairs to clock to working order 

Heating system upgrade Improvements to heating system for users and venue hire 

Baiting around garden  Additional secure baiting around the Garden for pest control 

Floodlights in garden (exit) Improvements to Garden for evening use 

Fire compliance work on Marquee Emergency lighting in Marquee, Extinguishers for Marquee, reduction in size 

External electric points improved (watertight)  For use outside for external hire and events 

Improve electricity supply in garden  For use outside for external hire and events 

Permanent lights in garden  For use outside for external hire and events 

Signage for internal (lift, toilets etc)  Improvements to accessibility 

Upgrade on disabled access lift  Improvements to accessibility 

New furniture  For Weddings and Venue Hire 
New equipment and facilities for Wedding Hire 
use Glasses, Table Wear, Wedding PA System, Wedding Sahes and Decorations, Wedding Equipment 

Shakespeare Garden interpretation  Interpretation of planting areas and garden features reflecting Shakespeare plays 

Fountain improvements Improved lighting and increased water spray 

Tree Survey and Tree Works Survey tree stock and improvements to woodland management 

Purpose built bar for wedding hire To increase income from wedding and venue hire 

Pop up coffee cabin To increase income from coffees and snacks from park users 

Wedding offer improvements  Wedding and venue hire marketing, video, offer scoping to future proof income 

  

  

Sheepwash Nature Reserve 

Remove/cover old play area stones  
Landscape area around play area stones , top soil  
Play area-  wildflower area (prepare ground and 
sow/plant)  

P
age 187



22/23 Green Spaces Strategy Programme of Works – November 2022 Update 

10 – For up to date programme of works published quarterly, and the Green Spaces Strategy visit www.sandwell.gov.uk 
 

Mow/cut back/open primary & secondary 
footpaths  
Overhanging trees along footpath (various 
locations)  
Old brickhouse walkway - pesticide application 
where suitable near waterbody  
Hedge cutting Arnhem way - Tame road  
Replace/repair mesh fencing at Arnhem way 
adopted land  
Fencing repairs at Anne Close   
Assess steps near railway bank (options to 
remove or replace explored)  
Maintain tunnel drainage (jet and scrape - 
contractor)  
Assess water safety signs (replace damaged 
signs)  
Fishing platform removal Johns Lane Pool  
Johns Lane pool bankside fishing areas 
(encouraging fishing to designated area)  
Assess/improve disabled access  
Maintain fingerposts  
Meadow restoration (Blackthorn control)  
Meadow management projects (pilot a low 
growing meadow)  
Continue selective plantation thinning (rotational 
compartments)  
Remove old plantation fencing (per plantation 
block)  
Woodland flora planting (multiple sites via 
community groups and volunteers)  
Water vegetation management  
Hedgerow flailing (Tractor)  
Island vegetation clear (after next breeding 
season / contractor availability)   
Strimming/mowing infrastructure  
Hedgerow cutting  

P
age 188



22/23 Green Spaces Strategy Programme of Works – November 2022 Update 

11 – For up to date programme of works published quarterly, and the Green Spaces Strategy visit www.sandwell.gov.uk 
 

Interpretation print and install  

  

Hollywood Nature Reserve 

Overhanging trees on Whitecrest school 
(previous issue unresolved)  
Restore footpath on Queslett road entrance/ 
replace entrance gate  
Boundary fence replacement along Queslett road  
vehicle access gate replacement  
Install water safety signs at entrances (missed 
from restoration)  
Rear meadow restoration (pilot restoration project with volunteers / community groups)  

Monitor/liaise with motorway management over 
Knotweed on boundary  
Invasive species control (rhododendron/bramble) 
(Rolling compartment work)  
Main entrance repairs to accessibility / chicane / 
path entrance  
Pond improvement (de-silting/vegetation clear)  
Woodland flora increase  
Footpath clear throughout site  
Front grassland strim/rake  
Refresh noticeboard information   

  

Warrens Hall Nature Reserve 

Top island Pool  -Footpath restoration/tree 
works/vegetation management  
Top Island Pool fishing platforms  
Top Island Pool - vegetation works, tree works  
Hedge cutting along Dudley Road to warrens 
Farm (side arm flail)  
Replace fence at Counterfield Drive entrance to 
deter vehicle access  
Assess steps to viewing mound (replace/restore)  

P
age 189



22/23 Green Spaces Strategy Programme of Works – November 2022 Update 

12 – For up to date programme of works published quarterly, and the Green Spaces Strategy visit www.sandwell.gov.uk 
 

Replace wooden entrance/chicane at Banklands 
rd  
Tree survey/ thinning (Strip of land opposite 
canal)  
Overhanging trees along Springfield lane  
Graffiti removal from heritage engine house  
Removal of redundant gate between Dudley 
road/Counterfield.  
New interpretation  for historical features  
Access gate into property boundary Burmese 
way  
Remove damaged bench - South canal  
Assess/review mowing regime (Dudley rd/Bank 
lands)  
Assess fly tipping control measures  
Vegetation works - overhanging trees  
Hedge cutting Springfield lane  
Plantation work programme  
Wildflower areas/meadow management (top 
footpath compartments/new footpath)  
strimming footpaths/infrastructure  
Woodland plug planting/understorey planting  
Car park maintenance - 
hedges/trees/gutters/grass bank  
Replace rotten bollards (Dudley road  - Top island 
pool entrance)  
Dudley Road Car Park Clearance  

  

Warrens Hall Farm Nature Reserve 

Remove and replace lock for Dudley rd bollard  
Hedge cutting from fishing pool to top of site  
Vegetation management on secondary footpath 
and Wendover road  

P
age 190



22/23 Green Spaces Strategy Programme of Works – November 2022 Update 

13 – For up to date programme of works published quarterly, and the Green Spaces Strategy visit www.sandwell.gov.uk 
 

Assessment of erosion on secondary footpath - 
repair if necessary  
Assessment of railway sleeper bridges - ownership/maintenance queries between SMBC- riding school 

Encroaching vegetation (tree line/hedges) along 
primary footpath  
Fishing platform repairs/improvements  
Meadow management, cutting - improvement 
works  
Strimming footpaths/infrastructure  
Restoring/scraping  footpaths from 
erosion/accumulation of vegetation  
Remove dead trees and overhanging branches  

  

Codsall Coppice Nature Reserve 

Report fly tip and asbestos  
Redundant infrastructure removal (fences,edging 
boards,steps,signs)  
Restore or replace steps (western end of reserve)  
Hedge cutting along Codsall road  
Vegetation management - entrances/footpaths  
Garden/fly tip/domestic waste along housing 
border removal  
Tree survey/canopy reduction along residents 
border across whole site  
Understorey assessment - planting approach for 
trees (quote for whips required)  
Entrance points-  install motorcycle traps or 
chicanes  
Codsall road fence line (120 m) (remove fallen 
fence)  
Research and develop new signage/interpretation 
panels  
Remove fallen tree limbs from footpaths  
Falle oak limb and hung up branches  

P
age 191



22/23 Green Spaces Strategy Programme of Works – November 2022 Update 

14 – For up to date programme of works published quarterly, and the Green Spaces Strategy visit www.sandwell.gov.uk 
 

Create nursery of service tree sapling to plant 
later within the winter  
Compartment 1 - Wildflower area vegetation 
management  
Compartment 1 - wildflower area vegetation 
management  

  

Gorse Farm Wood 

Bridge/dam at pond -  replace and review  
Replace fence in pond area  
Pond works - de-silt / remove excess vegetation  
Improve main entrance aesthetics - re-establish 
damaged heather  
Heathland restoration - removal of broom and 
other invasive spp.  
Resolve drainage issue and sleeper bridge on 
lower path/ accessible to mowers  
Water safety signage repair / replace as 
necessary  
Thin cherry trees in north-west corner  
Remove domestic waste/ fly-tipping around 
edges of reserve  
Bracken control  
Boardwalk maintenance/replace  
Understorey assessment - planting  
Footpath strimming / mowing  
Hedgerow cutting/flail  
interpretation design and install  

  

Mousesweet Brook Nature Reserve 

Zig zag path restoration - edging/stone  
Replace fencing near culvert  
Viewing platform (remove) - fence off water 
course  

P
age 192



22/23 Green Spaces Strategy Programme of Works – November 2022 Update 

15 – For up to date programme of works published quarterly, and the Green Spaces Strategy visit www.sandwell.gov.uk 
 

Evaluate carry out remaining tree works on lower 
reserve  
Wooden bridge repair/replacement leading to 
Saltwells NNR  
Pond dams/repair maintenance  
Tree coppicing  
Meadow assessment and management plan put 
in place  
Improvement works on selected meadows  
Invasive species survey and  treatment 
programme  
Remove redundant infrastructure  
Strimming footpaths/infrastructure  
Remove damaged entrance points on Forge Lane 
and replace with drop bollards  
Interpretation boards - design and install  
Replace water safety signs x 3  
Weed ducks area  

  

Sandwell Valley - Priory Woods 

Repair/ remove fencing across site 

Security of the Ice House 

Repair / remove sculptures in Park Farm Wood (dragonfly, bird feeding station, etc.) 

Assess steps around lakes and repair as necessary 

Investigate flooding on footpath adjacent Ice House Pool and Ha Ha 

Repair boundary fence along golf course  
Water safety signage repair / replace as 
necessary  
Remove fallen / hung up trees  
Repair viewing platforms on pools  
Heathland management - removal of trees  
Remove Heron Trail infrastructure  

P
age 193



22/23 Green Spaces Strategy Programme of Works – November 2022 Update 

16 – For up to date programme of works published quarterly, and the Green Spaces Strategy visit www.sandwell.gov.uk 
 

Improve the Ice House area - interpretation  
Ivy management  
Repair interpretation panel at Ha Ha  
Improve the privet hedge around the Sand Well  
Improve management of Junior Ranger meadow -  
Open up less managed footpaths/ desire lines  
Strimming and mowing of footpaths  
Maintenance of pool platforms  
Hedgerow cutting  
Veteran tree management  
Priory / Sand Well maintenance  

  

Sandwell Valley - Sots Hole 

Rotten bench on entrance green (remove)  
Investigate recurring hole/collapsed drain  
Remove pond dipping platform  
Tree works - Damaged/wind swept/ hung up  
Assess water safety signs (replace damaged 
signs)  
Steps  - replace timbers with concrete kerbstones  
Eroding marshland walk footpath  
Invasive species survey and  treatment 
programme - Balsam/Knotweed  
Managing Ivy  
Pond clearance/desilting  
Footpath Strimming  
Small hedge cutting on green (regular enquiry)  
Tree lifting  
Vegetation clearance around sluice/dam  
Design and Print Material for notice board  

P
age 194



22/23 Green Spaces Strategy Programme of Works – November 2022 Update 

17 – For up to date programme of works published quarterly, and the Green Spaces Strategy visit www.sandwell.gov.uk 
 

  

Sandwell Valley - Forge Mill Lake 

Footpath works - hedgerow/vegetation/tree 
various locations  
Replacement/removal of post & rail fencing along 
footpaths  
Water safety sign replacement  
Scraping/removal and treatment of blackthorn 
regenerating from lakeside footpath  
Field boundary management (side arm flail)  
Island vegetation clearance  
Selective area of bankside vegetation removal  
Wildflower area management (cut and collect 
Orchid areas)  
Footpath clearance/strimming  

 

P
age 195



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 

 
 

Cabinet Member Briefing – 24th August 2022 
 

Subject: Friends Partnership Agreement and Ways of Working 

Cabinet Member: Cabinet Member for Leisure and Tourism, Councillor Laura 
Rollins  

Director: Alice Davey - Director of Borough Economy 

Key Decision: No – For Information  

Contact Officer: (Interim) Service Manager – Parks, Sandwell Valley & Events 
– Matt Huggins  

 
1. Summary 

 

1.1 The Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22 – 25, commits to a 

refreshed approach to working with Friends Groups in Sandwell. This includes:  

 

• Moving to a Partnership Agreement between Friends Groups and the Council, and 

that Friends Groups who enter this partnership agreement are recognised by the 

Council as a Friends of (Green Space).  

 

• Improving the information, signposting, and support available to Friends Groups to 

set up, develop, and carry out their work to improve the Green Space.  

 

• Agreeing channels of communication and ways of working between Friends Groups 

and the Council to effectively manage Council resources and work in a more 

transparent and equitable way across all Friends Groups.  

 

1.2 The approved decision of Cabinet on 20th June (Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and 

Business Plan 22 – 25 Cabinet Report – 1.5), was:  

 

That approval be given to the proposed new ways of working with Friends Groups, and the 

Cabinet Member for Leisure and Tourism be authorised to approve the final agreement with 

Friends Groups following consultation. 

 

1.3 The Director of Borough Economy, Cabinet Member for Leisure and Tourism, and the 

Assistant Director: Green Spaces, Green Services, Events, met with Friends Groups on 17th 

August to present the intended approach to ways of working. The follow up letter to Friends 

Group and presentation given is attached to this report.  

 

1.4 The next steps are:  

 

• Approve the draft agreement for consultation to commence with Friends Groups (Cabinet 

Member for Leisure and Tourism – 24 August).  

 

 

Page 197



2 

• Draft Partnership Agreement and survey sent to all Friends Groups; consultation open 

through the survey until 14th September (25th August).  

 

• Final Partnership Agreement presented to Cabinet Member for Leisure and Tourism for 

approval (15th September).  

 

• Friends Groups written to with final Partnership Agreement and timeline for registering a 

Friends Group with the Council (from 19th September).   

 

2. Background  

 

2.1 Friends Groups are dedicated local people who work together to improve the appearance, 

facilities, and quality and value of a green space. This include Friends Groups for parks and 

gardens, amenity green spaces, play areas, nature reserves, and green corridors. 

 

2.2 Friends Groups activities include: 
 

• Leading walks, talks, events and activities. 

• Fundraising for improvements in the green space. 

• Championing and promoting the green space to the community. 

• Helping to inform the improvements for the green space, including bigger funding and 
investment projects. 

• Volunteering time and coordinating volunteer activity in maintaining and improving the 
green space. 

• Practical tasks like litter picks, tree planting, weeding, and education visits. 
 

2.3 Friends Groups are a group of people in the community volunteering their time to work to 
improve the green space. This includes working in partnership with the Council (the land 
owner or manager of the green space). 
 

2.4 Currently there are 14 Friends Groups listed as working with the Council. Activity varies 
between Friends Groups, and we do not currently have data on the fundraising, 
volunteering, or activities undertaken by Friends Groups in Sandwell. However, we do have 
examples of best practice ranging from extensive volunteering and fundraising by the 
Friends of Dartmouth Park, and Lightwoods House Volunteers, to the refreshing and support 
of a local level green space by the Friends of Goldicroft Park. There are also examples of 
Friends Groups doing excellent work for non-parks; such as The Friends of Sots Hole, and 
The Friends of Sheepwash (both nature reserves).  
 

2.5 Many Councils already have in place partnership agreements for Friends Groups. These 
partnership agreements exist to offer clarity about the relationship between the land owner / 
or management lead for the Green Space, and the Friends Group for that Green Space. 
Sandwell Council has not had an agreement in place with Friends Groups for some time and 
this has impacted on the Council’s ability to work equitably and transparently with all Friends 
Groups, support new Friends Groups to emerge and grow, and maintain focus on the 
delivery of green space priorities set out most recently in our new Green Spaces Strategy.  
 

2.6 There are also some examples of Council Officer time and resources in green spaces being 
focussed on only several locations. The current ways of working – where some Friends 
Groups can have direct access to front line green services operatives and senior officers 

Page 198



3 

daily – favours the more established Friends Groups and does not provide an equitable way 
to distribute officer time.  
 

2.7 It is also the case that Officer time and Council resources must be directed to the delivery of 
the objectives and improvements set by Cabinet in the Green Spaces Strategy 
Implementation and Business Plan 22 – 25.  
 

2.8 There are some examples of installations of new equipment, works taking place in green 
spaces, and other activities (such as events) undertaken by Friends Groups which are not 
approved by the land owner (the Council), or with adequate insurance or governance 
arrangements. Without a clear Partnership Agreement and ways of working, this puts both 
the Council and Friends Groups at risk (financial, legal, reputational, and drift away from 
delivering priorities set by Cabinet).  
 

2.9 The Partnership Agreement will aim to achieve the following:  
 

• The role and responsibilities of the Council and Friends Groups in the improvements and 
management of green spaces. 
 

• What a Friends Group needs to have to be recognised by the Council and have a 
partnership agreement. This will include: 

 
o Boundaries of the green space the friends group cover. 
o A constitution and clear arrangements for committees, election of committee 

members, and terms of office. 
o Arrangements for meetings and decision making. 
o Transparent financial arrangements, including signatory and financial decision 

making. 
o Open access to membership and involvement from the community, including a 

commitment to equality and diversity. 
 

• How a Friends Group is recognised with the council and the process for registering and 
when a Friends Group ceases to exist. 
 

• How the Council and Friends Groups will communicate and meet: including how often 
and who attends. 

 

• The support and advice available to Friends Groups. 
 

2.10 Alongside the Partnership Agreement, the Council will transition to the 
following ways of working with Friends Groups:  
 

• Friends Groups will need to register with the Council, and agree to the Partnership 
Agreement, to access officer time, and support from the Council for the Friends 
Group.  
 

• Events organised by Friends Groups (and not through third party bookings via 
Friends Groups) will be managed through the Event Application Process (which is 
now online). This should already be happening and is not a change to our current 
ways of working.  
 

• Senior Council Officers – including the Assistant Director of Borough Economy 
(Green Spaces, Green Services, Events), the Director of Borough Economy, and the 

Page 199



4 

Cabinet Member for Leisure and Tourism (or delegated attendance for any of the 
senior officers or Cabinet Member) – will meet with all Friends Groups once a 
quarter (grouped by North and South of the Borough). These meetings will be the 
only formally recognised and supported meetings the Council will hold with the 
Friends Groups. The purpose of this meeting is to see our green spaces flourish 
through the hard work and efforts of our Friends Groups, volunteers, and the Council 
working together.  

 

• The reporting of operational day-to-day issues will primarily be through the Council’s 
website and reporting functions.  

 

3. Legal Implications 
 
3.1 The Council has the power under section 10 of the Open Spaces Act 1906 to hold and 

administer the open spaces in trust with the view to the enjoyment of the public and to keep 
and maintain the open spaces in a good and decent condition.  
 

3.2 The Council is also the land owner of many green spaces under the management and 
maintenance of Borough Economy.  
 

3.3 The Partnership Agreement – the final of which will be implemented following consultation – 
will provide a list of requests that need to be met in return for the benefits the Council will 
provide Friends Groups.  
 

3.4 The Local Government Act 1972 section 111 gives the Council the power to enter in to 
arrangements which are ancillary to their power conferred under other statutory obligations. 
The implementation of a Partnership Agreement will also be reviewed by the Council legal 
team to ensure compliance with legislation and the powers of the Council.  
 

4. Decisions 
 

4.1 That the Cabinet Member approves this report, and draft Partnership Agreement for 
consultation to commence with Friends Groups from 25th August.  
 

5. Additional Documents 
 

5.1 Friends Groups Ways of Working Presentation  
5.2 Friends Groups Consultation Meeting Follow Up Letter  
5.3 Friends Groups Draft Partnership Agreement  

 

Page 200



1 
 

 
 

 
 

Cabinet Member Briefing – 21st September 2022 
 
Subject: Friends Final Draft Partnership Agreement and Ways of 

Working  
Cabinet Member: Cabinet Member for Leisure and Tourism, Councillor Laura 

Rollins  
Director: Alice Davey - Director of Borough Economy 
Key Decision: No – For Information  
Contact Officer: Assistant Director – Borough Economy (Green Services, 

Green Spaces, Events): Matthew Huggins – 
matthew_huggins@sandwell.gov.uk 

 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 The Cabinet Member Briefing (24th August – Friends Groups Partnership Agreement and 

Ways of Working) approved a draft partnership agreement and ways of working document 
to be consulted on with Friends Groups.  
 

1.2 A survey was circulated on 25th August to all Friends Groups and available online through 
our website, Sandwell.gov.uk. The closing date was 14th September at 8am. We received a 
total of 9 responses, representing 7 Friends Groups.  
 

2. Consultation Results 
 
2.1 Key points raised during the consultation:  

 
 Concern that the Partnership Agreement was an oversight of Friends Group 

from the Council, and a desire that the current ways of working remain.  
 

This concern has been responded to in the revised draft partnership agreement and 
ways of working text attached to this report. The introduction gives greater 
explanation as to the purpose of the partnership agreement and clarifies the extent to 
which the Council is involved or not in the affairs of Friends Groups. It is also noted 
that this way of working with a partnership agreement between Friends Groups and 
the Council is in already in place in many other Councils.  
 

 Questions about some of the points in the draft Partnership Agreement and 
Ways of Working text; mostly around clarity of language and more explanation 
about what the specific commitment means.  
 
The points where there was some concern or questions raised about clarity of 
language or what this means for Friends Groups have been expanded upon in the 
revised draft partnership agreement.  

 

Page 201



2 

 
 Three respondents raised concerns about the requirement in the Partnership 

Agreement for Friends Group to hold public meetings. It was noted that by 
respondents that this was not their usual practice, and concerns about 
whether this would be practical.  
 
It is recognised that the requirement for 3 public meetings a year will be onerous for 
some Friends Groups without the resources or volunteer time to accommodate this. 
It is though also essential that Friends Group are accessible to all residents, and as 
such this requirement has been amended in the revised partnership agreement for 
one public meeting open to residents a year. We have also offered support with an 
accessible venue to allow for this to happen.  
 

 A concern from one respondent about whether the Partnership Agreement and 
Ways of Working will be possible for them, as they are a Charity.  
 
We have clarified this point in the revised partnership agreement. The structure and 
entity of a Friends Group is not the concern of the Council. However, all Friends 
Groups – regardless of whether a charity – will need to commit to the partnership 
agreement to be formally recognised and supported by the Council as a Friends 
Group.  
 

 A concern from one respondent about the need for Friends Groups to have a 
management agreement or lease in place to be able to continue as key holders 
for buildings owned or managed by the Council.  
 
This has been clarified with the Friends Group and further clarity in the revised 
partnership agreement. The current approach where some Friends Groups hold keys 
or have open access to buildings managed or owned by the Council, without an 
agreement in place, can present a risk to the Friends Group and the Council.  
 

 Concern that the process feels too quick for some Friends Groups and that the 
process lacks consultation.  
 
It is noted that this process is being implemented within a robust timescale. The 
Green Spaces Strategy approved by the Cabinet on 20th June made a commitment 
to implement a partnership agreement and improve ways of working with Friends 
Groups. The Council have had an all Friends Groups meeting with the Cabinet 
Member, Director of Borough Economy, and Assistant Director of Borough Economy, 
and a survey. We have also had representations from Friends Groups outside of 
these formal processes. However, we have proposed an amendment to the 
timescales for review of the partnership agreement, to consider a Cabinet Member 
only review after one full year of implementation.  

 
 Concern about the use of the portal or going through customer services for 

day to day issues. The request has been for a named officer for each Friends 
Group, with direct contact maintained outside of the Quarterly Meetings.  

Page 202



3 

 
It is noted that this will be a change for Friends Groups, some of which are used to 
regular and open access to Council officer time. However, this is not a sustainable 
position and would divert officer time from the commitments made in the Green 
Spaces Strategy. The Council have clarified the communication terms and 
timescales, including the escalation of issues not dealt with, and given further clarity 
on the use of the portal / customer enquiry process outside of the quarterly meetings.  

 
3. Decisions resulting from the consultation survey:  
 
3.1 That the concerns and questions raised about the content of the partnership agreement and 

ways of working draft have been addressed in the revised wording where possible  
 

3.2 That the Council is unable to make the following changes requested by some Friends 
Groups. These requests are that:  
 

 The current ways of working remain the same and that there is no need for a 
Partnership Agreement or formalised approach to ways of working.  
 
The Council is unable to meet this request as it would contradict with the 
commitment approved by the Cabinet in the Green Spaces Strategy Implementation 
and Business Plan on 20th June. The consultation has not presented substantial 
arguments that a formalised approach to working with Friends Groups would not be 
beneficial to the Council, Friends Groups, or the implementation of the Green 
Spaces Strategy. 
  

 Friends Groups have a dedicated council officer to liaise with on a day to day 
basis outside of the quarterly meetings.  
 
The Council is unable to meet this request as the service would not be able to 
sustain this level of commitment to communications with Friends Groups outside of 
the Council’s existing communication channels (customer services enquiries). The 
new ways or working within the partnership agreement also provide a greater level of 
transparency and governance around communication timescales and standards.  

 
3.3 That the Council implement the final draft Partnership Agreement and Ways of Working. The 

Partnership Agreement and Ways of Working approach will be evaluated after its first full 
financial year of operation, with a report to the Cabinet Member on progress and any 
improvements or changes proposed. This evaluation will be presented to the Cabinet 
Member with responsibility for Green Spaces in April 2024.   
 

3.4 That the Assistant Director writes to all Friends Group with responses to their questions and 
concerns, and the final partnership agreement and ways of working document (at the end of 
October 2022).  
 

3.5 Friends Group and the Council transition to the new Partnership Agreement and ways of 
working from 1st October 2022. There is currently no deadline set for Friends Group to sign 
up to the partnership agreement, but this will be reviewed in January. It is expected that all 
Friends Groups who wish to be recognised by the Council formally and benefit from the 
partnership agreement sign up to this by the new financial year at the latest (April 23).  

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Working in Partnership With Friends of 

Parks and Green Spaces 

 

Partnership Agreement 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 205



Friends of Parks and Green Spaces and Sandwell Council: Partnership Agreement 

2 
 

1. Friends Groups and the Council Partnership Commitments 

Friends of Parks and Green Spaces Groups (Friends Groups) are an important 

part of championing, developing, and supporting the maintenance and 

improvement of our Green Spaces. Green Spaces include Parks and Gardens, 

Green Corridors, Amenity Green Spaces, Playing Fields, Nature Reserves, and 

Play Areas. 

We encourage Friends Groups for all these types of Green Spaces, small and 

large. 

This agreement for ways of working reflects our joined-up approach to the 

development and maintenance of our Green Spaces and good governance in 

working between Sandwell Council and Friends Groups. 

2. Purpose of Partnership Agreement and Ways of Working Commitments 

Sandwell Council are committed to the delivery of the Green Spaces Strategy 

Implementation and Business Plan 22 – 25 (available on www.sandwell.gov.uk). 

Friends Groups are a vital part of achieving the improvements needed and set 

out in this strategy for the benefit of all residents. 

This Partnership Agreement between Sandwell Council and Friends Groups will 

help to achieve the commitments within the Green Spaces Strategy 

Implementation and Business Plan 22 – 25 (and future strategies) in the following 

way: 

a. Equity in the ways of working between Sandwell Council and Friends 

Group. This will enable the council to work with and provide support and 

guidance to more Friends Groups. 

 

b. Transparency in the ways of working between Sandwell Council and 

Friends Groups. This will ensure that the commitments made within the 

Green Spaces Strategy, and those within this Partnership Agreement, are 

met. 

 

c. Good Governance arrangements in the way that Sandwell Council and 

Friends Groups operate and work together on the improvement of Green 

Spaces. This will ensure that those working with the Council on representing, 

championing, and working with our Green Spaces are doing so within the any 

laws, rules and regulations required (for example, with good financial 

arrangements, relevant insurances, the correct permissions and agreements 

for undertaking work on Council owned or managed land). 

 

d. Clear expectations on what Sandwell Council – and Council Officers and 

operatives within the Green Spaces service – can offer Friends Groups 

in terms of time and resource. This will ensure that the Council’s resources 

are planned and managed well, and that the focus of officer time is spent on 

delivering the commitments within the Green Spaces Strategy. 

 

Page 206

http://www.sandwell.gov.uk/


Friends of Parks and Green Spaces and Sandwell Council: Partnership Agreement 

3 
 

e. Accessible and representative of the community and residents in the 

way that Sandwell Council and Friends Groups operate when working 

on the improvement of a green space. This will ensure that Friends Groups 

are open and accessible to all residents, and that the Council provide support 

and signposting to improve the diversity and representation from the local 

community when working on the improvement of a green space. 

Friends Groups are responsible for their own affairs, and the Council does not 
seek to involve itself in the management of Friends Groups. The intention of this 
Partnership Agreement is to provide a formality to the relationship. This 
partnership agreement approach is already in place in many Councils. 

3. Working with the Council 
 
a. Friends Groups and the Council commit to a positive way of working for the 

benefit of the green space. 
 

b. Friends Groups are non-political and will not have a political affiliation and not 
seek to intentionally campaign for any political party, group, or individual 
(otherwise risking open engagement with all residents). 
 

c. Friends Groups will not do or fail to do anything that brings the Council into 
disrepute, or puts either public funds, users of the Green Space, or the 
Council at risk. This partnership agreement and ways of working will help 
Friends Groups take reasonable steps to avoid this. To help with this, all 
Committee members for Friends Groups and those involved in publicly 
communicating or representing on behalf of the Friends Group should read 
and understand this partnership agreement and the Friends Group 
constitution. 
 

d. Friends Groups will be voluntary, and committee members or members will 
not benefit financially from the work of the Friends Groups. Steps to ensure 
conflicts of interest are addressed where these might exist for Committee 
members or members of the Friends Group should be included in the 
constitution. 
 

4. Working with Friends Groups 
 

a. Sandwell Council will provide senior officers for a quarterly meeting with all 
recognised Friends Groups (those with a signed Partnership Agreement), split 
by North and South of Sandwell. 
 

b. The attendance from the Council at these meetings will include at least either 
a Director or Assistant Director at each meeting, and the Cabinet Member 
with responsibility for Green Spaces attending one meeting a year for each 
area (North and South).  
 

c. The meeting cycle will usually be four a year: December, March, June, 
September. Dates will be published on the Friends Groups page on 
www.sandwell.gov.uk and sent to all registered Friends Groups.  

Page 207

http://www.sandwell.gov.uk/


Friends of Parks and Green Spaces and Sandwell Council: Partnership Agreement 

4 
 

 

d. Meetings will be held at an accessible and inclusive location and will be 
provided by the Council.  
 

e. Meetings will be 1.5 hours and held early evening (usually 6pm – 7.30pm) to 
help with travel and be more accessible to those working. Where the meeting 
takes place in the darker evenings, the meeting will be held in a venue that is 
easily accessible in the dark. 
 

f. The Quarterly meeting with friends will have an agenda to include the 
following regular items: 
 

I. Best Practice Sharing and Progress (Friends Groups Updates) 
II. Update on Green Spaces Strategy progress (Council Updates) 

III. Fundraising Update for Friends Groups and information sharing on 
grants and funding opportunities available. 

IV. Key Issues for Friends Groups (to be raised in advance of the 
meeting). 

V. Guest speakers to support the training and development of Friends 
Groups. 
 

g. There will be an action log from the meeting for any actions agreed, and this 
will be shared with all registered Friends Groups for the area.  

 
5. Communications 

 
a. The Council will publish an annual programme of works, and quarterly 

progress updates, on www.Sandwell.gov.uk for our Green Spaces. This will 
mean more transparent information is available about the allocation of 
resources and spend Friends Groups and Sandwell Council Partnership 
Agreement commitments for Green Spaces, and what Friends Groups should 
expect from the Council for that year. 
 

b. Friends Groups will communicate operational issues for green spaces through 
the Councils normal reporting systems through www.Sandwell.gov.uk report it 
functions or the MySandwell App. These will be responded to by Council 
Officers through our customer enquiries process, which has clear service level 
timelines for responses. 

 

c. Most operational issues or enquiries that need to be raised outside of the 
quarterly meetings can be addressed through the current Council’s customer 
service enquiry process. This way of communicating ensures that enquiries 
are: 

 

• Allocated to the correct officer and team best placed to handle the 
enquiry (for example, a fly tip will be sent to the team that deals with 
the fly tip, and an issue with a tree will be sent to the team that deals 
with trees). 

 

Page 208

http://www.sandwell.gov.uk/


Friends of Parks and Green Spaces and Sandwell Council: Partnership Agreement 

5 
 

• Responded to within our published timescales for handling enquiries 
(for example, 10 days for a customer enquiry, or within quicker 
timescales for fly tips or emergency issues). 

 

• Those making the enquiries can escalate the issue through the 
enquiries process if they are not happy with the response received. 

 

• The use of the customer enquiry process means that there is a greater 
level of transparency in communications, including ensuring that the 
Council are responding within agreed timescales, and that escalations 
are sent to the right senior officers. 

 

d. Our green spaces team and officers are focussed on the delivery of the 
improvements to our green spaces and will not be able to meet with Friends 
Groups outside these channels or conduct regular site visits with Friends 
Groups, other than the Quarterly meetings. 
 

e. There may be exceptions to this for major funding applications, or projects 
that are part of the programme of approved annual works for the Green 
Space. These exceptions will be specifically outlined in the programme of 
approved annual works. 

 
6. Complaints and Disputes 

 
The Council has a complaints policy, available at www.Sandwell.gov.uk. Where a 
dispute occurs, or a Friends Group has a complaint that has not been able to be 
resolved, the complaints process should be used to escalate the issue further. 
 

7. Events 
 
a. Friends Groups are encouraged to organise fundraising, volunteering, and 

community engagement events in Green Spaces they are Friends of. 
 
b. Friends Groups will be allowed free use of the green space, only for the 

purposes of fundraising, volunteering, and community engagement within the 
Green Space. 

 
c. Friends Groups will still need to complete an event application, which is 

required to ensure the safety of events on Council Land. All events will be 
subject to our standard terms and conditions of booking. 

 
d. Friends Groups are not able to extend or offer out the free use or hire of green 

spaces; this will need to be channelled through the Council’s venue hire / 
event application process. 

 
e. An application for the use of the Green Space for an event must be formally 

approved through the Council’s event application process, before the event is 
publicised. 

 
 

Page 209



Friends of Parks and Green Spaces and Sandwell Council: Partnership Agreement 

6 
 

8. Fundraising and Finance 
 
a. Whilst the governance and finance arrangements are a matter for Friends 

Groups, to be recognised as a Friends Group with Sandwell Council we ask 
that: 
 

i. Transparent records are kept of income and expenditure. 
 

ii. Expenditure for equipment or developments in the green space are checked 
with Sandwell Council. A new bench or piece of play equipment for example 
may become an ongoing maintenance and repair cost to the Council, and as 
such new items of equipment or developments must be approved before 
being installed in Green Spaces owned by the Council. 

 
b. Fundraising is a vital part of Friends Group activities and we encourage this. 

Friends Groups should consult with the Council first on funding applications to 
certain organisations, as these may conflict with Council applications (an 
example is the National Lottery Heritage Fund). As general principle, 
applications for funding above £10,000 should be checked with the Council.  

 
9. Built Facilities Management and Use 

 
a. Friends Groups can book the use of green space-built facilities (i.e. pavilions) 

for the purposes of Friends Groups meetings and activity related to the 
objectives of the Friends Group (detailed in the partnership agreement). 

 
b. Friends Groups will not be key holders or control bookings or use of a Green 

Space Built facility, unless this is part of an approved management agreement 
or lease arrangement. Any current arrangements (informal or formal) will be 
reviewed as part of this partnership agreement, with formal approval required 
by the Director of Borough Economy (with delegated authority to the Assistant 
Director for Borough Economy: Green Spaces, Green Services, Events). 

 
10. Agreement Terms 

 
a. Friends Groups who register with the Council should sign the agreement for 

the ways of working outlined in this document. This agreement will be 
reviewed by the Cabinet Member responsible for Green Spaces every three 
years, and Friends Groups and the Council will sign the agreement on an 
annual basis. 

 
b. Friends Groups who chose not to register with the Council will not be eligible 

for the free use of green spaces for events, or attendance at the quarterly 
Friends group meetings. 

 
c. This partnership agreement is required for all Friends Groups, regardless of 

how they are incorporated. The way in which Friends Groups operate (either 
as a charity, voluntary organisation, or other type of set up) is a matter for 
Friends Groups and does not influence the terms of this partnership 
agreement. 

Page 210



Friends of Parks and Green Spaces and Sandwell Council: Partnership Agreement 

7 
 

Friends Groups Will 

1 
Ensure the Friends Group has a constitution that includes governance 
arrangements, elections of committee, management of finances, and 
decision making.  

2 

When the Friends Group are making proposals for the Green Space, they 
should show that the views of the Friends Group are representative of the 
local community. This could be through open meetings for residents, 
surveys, or consultation groups.  

3 
Hold meetings accessible and open to residents who wish to attend (at 
least one a year).  

4 

Ensure that the meetings, activities, and engagement with residents is 
Inclusive to everyone and reflect the diversity of the area as much as 
possible. For example, this means ensuring that meetings are at venues 
that can be accessed by residents, regardless of political belief, region, 
sexual orientation or identity, or disability. The Council will provide 
signposting and information to Friends Groups on how they might ago 
about this – including offering access to accessible venues (where 
possible) for Friends Groups open meetings.  

5 
Dates for Friends Groups meetings that are open to residents, including an 
Annual General Meeting, to be published on the Council’s Friends Group 
web page.  

6 
Evidence the Friends Group holds an Annual General Meeting (AGM) and 
elections of committee members into posts.  

7 
Work in partnership with officers from the Council and external partners to 
improve the green space.  

8 
To provide between 30 – 50 volunteering hours per year (in total for the 
Friends Group, including all activities) for green space improvement 
activities.  

9 

To provide a programme of works / projects to be undertaken by the 
Friends Group for the improvement of the Green Space, for Council 
approval. This includes any proposed works or projects that will require 
Council resource (including officer or operative time), future investment or 
maintenance costs (such as the install of benches or planting of new trees. 
This does not need to include any works that do not result in work on the 
green space, or that would result in commitments being made for the 
Council to future maintenance costs or resources.  

10 

To have a bank account for the Friends Group, annual report at the time of 
partnership renewal on finances. An annual report can be just a summary 
of events and activities undertaken for year, income and expenditure 
summary, and the elected committee representatives at the time of the 
annual report.  

 

Page 211



Friends of Parks and Green Spaces and Sandwell Council: Partnership Agreement 

8 
 

The Council Will 

1  Provide the park or green space (if appropriate for the type of event) free of 
charge for official Friends Groups events (not 3rd party events via the 
Friends Group). Friends Groups will still have to pay the administration fee 
for the processing of the event application, which includes our Safety 
Advisory Group review of the event.  

2  Work towards application and retention of the Green Flag for the park or 
green space (only for those who currently have a Green Flag Award, or it is 
approved by Cabinet as part of the annual programme of works that a 
green space is working towards this). This includes increased consultation 
with Friends Groups involved in a Green Flag process for a new Green 
Flag award, or an annual discussion with the relevant Friends Group about 
the Green Flag Management Plan for a park or green space that has a 
Green Flag award.  

3  Attendance by a senior officer (Director or Assistant Director level) and 
Cabinet Member at a Quarterly meeting with all Friends Groups.  

4  Provide relevant information, signposting, and online resources to Friends 
Groups (through Sandwell.gov.uk). The Council will also send relevant 
information and resources about the improvement of a Green Space to 
Friends Groups (i.e. a new funding opportunity) by email, as well as 
updating the online information.  

5  Involve the Friends Group on relevant public consultation exercises and 
feedback results about Green Spaces.  

6  Inform and consult with the Friends Group regarding proposed use of the 
Green Space for events, or for any other use not within the normal 
purposes of the green space.  

7  Provide briefings and communication on the progress of the Green Spaces 
Strategy, and other corporate matters affecting Green Spaces, at the 
Quarterly meetings.  

8  Provide annual certification and recognition to those Friends Groups with a 
Partnership Agreement, including listing on the Councils website as a 
recognised Friends Group.  

9  To produce a programme of annual works for green spaces, and to share 
this with Friends Groups (this will be published on Sandwell.gov.uk)  

10  Provide information about funding opportunities for Friends Groups.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 212



Friends of Parks and Green Spaces and Sandwell Council: Partnership Agreement 

9 
 

Partnership Agreement Signatures  

 

Friends Group 

 

Friends Group Name:  

 

Friends Group Signature Name: 

 

Friends Group Signature:  

 

Date of Signature:  

 

Sandwell Council 

 

Sandwell Council Signature Role:  

 

Sandwell Council Signature Name: 

 

Sandwell Council Signature:  

 

Date of Signature:  

 

This agreement is in place until 31st March 2024 and will be renewed with the 
Friends Group annually from 1st April 2024. Renewal is subject to the 
commitments within this agreement being met.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 213



Friends of Parks and Green Spaces and Sandwell Council: Partnership Agreement 

10 
 

Appendix: 2023/2024 Meeting Dates 

 

 North South 
Quarter 3 (22/23) 1st Dec (6pm – 7.30pm) 5th Dec (6pm – 7.30pm) 

Quarter 4 (22/23) 20th Feb (6pm – 7.30pm) 27th Feb (6pm – 7.30pm) 

Quarter 1 (23/24) 15th May (6pm – 7.30pm) 22nd May (6pm – 7.30pm) 

Quarter 2 (23/24) 14th Aug (6pm – 7.30pm) 21st Aug (6pm – 7.30pm) 

Quarter 3 (23/24) 20th Nov (6pm – 7.30pm) 27th Nov (6pm – 7.30pm) 

Quarter 4 (23/24) 4th Mar 24 (6pm – 7.30pm) 11th Mar (6pm – 7.30pm) 
 

Page 214



 

 

 
 

 
 
Safer Neighbourhoods and Active 
Communities Scrutiny Board 
 

23 February 2023 
 
Subject: Tree Strategy and Implementation Plan 2023 – 2028 
Director: Law and Governance 

Surjit Tour 
Surjir_tour@sandwell.gov.uk 

Contact Officer: Alex Goddard, Scrutiny Lead Officer 
alexander_goddard@sandwell.gov.uk   

 
1 Recommendations 
 

That the Board considers and comments upon the information presented 
to it. 
 
 

2 Reasons for Recommendations  
 

2.1 The Safer Neighbourhoods and Active Communities Scrutiny Board has 
requested further information on the draft Tree Strategy and 
Implementation Plan that is currently being developed.  This will be 
presented at the meeting. 

 
  

Page 215

Agenda Item 7

mailto:alexander_goddard@sandwell.gov.uk


 

 

 
3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  
 

 

People live well and age well 
Our tree canopy cover provides health and wellbeing 
benefits to residents, which enhance their quality of life and 
maximise the health benefits of trees on air quality.  

 

Quality homes in thriving neighbourhoods 
Trees enhance the quality of the local environment, homes, 
and contribute to thriving neighbourhoods in both aesthetic 
appearance and the overall quality of air and health.  

 
4 Context and Key Issues 
 
4.1 Further detail will be presented at the meeting for the Scrutiny Board to 

discuss. 
 
5 Implications 
 
Resources: 
Legal and 
Governance: 
Risk: 
Equality: 
Health and 
Wellbeing: 
Social Value 
Climate 
Change 

Further details on the implications of the Tree 
Strategy and Implementation Plan will be presented to 
the Board. 

 
 
 
6 Appendices 
 
 None. 
 
 

Page 216


	Agenda
	4 Tackling Anti-Social Behaviour in Council Tenancies
	1	Recommendations
	2	Reasons for Recommendations
	3	How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?
	4	Context and Key Issues
	5	Implications
	6	Appendices
	04a Tackling ASB in Council Tenancies PDF
	 
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	ASB Cases – Jan 21-Sept 22
	ASB Team - Enforcement – Jan 21-Sept 22 
	Focus On Preventative Work 
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Partnership Working
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18


	5 Towards a Heritage Strategy
	6 Green Spaces Strategy and Implementation Plan
	1	Recommendations
	4	Context and Key Issues
	6	Appendices
	7.	Background Papers
	06a Green_Spaces_Strategy_Implementation_and_Business_Plan_2022___2025
	1.0 Summary
	10.0 Summary
	1 Summary
	Understanding the Demand
	Household Survey
	Summary of findings



	06b Green_Spaces_Strategy_Progress_Report_22_23_Nov_22 (2)
	06c Green_Spaces_Strategy_22.23_Programme_of_Works_November_22 (1)
	06d Cabinet_Briefing___Friends_Groups_Partnership_Agreement_and_Ways_of_Working_240822
	06e Friends_Group_Final_Draft_Partnership_Agreement_and_Ways_of_Working
	06f Friends_of_Parks_and_Green_Spaces_and_Sandwell_Council_Partnership_Agreement

	7 Tree Strategy and Implementation Plan 2023-2028
	1	Recommendations
	2	Reasons for Recommendations
	3	How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?
	4	Context and Key Issues
	5	Implications
	6	Appendices


